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PART |
Item 1. Business

Overview

We develop and market premium and super premiumdsran the following beverage alcohol categoriam,rwhiskey, liqueurs,
vodka and tequila. We distribute our products Irb@lU.S. states and the District of Columbia himteen primary international markets,
including Ireland, Great Britain, Northern Irelar@@ermany, Canada, South Africa, Bulgaria, Franesssi, Finland, Norway, Sweden, China
and the Duty Free markets, and in a number of athentries in continental Europe and Latin Amerltge market the following brands,
among others, Gosling’s Rufh, Gosling’s Stormy Ginger Beer, Gosling’s Dark ‘to@ny ® ready-to-drink cocktail, Jefferson®,

Jefferson’s Reserv@and Jefferson's Presidential SelB¢tbourbons, Jefferson’s Rye whiskey, Palftdiqueurs, Clontarf Irish whiskey,
Knappogue Castle Whisk&), Brady's® Irish Cream, Bor® vodka, Tierras™ tequila, Celtic Hone$? liqueur, Castello Mid® sambucas and
Gozio® amaretto.

Our brands
We market the premium and super premium brandsdliselow.

Gosling’s rum. We are the exclusive U.S. distributor for Goskngims, including Gosling’s Black Seal Dark RunggBng’s Gold
Bermuda Rum and Gosling’s Old Rum. The Gosling famioduces these rums in Bermuda, where Goslingiss have been under
continuous production and ownership by the Godamgily for over 200 years. We hold a 60% contralinterest in Gosling-Castle Partners,
Inc., a global export venture between us and thai@pfamily. Gosling-Castle Partners has the esighilong-term export and distribution
rights for the Gosling’s rum products for all coues$ other than Bermuda. The Gosling’s rum bramdsanted for approximately 34% and
37% of our revenues for our 2014 and 2013 fiscatg,erespectively. We also distribute Gosling’sr®tpGinger Beer, an essential non-
alcoholic ingredient in Gosling’s trademarked DarlStormy® rum cocktail and the Gosling's Dark ‘to@ny® cocktail in a ready-to-drink
can.

Jefferson’s bourbons and rye whiskywWe develop and market three premium, very snatitbbourbons: Jefferson’s, Jefferson’s
Reserve and Jefferson’s Presidential Select. Ebtttese three distinct premium Kentucky bourbosdlénded in batches of eight to twelve
barrels to produce specific flavor profiles. Weogisoduce Jefferson's Straight Rye Whiskey, a premihiskey distilled from 100% North
American rye.

Pallini liqueurs . We have the lonterm exclusive U.S. distribution rights (excludidigty free sales) for Pallini Limoncello and itsatelc
brand extensions. Pallini Limoncello is a premilambn liqueur, which is served iced cold, on théksamr as an ingredient in a wide variety
of drinks, ranging from martinis to iced tea. lgiso used in cooking, particularly for pastried aakes. Pallini Limoncello is crafted from an
authentic family recipe. It is made with Italy’sifist Sfusato Amalfitano lemons that are hand-ssefatr optimal freshness and flavor. There
are two other flavor extensions of this Italiarukmr: Pallini Peachcello, made with white peached, Pallini Raspicello, made from a
combination of raspberries and other berries.

Clontarf Irish whiskeys. Our family of Clontarf Irish whiskeys currentlgpresents a majority of our case sales of Iristskéyi. Clontari
an accessible and smooth premium Irish whiskegisiflled using quality grains and pure Irish sgrimater. Clontarf is then aged in bourbon
barrels and mellowed through Irish oak charcoabn@rf is available in single malt and classic ignrs.

Knappogue Castle WhiskeyWe developed our Knappogue Castle Whiskey, desimglt Irish whiskey, to build on both the popithar
of single malt Scotch whisky and the growth in litigh whiskey category. Knappogue Castle Whiskegissilled in pot stills using malted
barley and is aged twelve years. We have introdéeceppogue Twin Wood, the first Sherry Finished gmague Castle Whiskey. The
whiskey is matured for sixteen years in two typewaod resulting in a perfectly balanced single tnidgh whiskey with a complex, rich taste
and a slightly sweet sherry finish.

Knappogue Castle 1951Knappogue Castle 1951 is a pure giiit-whiskey that was distilled in 1951 and thegyed for 36 years in sher

casks. The name comes from an lIrish castle, foynmevhed by Mark Edwin Andrews, the originator oé thrand and the father of Mark
Andrews, our chairman.
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Brady's Irish cream liqueurs Brady'’s Irish Cream, a high quality Irish creammade in small batches using Irish whiskey, daigh
cream and natural flavors.

Boru vodka. Boru vodka, a premium vodka produced in Irelamals developed in 1998 and is named after the leggndigh King of
Ireland, Brian Boru, who united the Irish clans aindve foreign invaders out of Ireland. It is fitimes distilled using pure spring water for
smoothness and filtered through ten feet of chamaae from Irish oak for increased purity.

Celtic Honey liqueur. Celtic Honey is a premium brand of Irish liquélat is a uniqgue combination of Irish spirits, cagrand a taste of
honey. Gaelic Heritage Corporation Limited, anl&fé of one of our bottlers, has the exclusivétsgo produce and supply us with Celtic
Honey.

Castello Mio sambucadn May 2013, we introduced Castello Mio, a sup@mpium sambuca. Castello Mio Sambuca is made bytdrot
Distilleries S.r.L. (“Brotto”), a family company Wi a tradition of crafting fine liqueurs in the \&o region of Italy since the 1800'’s, and is
available in the “classico” style as well as espoes

Tierras tequila. “Tequila Tierras Autenticas de Jalisc®”" or “Tierras” is an organic, sup@remium, USDA certified organic tequila a
is available as blanco, reposado and afiejo. Wiharexclusive U.S. importer and marketer of Tierras

Gozio amaretta In 2011, we became the exclusive U.S. distribfdoGozio amaretto, which is made from a secreipeethat combines
selected fruits from four continents.

Our strategy

Our objective is to continue building Castle Brantte a profitable international spirits companythaa distinctive portfolio of
premium and super premium spirits brands. To aehikis, we continue to seek to:

» focus on our more profitable brands and markeWe continue to focus our distribution efforts, sadspertise and targeted
marketing activities on our more profitable braadsl markets

« grow organically.We believe that continued organic growth will eraib$ to achieve long-term profitability. We focus o
brands that have profitable growth potential aagisg power, such as our rums and whiskies, sdledizch have grown
approximately 40% over the past two fiscal ye

« build consumer awarenesWe use our existing assets, expertise and resotordesld consumer awareness and market
penetration for our brand

« leverage our distribution networkOur established distribution network in all 50 UsEtes enables us to promote our
brands nationally and makes us an attractive gli@apartner for smaller companies seeking U.Sriblision; and

» selectively add new brand extensions and brandsuoportfolio. We intend to continue to introduce new brand exterss
and expressions. We continue to explore strateditionships, joint ventures and acquisitions tec#&ely expand our
premium spirits portfolio. We expect that futureaisitions or agency relations, if any, would ink®@ksome combination of
cash, debt and the issuance of our st

Production and supply

There are several steps in the production and gypptess for beverage alcohol products. Firspfadlur spirits products are distilled.
This is a multi-stage process that converts bagjedients, such as grain, sugar cane or agaeealicohol. Next, the alcohol is processed
and/or aged in various ways depending on the remgnts of the specific brand. For our vodka, thig€@ssing is designed to remove all o
chemicals, so that the resulting liquid will be ddes and colorless, and have a smooth quality mithmal harshness. Achieving a high level
of purity involves a series of distillations antrition processes.

For our spirits brands, rather than removing flavarious complex flavor profiles are achieved thgio one or more of the following
techniques: infusion of fruit, addition of variofiavoring substances, and, in the case of rumsadmskeys, aging of the brands in various
types of casks for extended periods of time andtheding of several rums or whiskeys to achieuaigue flavor profile for each brand.

After the distillation, purification and flavoringrocesses are completed, the various liquids atkedoThis involves several important stages,
including bottle and label design and procuremidiig of the bottles and packaging the bottlevarious configurations for shipment.
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We do not have significant investments in distidiaf bottling or other production facilities or égment. Instead, we have entered into
relationships with several companies to provides¢hgervices to us. We believe that these typesarfigements allow us to avoid committing
significant amounts of capital to fixed assets padnit us to have the flexibility to meet growirgess levels by dealing with companies
whose capacity significantly exceeds our curreeise These relationships vary on a brand-by-bras@élas discussed below. As part of our
ongoing cost-containment efforts, we intend to twrd to review each of our business relationstopdetermine if we can increase the
efficiency of our operations.

Gosling’s rum

Gosling’s rums have been produced by the Goslifagisly in Hamilton, Bermuda for over 200 years andder our distribution
arrangements with Gosling's Export (Bermuda) Liohit&Gosling’s Export”), they have retained the tigh act as the sole supplier to Gosling-
Castle Partners Inc. with respect to our Goslingia requirements. Gosling's sources its rums irCitwgbbean and transports them to
Bermuda where they are blended according to priapyieecipes. The rums are then sent to HeaverDitilleries, Inc.5 plant in Bardstowt
Kentucky where they are bottled, packaged, stoneldshipped to our third-party warehouse. In 20035li&g’s increased its blending and
storage facilities in Bermuda to accommodate oppluneeds for the foreseeable future. We beliegavdn Hill has ample capacity to meet
our projected bottling needs for the foreseealtieréu See “Strategic brand-partner relationships.”

Knappogue Castle and Clontarf Irish whiske

In 2012, we entered into two long-term supply agreets with Irish Distillers Limited (“IDL"), a sulidiary of Pernod Ricard, under
which it has agreed to supply us with the agedisintlt and grain whiskeys used in our Knappogugtl€&Vhiskey and all of our Clontarf
Irish whiskey products. The first supply agreenmotides for the production of blended Irish whigkéor us until the contract is terminated
by either party in accordance with the terms ofageeement. IDL may terminate the contract if dypdes at least six years prior notice,
except for breach. Under this agreement, we proNddewith a forecast of the estimated amount dadrkt of pure alcohol we require for the
next four fiscal contract years and agree to pugetihat amount, subject to certain annual adjugsn@&he second supply agreement provides
for the production of single malt Irish whiskeys tes until the contract is terminated by eithertypar accordance with the terms of the
agreement. IDL may terminate the contract if ityides at least thirteen years prior notice, exé@pbreach. Under this agreement, we
provide IDL with a forecast of the estimated amauiiiters of pure alcohol we require for the naxelve fiscal contract years and agree to
purchase that amount, subject to certain annuakadpnts. We are not obligated to pay for any prodat yet received. The whiskeys are
then sent to Terra Limited (“Terra”) in Baileybotegland, where they are bottled in bottles we giesdl and packaged for shipment. We
believe that Terra, which also acts as bottlecétain of our Boru vodka and as producer anddyottfl our Bradys Irish cream (and as bott
for Celtic Honey, which is supplied to us by oneTefra’s affiliates), has sufficient bottling cafigdo meet our current needs, and both Terra
and IDL have the capacity to meet our anticipatedre supply needs.

Terra provides intake, storage, sampling, tesfiltgring, filling, capping and labeling of bottlesase packing, warehousing and loading
and inventory control for our Boru vodkas and omalipogue Castle and Clontarf Irish whiskeys atgsribat are adjusted annually by mu
agreement based on changes in raw materials arsdiroen price indexes increases up to 3.5% per anfibimagreement also provides for
maintenance of product specifications and minimuatgssing procedures, including compliance witHiegple food and alcohol regulatio
and maintenance, storage and stock control ofellproducts and finished products delivered to&.ererra holds all alcohol on its premises
under its customs and excise bond. Our bottlingsmmdices agreement with Terra will expire on J88e2014. We expect to continue to
operate under the terms of the expiring contragt@segotiate a new agreement with Terra. We beles could obtain alternative source:
bottling and services if we are unable to renewetkisting Terra contract.

Jefferson’s whiskeys

Jefferson’s, Jefferson’s Reserve bourbons, JeffitlsRresidential Select and Jefferson’s rye arddabfor us by Luxco, Inc., (“Luxco”),
in Cleveland, OH, from our stocks of aged bourboad B/e. We blend no more than eight to twelve bateproduce specific flavor profiles
of each of our bourbon products. Bourbon has beahart supply in the U.S. in recent years, andhaxe been actively seeking alternate
sourcing for future supply. We have recently aceghistocks of aged bourbon, which we anticipate suiiply our currently forecasted needs
for Jefferson’s and Jefferson’s Reserve, althohghetis no assurance we can source adequate anobtotsrbon or rye, if demand is greater
than expected, at satisfactory prices.

Pallini liqueurs
Pallini SpA ("Pallini"), as successor in interast L.A.R. S.p.A., an Italian company based in Raand owned since 1875 by the Pallini
family, produces Pallini Limoncello, Raspicello aRdachcello. Pallini bottles the liqueurs at ieplin Rome and ships them to us under our

long-term exclusive U.S. marketing and distributamreement. We believe that Pallini has adequatkitifss to produce and bottle sufficient
Limoncello, Peachcello and Raspicello to meet ovedeeable needs. See “Strategic brand-partnéioredaips.”
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Boru vodka

We have a supply agreement with Cargill Plc, aitggé&uropean producer of grain neutral spiritpriovide us with the distilled alcohol
used in our Boru vodka. The supply agreement pesvfdr Cargill to produce natural spirit for uslwitpecified levels of alcohol content
pursuant to specifications set forth in the agregraad at specified prices through its expiratimecember 2014, in quantities designate
us. We believe that Cargill has sufficient distiflicapacity to meet our needs for Boru vodka ferfthieseeable future. In the event that we do
not renew the Cargill agreement, we believe thatwlleoe able to obtain grain neutral spirits framother supplier.

The five-times distilled alcohol is delivered fra@argill to the bottling premises at Terra, whens filtered in several proprietary ways,
pure water is added to achieve the desired progpeDding on the size of the bottle, Boru vodk&énteither bottled at Terra or shipped in
bulk to the U.S. and bottled at Luxco, where welbatertain sizes for the U.S. market. We belidwa both Terra and Luxco have sufficient
bottling capacity to meet our current needs, antl have the capacity to meet our anticipated fusuggply needs. As described above, our
bottling and services agreement with Terra williexpn June 30, 2014. We expect to continue toaiparnder the terms of the expiring
contract as we negotiate a new agreement with T@feabelieve we could obtain alternative sourcesadfiing and services if we are unable
to renew the existing Terra contract.

Brady's Irish cream

Brady'’s Irish cream is produced for us by Terra. Fresharris combined with Irish whiskey, grain neutgitiss and various flavorings
our specifications, and then bottled by Terra ittles designed for us. We believe that Terra has#pacity to meet our foreseeable supply
needs for this brand. As described above, ouribgtind services agreement with Terra will expimelane 30, 2014. We expect to contint
operate under the terms of the expiring contragt@segotiate a new agreement with Terra. We belew could obtain alternative source:
bottling and services if we are unable to renewetkisting Terra contract.

Celtic Honey liqueur

Gaelic Heritage Corporation Limited, an affiliateTerra, has a contractual right to act as the sofmlier to us of Celtic Honey. Gaelic
Heritage mixes the ingredients comprising Celtimeyusing a proprietary formula and then Terralésit for them in bottles designed for
us. We believe that the necessary ingredientsvaitable to Gaelic Heritage in sufficient supplydahat Terra’s bottling capacity is currently
adequate to meet our projected supply needs. Sesteé§ic brand-partner relationships.”

Castello Mio sambucas

Castello Mio sambucas are produced for us by Bintt@arnuda, Italy. Grain neutral spirits, sugad aarious natural flavor essences are
combined to our specifications, and then bottledBgtto in bottles designed for us. We believe Battto has the capacity to meet our
foreseeable supply needs for this brand.

Gozio amaretto

We are the exclusive U.S. distributor for Gozio &tta. Gozio amaretto is produced by Distilleriarkgiacorta, a spirits company
founded in 1901 and owned by the Gozio family. Thmpany is located in Franciacorta, in the ItakRagion of Lombardy. We believe that
Distillerie Franciacorta has sufficient capacitynteet our foreseeable supply needs for this brand.

Tierras tequila

Tierras Tequila Autenticas de Jalisco or “Tierrmsbeing produced for us in Mexico by Autentica idkgra S.A. de C.V. Autentica
Tequilera currently sources organic agave frondtparties, and together with its affiliates islie fprocess of cultivating its own supply of
organic agave. Autentica Tequilera distills andlbstthe tequila at its facility in the Jalisco i@@gof Mexico. Tierras is available as blanco,
reposado and afiejo. The blanco is unaged, theadpads aged in oak barrels at the distillery fotapne year, and the afiejo is aged in oak
barrels at the distillery for at least one year. Mééeve that, given the ability of Autentica Telgua to purchase organic agave and its
anticipated cultivation of organic agave, Autenfieguilera has sufficient capacity to meet our$emable supply needs for this brand.

Distribution network
We believe that the distribution network that weédndeveloped with our sales team and our indepémtiginibutors and brokers is one

our strengths. We currently have distribution arakbrage relationships with third-party distribugtan all 50 U.S. states, as well as
distribution arrangements in approximately 20 ottmintries.
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U.S. distribution

Background.Importers of beverage alcohol in the U.S. mustthelir products through a three-tier distributigntem. Typically, an
imported brand is first sold to a U.S. importer,onthen sells it to a network of distributors, oraldsalers, covering the U.S., in either “open”
states or “control” states. In the 33 open statesdistributors are generally large, privatelyehedmpanies. In the 17 control states, the states
themselves function as the distributor, and regudappliers such as us. The distributors and whldesin turn sell to individual retailers,
such as liquor stores, restaurants, bars, supeetsaaikd other outlets licensed to sell beveragghalcin larger states such as New York,
more than one distributor may handle a brand iasgp geographical areas. In control states, iraposell their products directly to state
liquor authorities, which distribute the productslaither operate retail outlets or license thailretles function to private companies, while
maintaining strict control over pricing and profit.

The U.S. spirits industry has consolidated drarafijiover the last ten years due to merger andisitiqun activity. There are currently
eight major spirits companies, each of which owd aperate their own importing businesses. All conigs, including these large compan
are required by law to sell their products througiolesale distributors in the U.S. The major conigaare exerting increasing influence a
the regional distributors and as a result, it hesoine more difficult for smaller companies to delit products recognized by the distributors.
We believe our established distribution networklirb0 states allows us to overcome a significamtibr to entry in the U.S. beverage alcc
market and enhances our attractiveness as a strptatner for smaller companies lacking comparaisé&ibution.

For fiscal 2014, our U.S. sales represented apmprately 84.8% of our revenues, and we expect therartain relatively consistent as a
percentage of our total sales in the near futuge.rte 17 to our accompanying consolidated firdstatements.

Importation. We currently hold the federal importer and wholeséitense required by the Alcohol and Tobacco diack Trade Bureau
the U.S. Treasury Department, and the requisite §teense in all 50 states and the District ofuabia.

Our inventory is strategically maintained in lalgended warehouses and shipped nationally by am&xtenetwork of licensed and
bonded carriers.

Wholesalers and distributordn the U.S., we are required by law to use staeaed distributors or, in the control statesestatned
agencies performing this function, to sell our ligio retail outlets. As a result, we depend otriligtors for sales, for product placement .
for retail store penetration. We currently havedigiribution agreements or minimum sales requirgsesith any of our U.S. alcohol
distributors, and they are under no obligationlsz@ our products or market our brands. All ofdieributors also distribute our competitors’
products and brands. As a result, we must fostgmaaintain our relationships with our distributoFéirough our internal sales team, we have
established relationships for our brands with whale distributors in each state, and our produetearrently sold in the U.S. by
approximately 80 wholesale distributors, as welbbpwsarious state beverage alcohol control agencies

International distribution

In our foreign markets, most countries permit sdiesctly from the brand owner to retail establigmts, including liquor stores, chain
stores, restaurants and pubs, without requiringgiles go through a wholesaler tier. In our iraéomal markets, we rely primarily on
established spirits distributors in much the sarag as we do in the U.S. We have contracted witimmnational beverage alcohol broker to
represent our brands in approximately twenty irdgamal markets. We use Terra and other bondedheases and logistic providers to
handle the billing, inventory and shipping for s §ome products in certain of our non-U.S. matkets

As in the U.S., the beverage alcohol industry hraeugone consolidation internationally, with coesable realignment of brands and
brand ownership. The number of major spirits congmimternationally has been reduced significadtig to mergers and brand ownership
consolidation. While there are still a substantiaiber of companies owning one or more brands, lmgghess is nhow done by the eight
major companies, each of which owns and operatesinh distribution company that distributes in thajor international markets. These
captive distribution companies focus primarily be brands of the companies that own them.

Even though we do not utilize the direct route tarket in our international operations, we do ndielve that we are at a significant
disadvantage, because the local importers/disttbuypically have established relationships wiith tetail accounts and are able to provide
extensive customer service, in store merchandesmigon premise promotions. Also, even though wet carspensate our wholesalers and
distributors in each market in which we sell owarifs, we are, as a result of using these distrigustill able to benefit from substantially
lower infrastructure costs and centralized billargl collection.

Our primary international markets are Ireland, GByétain, Northern Ireland, Germany, Canada, Seviend, Bulgaria, Ukraine, France,
Russia, Finland, Norway, Sweden, U.A.E., ChinatlwedDuty Free markets. We also have sales in cthanmtries in continental Europe, La
America, the Caribbean and Asia. For fiscal 20bh-0.S. sales represented approximately 15.2% ofemgenues. See note 17 to our
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Significant customers

Sales to one distributor, Southern Wine and Spariis related entities, accounted for approxima@él@% of our consolidated revenues
for fiscal 2014.

Our sales team

While we currently expect more rapid growth in thé., our primary market, international marketsdhpbtential for future growth and
are part of our global strategy.

We currently have a total sales force of 17 peaptdyding six regional U.S. vice presidents withaverage of over 16 years of industry
experience with premium beverage alcohol brands.

Our sales personnel are engaged in the day-to-daagement of our distributors, which includes sgttjuotas, coordinating
promotional plans for our brands, maintaining adeguevels of stock, brand education and trainimd) gales calls with distributor personnel.
Our sales team also maintains relationships withr&&ail customers through independent sales cHflsy also schedule promotional events,
create local brand promotion plans, host in-stastiigs where permitted and provide wait staff bawdender training and education for our
brands.

Advertising, marketing and promotion

To build our brands, we must effectively commurgoaith three distinct audiences: our distributtig, retail trade and the end consui
Advertising, marketing and promotional activitiedfhto establish and reinforce the image of ountisan our efforts to build substantial
brand value. We believe our execution of discipliaad strategic branding and marketing campaighentinue to drive our future sales.

We employ full-time, in-house marketing, sales andtomer service personnel who work together viittd tparty design and advertising
firms to maintain a high degree of focus on eacburfproduct categories and build brand awaremessigh innovative marketing activities.
We use a range of marketing strategies and tactiosild brand equity and increase sales, includimgsumer and trade advertising, price
promotions, point-of-sale materials, event sporfgprsn-store and on-premise promotions and puleliations, as well as a variety of other
traditional and non-traditional marketing technigui@cluding social media marketing, to support lo@nds.

Besides traditional advertising, we also emplogéhother marketing methods to support our brangdiqrelations, event sponsorships
and tastings. Our significant U.S. public relatiefi®rts have helped gain editorial coverage farlmands, which increases brand awareness.
Event sponsorship is an economical way for us te iafluential consumers taste our brands. We algtivontribute product to trend-setting
events where our brand has exclusivity in the bitdgory. We also conduct hundreds of in-storecamgdremise promotions each year.

We support our brand marketing efforts with an gssent of point-of-sale materials. The combinatidrirade and consumer programs,
supported by attractive point-of-sale materialspa@stablishes greater credibility for us with distributors and retailers.

Strategic brand-partner relationships

We forge strategic relationships with emerging astblished spirits brand owners seeking opporésnit increase their sales beyond
their home markets and achieve global growth. &bifity is a key component of our growth strategg @ne of our competitive strengths.
Our original relationship with the Boru vodka bramds as its exclusive U.S. distributor. To date haee also established strategic
relationships for Gosling’s rum, Pallini liqueut3eltic Honey liqueur, Tierras tequila and Gozio astta, as described below, and we intend
to seek to expand our brand portfolio through simiiliture arrangements.

Gosling-Castle Partners Inc./Gosling’s rums

In 2005, we entered into an exclusive nationakihgtion agreement with Gosling’s Export for thesBiog’s rum products. We
subsequently purchased a 60% controlling intere&asling-Castle Partners, Inc., a strategic expamture with the Gosling family.
Gosling's Export holds the exclusive distributiayghts for Gosling’s rum and related products onaaléwide basis (other than in Bermuda),
through Gosling-Castle Partners, and assigned &tirigeCastle Partners all of Gosling’s Export’seirgst in our January 2005 U.S.
distribution agreement with them. The export agrestnexpires in April 2020, subject to a 15 yeaeasgton if certain case sale targets are
met. Under the export agreement, Gosl®agstle Partners is generally entitled to a shatkeproceeds from the sale, if ever, of the ownip
of any of the Gosling’s brands to a third-partyptigh a sale of the stock of Gosling’s Export sipiirent, with the size of such share
depending upon the number of case sales made dhertgrelve months preceding the sale. Also, goaelling the ownership of any of th:
brands that are subject to these agreements, @asknport must first offer such brand to Goslingsfle Partners and then to us. The
Goslings, through Gosling’s Brothers Limited, halve right to act as the sole supplier to GoslingtfeaPartners for our Gosling’s rum
requirements.
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Pallini SpA/Pallini liqueurs

We have a long-term, exclusive marketing and distion agreement with Pallini under which we dtstite Pallini Limoncello,
Peachcello and Raspicello liqueurs in the U.S. \agah shipping these products in September 2005.

Our agreement with Pallini, expires on March 311&0subject to successive five-year renewals urdigser party delivers a notice of
non-renewal six months prior to the end of the tdumder the agreement, if minimum volume targe¢srat achieved and not cured, Pallini
has the right to terminate the agreement withowirant of termination fees to us. However, if sumtgéts are met, we have the right under
the agreement to receive certain termination paysnemd other payments upon the non-renewal ofgheeanent, certain terminations of the
agreement or the sale of the brand. The exclusivigdry under the agreement is the fifty statethefU.S. and the District of Columbia.

Autentica Tequilera S.A. de C.V./Tierras tequi

In February 2008, we entered into an importatioth marketing agreement with Autentica Tequilera SI&AC.V., under which we
became the exclusive U.S. importer of Tierras.dhrbary 2013, the agreement renewed for an addltiove years in accordance with its
terms. During the term, we have the right to pusehizquila at stipulated prices. Autentica Teqailaust maintain certain standards for its
products, and we have input into the product arukagging. We are required to prepare periodic repmbetailing the development of the
brand’s sales. Under this agreement, we have ragfttsst refusal for any new market for Tierrag¢ept Mexico), and any new Autentica
Tequilera products in any market (except Mexicog &lso have a right of first refusal on any salthefTierras brand, and a right to acquire
up to 35% of the economic benefit of any such satle a third-party based upon the achievement ghaecumulative sales targets.

Gozio amaretto

In November 2011, we entered into an exclusiveitision agreement with Distillerie FranciacortaaSmder which we are the exclus
distributor of Gozio Amaretto in the U.S. The agnemt has a five-year term, with automatic five-yearewals based upon sales targets.
During the term, we have the right to purchase Géanaretto at stipulated prices and Distillerieriacorta Spa must maintain certain
standards for its products. We are required togmeperiodic reports detailing the developmenheflirand’s sales and prepare annual
strategic marketing and growth plans.

Intellectual property

Trademarks are an important aspect of our busiiésssell our products under a number of trademavk&h we own or use under
license. Our brands are protected by trademarktragjions or are the subject of pending application trademark registration in the U.S.,
European Community and most other countries wherdigtribute, or plan to distribute, our brandse Ttademarks may be registered in the
names of our subsidiaries and related companiesi@ky, the term of a trademark registration vafiem country to country, and, in the
U.S., trademark registrations need to be renewedyden years. We expect to register our trademar&dditional markets as we expand our
distribution territories.

We have entered into distribution agreements fantds owned by third parties, such as the Goslingiss, the Pallini liqueurs, Tierras
tequila and Gozio amaretto. The Gosling’s rum bsafgllini liqueurs and Gozio amaretto are regestdry their respective owners and we
have the exclusive right to distribute the Gosléngims on a worldwide basis (other than in Bermuadia) the Pallini liqueur brands and Gc¢
amaretto in the U.S. Gosling’s also has a traderfwartheir signature rum cocktail, Dark ‘n Stornfyutentica Tequiliera holds the registered
U.S. trademark for Tequila Tierras Autenticas desda and its distinctive label. See “Strategicriatgoartner relationships.”

Seasonality
Our industry is subject to seasonality with peahkitesales generally occurring in the fourth calenguarter (our third fiscal quarter)

primarily due to seasonal holiday buying. Histoltigathis holiday demand typically resulted in $lity higher sales for us in our second
and/or third fiscal quarters. However, the growtiGosling’s rums in recent years has led to impdofaurth fiscal quarter revenues.
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Competition

The beverage alcohol industry is highly competithk&e believe that we compete on the basis of guadiice, brand recognition and
distribution strength. Our premium brands compdth ather alcoholic and nonalcoholic beveragescforsumer purchases, retail shelf sp
restaurant presence and wholesaler attention. Wipete with numerous multinational producers anttitlistors of beverage alcohol
products, many of which have greater resourcesuban

Over the past ten years, the U.S. wine and sjiidtsstry has undergone dramatic consolidation aatignment of brands and brand
ownership. The number of major importers in the.W&s declined significantly. Today there are eighjor companies: Diageo PLC, Pernod
Ricard S.A., Bacardi Limited, Brown-Forman Corp@at Beam Suntory Inc., Davide Campari Milano-S.pRemy Cointreau S.A. and
Constellation Brands, Inc.

We believe that we are sometimes in a better posit partner with small to mid-size brands thanrajor importers. Despite our
relative capital position and resources, we haenlable to compete with these larger companiesiisung agency distribution agreements
and acquiring brands by being more responsiveit@fer and family-owned brands, offering flexiblarisaction structures and providing
brand owners the option to retain local productiod “home” market sales. Given our size relativeupmajor competitors, most of which
have multi-billion dollar operations, we believattwe can provide greater focus on smaller brandgailor transaction structures based on
individual brand owner preferences. However, olative capital position and resources may limit marketing capabilities, limit our ability
to expand into new markets and limit our negotgtbility with our distributors.

By focusing on the premium and super-premium sed¢gna&ithe market, which typically have higher maggiand having an established,
experienced sales force, we believe we are algaitorelatively significant attention from our dibutors for a company of our size. Our U.S.
regional vice presidents, who average over 16 yafarslustry experience, provide long-standingtiefeships with distributor personnel and
with their major customers. Finally, the continuwehsolidation among the major companies is expdotedeate an opportunity for small to
mid-size wine and spirits companies, such as owsehs the major companies contract their pootdid focus on fewer brands.

Government regulation

We are subject to the jurisdiction of the Federalohol Administration Act, U.S. Customs Laws, Imtal Revenue Code of 1986, and the
Alcoholic Beverage Control Laws of all fifty states

The U.S. Treasury Department’s Alcohol and Tobakaw and Trade Bureau regulates the productiondintgn bottling, sales and
advertising and transportation of alcohol produétso, each state regulates the advertising, premptransportation, sale and distribution of
alcohol products within its jurisdiction. We arsa@lrequired to conduct business in the U.S. ontli wblders of licenses to import, wareho!
transport, distribute and sell spirits.

In Europe, we are subject to similar regulationates to the production of spirits.

We are subject to U.S. and European regulatiorti@advertising, marketing and sale of beveragehalc These regulations range from
a complete prohibition of the marketing of alcolmosome countries to restrictions on the adveistyle, media and messages used.

Labeling of spirits is also regulated in many m#skearying from health warning labels to impoitintification, alcohol strength and
other consumer information. All beverage alcohalducts sold in the U.S. must include warning statesirelated to risks of drinking
beverage alcohol products.

In the U.S. control states, the state liquor corsiniss act in place of distributors and decide wigiabducts are to be purchased and
offered for sale in their respective states. Prtglace selected for purchase and sale throughdigtiocedures which are generally made
available to new products only at periodically stiied listing interviews. Consumers may purchaselpets not selected for listings only
through special orders, if at all.

The distribution of alcohol-based beverages is sildgect to extensive federal and state taxatidherl).S. and internationally. Most
foreign countries in which we do business imposasexduties on wines and distilled spirits, altHotige form of such taxation varies from a
simple application on units of alcohol by voluméritricate systems based on the imported or whidesdue of the product. Several
countries impose additional import duty on distllipirits, often discriminating between categoimethe rate of such tariffs. Import and ex
duties may have a significant effect on our sdde# through reducing the consumption of alcohal #imough encouraging consumer
switching into lower-taxed categories of alcohol.
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We believe that we are in material compliance \ajtplicable federal, state and other regulationsvéi@r, we operate in a highly
regulated industry which may be subject to moriagént interpretations of existing regulations.ufatcompliance costs due to regulatory
changes could be significant.

Since we import distilled spirits products produgeiinarily outside the U.S., adverse effects olutatpry changes are more likely to
materially affect earnings and our competitive nedipgosition rather than capital expenditures. Ghpitpenditures in our industry are
normally associated with either production fae¥tior brand acquisition costs. Because we are ddbaproducer, changes in regulations
affecting production facility operations may inditly affect the costs of the brands we purchasedeale, but we would not anticipate any
resulting material adverse impact upon our cagitpenditures.

Global conglomerates with international brands dwte our industry. The adoption of more restrictiverketing and sales regulations or
increased excise taxes and customs duties couktialbt adversely affect our earnings and compatithdustry position. Large international
conglomerates have greater financial resourceswviieatho and would be better able to absorb increesexpliance costs.

Employees

As of March 31, 2014, we had 45 full-time employexof which were in sales and marketing and 1@hith were in management,
finance and administration. We had 41 full-time émgpes as of March 31, 2013. As of March 31, 2@B4of our employees were located in
the U.S. and two were located in Ireland.

Geographic Information

We operate in one businesspremium beverage alcohol. Our product categorieswan, whiskey, liqueurs, vodka and tequila. Weort
our operations in two geographical areas: Inteonafiand U.S. See note 17 to our accompanying tidaged financial statements.

Corporate Information

We are a Florida corporation, which was incorpatane2009. We are the successor to a Delaware catipn, which was incorporated in
Delaware in 2003.

Available Information

Our corporate filings, including our annual repantsForm 10-K, our quarterly reports on Form 10sQx, current reports on Form 8-K,
our proxy statements and reports filed by our efficand directors under Section 16(a) of the SéesiExchange Act of 1934, as amended,
and any amendments to those filings, are availétde,of charge, on our investor website, httpuéstor.castlebrandsinc.caoms soon as
reasonably practicable after we or our officers adinelctors electronically file or furnish such mééwith the SEC. You may also find our
code of business conduct, nominating and governelmager and audit committee charter on our webite do not intend for information
contained in our website, or those of our subsieisato be a part of this annual report on FornK1@hareholders may request paper copi
these filings and corporate governance documeritisout charge, by written request to Castle Brands 122 East 42nd St., Suite 4700, I
York, NY 10168, Attn: Investor Relations.

Also, you may read and copy any materials we fih the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Roon®atHE Street, NE., Washington,
DC 20549, on official business days during the baafrl0 a.m. to 3 p.m. You may obtain informatiantie operation of the Public Refere
Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The &&@itains an Internet site (http://www.sec.gov} tantains reports, proxy and
information statements, and other information rdupay issuers that file electronically with the SEC.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors
Risks Relating To Our Business
We have never been profitable, and believe we wibntinue to incur net losses for the foreseeabletfure.

We have incurred losses since our inception, inolyd net loss of $8.9 million for fiscal 2014, dmad an accumulated loss of $139.6
million as of March 31, 2014. We believe that wdl wdntinue to incur net losses as we expect toerantinued significant investment in
product development and sales and marketing amattw significant administrative expenses as wé segrow our brands. We also
anticipate that our cash needs will exceed ourmrefrom sales for the near future. Some of our petslmay never achieve widespread
market acceptance and may not generate sales afitd py justify our investment. Also, we may fitltat our expansion plans are more costly
than we anticipate and that they do not ultimatesult in commensurate increases in our sales hwhould further increase our losses. We
expect we will continue to experience losses arghtiee cash flow, some of which could be significaesults of operations will depend
upon numerous factors, some of which are beyonaanitrol, including market acceptance of our praslucew product introductions and
competition. We incur substantial operating expsradehe corporate level, including costs directhated to being an SEC reporting
company.

Recent worldwide and domestic economic trends andhfincial market conditions could adversely impact ar financial performance.

The worldwide and domestic economies have expegitadverse conditions and may be subject to fudétrioration for the
foreseeable future. We are subject to risks astsatisith these adverse conditions, including ecdn@iewdown andhe disruption, volatilit
and tightening of credit and capital markets.

This global economic situation could adversely iotgaur major suppliers, distributors and retailditse inability of suppliers, distributc
or retailers to conduct business or to accessdityucould impact our ability to distribute our phacts.

There can be no assurance that market conditidhswirove in the near future. A prolonged downtufurther worsening or broadening
of the adverse conditions in the worldwide and dsticeeconomies could affect consumer spending metnd purchases of our products,
and create or exacerbate credit issues, cash slwes and other financial hardships for us anddosuppliers, distributors, retailers and
consumers. Depending upon their severity and durathese conditions could have a material advierpact on our business, liquidity,
financial condition and results of operations.

We may require additional capital, which we may notbe able to obtain on acceptable terms. Our inaliil to raise such capital, as
needed, on beneficial terms or at all could restricour future growth and severely limit our operations.

We have limited capital compared to other compaimesir industry. This may limit our operationsdagrowth, including our ability to
continue to develop existing brands, service obt dbligations, maintain adequate inventory levielsd potential acquisitions of new brar
penetrate new markets, attract new customers aediato new distribution relationships. If we hawet generated sufficient cash from
operations to finance additional capital needswilleneed to raise additional funds through privatgublic equity and/or debt financing. We
cannot assure you that, if and when needed, addltimancing will be available to us on acceptablens or at all. If additional capital is
needed and either unavailable or cost prohibitive,operations and growth may be limited as we me®d to change our business strategy to
slow the rate of, or eliminate, our expansion aoluee or curtail our operations. Also, any additidimancing we undertake could impose
covenants upon us that restrict our operating fiéti, and, if we issue equity securities to ragsmpital our existing shareholders may
experience dilution and the new securities may s, preferences and privileges senior to tladsmir common stock.

If our brands do not achieve more widespread consuen acceptance, our growth may be limited.
Most of our brands are early in their growth cyatel have not achieved extensive brand recognititse, brands we may acquire in the

future are unlikely to have established extenshaamt recognition. Accordingly, if consumers do aotept our brands, we will not be able to
penetrate our markets and our growth may be limited
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We depend on a limited number of suppliers. Failurdo obtain satisfactory performance from our supplérs or loss of our existing
suppliers could cause us to lose sales, incur addital costs and lose credibility in the marketplaceWe also have annual purchase
obligations with certain suppliers.

We depend on a limited number of third-party sugrglifor the sourcing of all of our products, inéhgiboth our own proprietary brands
and those we distribute for others. These supptiensist of third-party distillers, bottlers ansbgucers in the U.S., Bermuda, the Caribbean,
Australia and Europe. We rely on the owners of (Bg& rum, Pallini liqueurs, Gozio amaretto andrfas tequila to produce their brands for
us. For our proprietary products, we may rely @ingle supplier to fulfill one or all of the manataring functions for a brand. For instance,
Cargill is the sole producer for Boru vodka; IDLtle sole provider of our single malt, blended grain Irish whiskeys; Gaelic Heritage
Corporation Limited is the sole producer of ourti@dioney Irish liqueur; and Terra Limited is natlp the sole producer of our Brady’s Irish
cream liqueur but also the only bottler of ourHrighiskeys. We do not have long-term written agreets with all of our suppliers. We do not
currently have a long-term source for supply ofdalgeurbon or rye and there can be no assurancamveatirce adequate amounts of aged
bourbon or rye at satisfactory prices, or at alkoAif we fail to complete purchases of produatieoed annually, certain suppliers have the
right to bill us for product not purchased durihg period. The termination of our written or orgteements or an adverse change in the term:
of these agreements could have a negative impaatiobusiness. If our suppliers increase theirgs;ieve may not have alternative sources of
supply and may not be able to raise the pricesiopmoducts to cover all or even a portion of theréased costs. Also, our supplideslure tc
perform satisfactorily or handle increased orddetays in shipments of products from internatiangipliers or the loss of our existing
suppliers, especially our key suppliers, could eaussto fail to meet orders for our products, emes, incur additional costs and/or expose us
to product quality issues. In turn, this could @us to lose credibility in the marketplace and agenour relationships with distributors,
ultimately leading to a decline in our business ewlilts of operations. If we are not able to retiate these contracts on acceptable terms or
find suitable alternatives, our business could é&gatively impacted.

We depend on our independent wholesale distributor® distribute our products. The failure or inability of even a few of our
distributors to adequately distribute our products within their territories could harm our sales and result in a decline in our results of
operations.

We are required by law to use state licensed Higtis or, in 17 states known as “control statsgte-owned agencies performing this
function, to sell our products to retail outlets;luding liquor stores, bars, restaurants and natichains in the U.S. We have established
relationships for our brands with wholesale disttilys in each state; however, failure to maintaosé relationships could significantly and
adversely affect our business, sales and growtkr @e past decade there has been increasing matgwi, both intrastate and interstate,
among distributors. As a result, many states nove lwaly two or three significant distributors. Algbere are several distributors that now
control distribution for several states. For tharyended March 31, 2014, sales to one customeuntsxbfor 31.9% of revenues. As a result,
if we fail to maintain good relations with a dittor, our products could in some instances beefrawit of one or more markets entirely. The
ultimate success of our products also dependsge lpart on our distributors’ ability and desiredtetribute our products to our desired U.S.
target markets, as we rely significantly on themgimduct placement and retail store penetratioa.Hae no formal distribution agreements
or minimum sales requirements with any of our distiors and they are under no obligation to placeppoducts or market our brands.
Moreover, all of them also distribute competitivarmds and product lines. We cannot assure youwtlrdtl.S. alcohol distributors will
continue to purchase our products, commit sufficiene and resources to promote and market ourdsrand product lines or that they car
will sell them to our desired or targeted markHtthey do not, our sales will be harmed, resuliim@ decline in our results of operations.

While most of our international markets do not liegjthe use of independent distributors by law haee chosen to conduct our sales
through distributors in all of our markets and,@dingly, we face similar risks to those set fatove with respect to our international
distribution. Some of these international markegs/iave only a limited number of viable distribgtor

The sales of our products could decrease significiy if we cannot secure and maintain listings in tke control states.

In the control states, the state liquor commissatsn place of distributors and decide which picid are to be purchased and offerec
sale in their respective states. Products seldotdisting must generally reach certain volumed/an profit levels to maintain their listings.
Products are selected for purchase and sale thil@tigig procedures which are generally made akbglto new products only at periodically
scheduled listing interviews. Products not selefbedistings can only be purchased by consumetkérapplicable control state through
special orders, if at all. If, in the future, weeamable to maintain our current listings in thatool states, or secure and maintain listings in
those states for any additional products we mayiaegsales of our products could decrease sigmiflg.

If we are unable to identify and successfully acqué additional brands that are complementary to ourexisting portfolio, our growth
could be limited, and, even if additional brands ag acquired, we may not realize planned benefits due integration difficulties or
other operating issues.

A component of our growth strategy is the acquisiof additional brands that are complementaryutoexisting portfolio through
acquisitions of such brands or their corporate awjrdirectly or through mergers, joint venturesigeéerm exclusive distribution arrangeme
and/or other strategic relationships. If we areblmo identify suitable brand candidates and ss&fcdly execute our acquisition strategy, our
growth could be limited. Also, even if we are sws=fal in acquiring additional brands, we may noabke to achieve or maintain profitability
levels that justify our investment in, or realizeecating and economic efficiencies or other planmemefits with respect to, those additional
brands. The addition of new products or businesagsls numerous risks with respect to integratind other operating issues, any of which
could have a detrimental effect on our resultsperations and/or the value of our equity. Thedesrisclude:



difficulties in assimilating acquired operationspsoducts;
unanticipated costs that could materially adveraéfigct our results of operatior

Pagel3




negative effects on reported results of operatimm acquisition related charges and amortizatioacguired intangibles
diversion of manageme's attention from other business conce

adverse effects on existing business relationshifssuppliers, distributors and retail custom:

risks of entering new markets or markets in whiehhave limited prior experience; a

the potential inability to retain and motivate lkayployees of acquired busines:

Also, there are special risks associated with dggigition of additional brands through joint vergt@rrangements. We may not have a
majority interest in, or control of, future joinemtures in which we may enter. There is, therefidsk,that our joint venture partners may at
any time have economic, business or legal intem@sgeals that are inconsistent with our interestgoals or those of the joint venture. There
is also risk that our current or future joint venetpartners may be unable to meet their economitha@r obligations and that we may be
required to fulfill those obligations alone.

Our ability to grow through the acquisition of afilolial brands will also be dependent upon the absdity of capital to complete the
necessary acquisition arrangements. We intenchéméie our brand acquisitions through a combinaitfayur available cash resources, third -
party financing and, in appropriate circumstantes further issuance of equity and/or debt seasiithowever, our ability to finance such
acquisitions may be limited by the terms of oureotbquity and/or debt securities. Acquiring additibbrands could have a significant effect
on our financial position, and could cause subghfitictuations in our quarterly and yearly opérgtresults. Also, acquisitions could result
in the recording of significant goodwill and intalolg assets on our financial statements, the apatitin or impairment of which would
reduce reported earnings in subsequent years.

Currency exchange rate fluctuations and devaluatios may have a significant adverse effect on our remees, sales, costs of goods and
overall financial results.

For fiscal 2014, non-U.S. operations accountedfiproximately 15.2% of our revenues. Thereforepgand losses on the conversion of
foreign payments into U.S. dollars could causetélations in our results of operations, and fluéhgaexchange rates could cause reduced
revenues and/or gross margins from non-U.S. ddiésmeminated international sales and inventory mseb. Also, for fiscal 2014, Euro
denominated sales accounted for approximately @88tir total revenue, so a substantial changedrrdte of exchange between the U.S.
dollar and the Euro could have a significant adveféect on our financial results. Our ability wgaire spirits and produce and sell our
products at favorable prices will also depend irt pa the relative strength of the U.S. dollar. Wéenot currently hedge against these risks.

We must maintain a relatively large inventory of ou products to support customer delivery requiremens, and if this inventory is lost
due to theft, fire or other damage or becomes obsgtk, our results of operations would be negativeiynpacted.

We must maintain relatively large inventories toetneustomer delivery requirements for our produdis.are always at risk of loss of
that inventory due to theft, fire or other damaaygd any such loss, whether insured against orcoatd cause us to fail to meet our orders and
harm our sales and operating results. Also, owntary may become obsolete as we introduce newuptsdcease to produce old products or
modify the design of our products’ packaging, whiabuld increase our operating losses and negatiigact our results of operations.

Either our or our strategic partners’ failure to pr otect our respective trademarks and trade secretoald compromise our competitive
position and decrease the value of our brand portim.

Our business and prospects depend in part on dryvidh respect to our agency or joint venture dsarour strategic partners’, ability to
develop favorable consumer recognition of our bsaanad trademarks. Although both we and our strategitners actively apply for
registration of our brands and trademarks, theydcbe imitated in ways that we cannot prevent. Alge rely on trade secrets and proprietary
know-how, concepts and formulas. Our methods dfepting this information may not be adequate. Meegpwe may face claims of
misappropriation or infringement of third partiegjhts that could interfere with our use of thifoimation. Defending these claims may be
costly and, if unsuccessful, may prevent us fromtiooing to use this proprietary information in tiséure and result in a judgment or
monetary damages being levied against us. We dmaittain non-competition agreements with all of key personnel or with some of our
key suppliers. If competitors independently devedoptherwise obtain access to our or our stratpgitners’ trade secrets, proprietary know-
how or recipes, the appeal, and thus the valueyiobrand portfolio could be reduced, negativelpatting our sales and growth potential.

An impairment in the carrying value of goodwill or other acquired intangible assets could negativelyffect our operating results and
shareholders’ equity.

The carrying value of goodwill represents the failue of acquired businesses in excess of idebliassets and liabilities as of the
acquisition date, net of any cumulative impairmeftge carrying value of other intangible assetsaggnts the fair value of trademarks, trade
names and other acquired intangible assets a afcjuisition date, net of impairments and accutedlamortization. Goodwill and other
acquired intangible assets expected to contrilmaefinitely to our cash flows are not amortized;, tust be evaluated for impairment by our
management at least annually. If carrying valueseds current fair value as determined based odiskkeunted future cash flows of the
related business, the intangible asset is considengaired and is reduced to fair value via a nashccharge to earnings. If the value of
goodwill or other acquired intangible assets isaimgd, our earnings and shareholders’ equity cbalddversely affected.
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A failure of one or more of our key information tednology systems, networks, processes, associatedssor service providers could
have a material adverse impact on our business.

We rely on information technology (IT) systems,watks, and services, including internet sites, daisting and processing facilities and
tools, hardware (including laptops and mobile desj¢software and technical applications and plat$p some of which are managed, hos
provided and/or used by third-parties or their vasdto assist us in the management of our busifi@égsvarious uses of these IT systems,
networks, and services include, but are not limitedhosting our internal network and communicasygatems; ordering and managing
materials from suppliers; supply/demand plannimggpction; shipping product to customers; hostinglwranded websites and marketing
products to consumers; collecting and storing eusto consumer, employee, investor, and other gataessing transactions; summarizing
and reporting results of operations; hosting, pssirg, and sharing confidential and proprietargaesh, business plans, and financial
information; complying with regulatory, legal oxteequirements; providing data security; and hangdither processes necessary to manage
our business.

Increased IT security threats and more sophisticagber crime pose a potential risk to the secwityur IT systems, networks, and
services, as well as the confidentiality, availtyiland integrity of our data. If the IT systemgtworks, or service providers we rely upon fail
to function properly, or if we suffer a loss ord@sure of business or other sensitive informatihrg to any number of causes, ranging from
catastrophic events to power outages to secur@gdbres, and our business continuity plans do fexttafely address these failures on a tin
basis, we may suffer interruptions in our abiliymanage operations and reputational, competitidgéoa business harm, which may adver.
affect our business operations and/or financiati@@n. In addition, such events could result imuthorized disclosure of material
confidential information, and we may suffer finascnd reputational damage because of lost or pisppated confidential information
belonging to us or to our partners, our employeestomers, suppliers or consumers. In any of teesats, we could also be required to sj
significant financial and other resources to remidydamage caused by a security breach or torrepagplace networks and IT systems.

Our failure to attract or retain key executive or enployee talent could adversely affect our business.

Our success depends upon the efforts and abititiear senior management team, other key employegba high-quality employee
base, as well as our ability to attract, motivedéeyard, and retain them. We do not maintain andatantend to obtain key man insurance on
the life of any executive or employee. Difficultigshiring or retaining key executive or employakent, or the unexpected loss of experiel
employees could have an adverse impact our busgeegsmance. In addition, we could experiencemess disruption and/or increased ¢
related to organizational changes, reductions irkfeece, or other cost-cutting measures.

Risks Related to Our Industry
Demand for our products may be adversely affectedyomany factors, including changes in consumer prefences and trends.

Consumer preferences may shift due to a variefgaibrs including changes in demographic and sti@alds, public health initiatives,
product innovations, changes in vacation or leisatevity patterns and a downturn in economic ctads, which may reduce consumers’
willingness to purchase distilled spirits or caashift in consumer preferences toward beer, win@a-alcoholic beverages. Our success
depends in part on fulfilling available opportuegito meet consumer needs and anticipating chamgessumer preferences with successful
new products and product innovations.

Our business performance is substantially dependenipon the continued growth of rum and whiskey sales

A significant part of our business is based on and whiskey sales. Changes in consumer prefereagasding these categories of
beverage alcohol products may have an adverse effiemur sales and financial condition. Given th@artance of our rum and whiskey
brands to our overall Company success, a significasustained decline in volume or selling pri€¢hese products would likely have a
negative effect on our growth and our stock priggditionally, should we not be successful in odods to maintain and increase the
relevance of the brands in the minds of today’stambrrow’s consumer, our business and operatiggltecould suffer.

We face substantial competition in our industry andmany factors may prevent us from competing succefssly.
We compete on the basis of product taste and guhbliand image, price, service and ability to inai@vin response to consumer
preferences. The global spirits industry is higtdynpetitive and is dominated by several large,-fuglded international companies. It is

possible that our competitors may either resporiddaostry conditions or consumer trends more rgpdleffectively or resort to price
competition to sustain market share, which coulceaskly affect our sales and profitability.
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Adverse public opinion about alcohol could reduce emand for our products.

Anti-alcohol groups have, in the past, advocatextassfully for more stringent labeling requiremehtgher taxes and other regulations
designed to discourage alcohol consumption. Mastictive regulations, negative publicity regardaigohol consumption and/or changes in
consumer perceptions of the relative healthfulmessafety of beverage alcohol could decrease salégonsumption of alcohol and thus the
demand for our products. This could, in turn, digantly decrease both our revenues and our revgrayeth, causing a decline in our results
of operations.

Class action or other litigation relating to alcohd abuse or the misuse of alcohol could adverselyfa€t our business.

Our industry faces the possibility of class actiorsimilar litigation alleging that the continuexicessive use or abuse of beverage alcohol
has caused death or serious health problemsaldéaspossible that governments could assert tieatdk of alcohol has significantly increased
government funded health care costs. Litigatioassertions of this type have adversely affectedpemies in the tobacco industry, and it is
possible that we, as well as our suppliers, coalddmed in litigation of this type.

Also, lawsuits have been brought in a number déstalleging that beverage alcohol manufacturedsaarketers have improperly
targeted underage consumers in their advertisitagnti®fs in these cases allege that the defendaatgertisements, marketing and promoti
violate the consumer protection or deceptive tia@etices statutes in each of these states andegajkment of the family funds expendec
the underage consumers. While we have not beenchamntieese lawsuits, we could be named in simdarshits in the future. Any class
action or other litigation asserted against usadea expensive and time-consuming to defend agalapteting our cash and diverting our
personnel resources and, if the plaintiffs in sactions were to prevail, our business could be bdrsignificantly.

Regulatory decisions and legal, regulatory and taghanges could limit our business activities, increse our operating costs and reduce
our margins.

Our business is subject to extensive regulaticalliof the countries in which we operate. This nragtude regulations regarding
production, distribution, marketing, advertisingddabeling of beverage alcohol products. We areired to comply with these regulations
and to maintain various permits and licenses. Véeatso required to conduct business only with hsldé licenses to import, warehouse,
transport, distribute and sell beverage alcoholipets. We cannot assure you that these and otiermgoental regulations applicable to our
industry will not change or become more stringdtdreover, because these laws and regulations &jectuo interpretation, we may not be
able to predict when and to what extent liabilitgyrarise. Additionally, due to increasing publieicern over alcohol-related societal
problems, including driving while intoxicated, umdge drinking, alcoholism and health consequenoes the abuse of alcohol, various
levels of government may seek to impose additiogstkictions or limits on advertising or other metikg activities promoting beverage
alcohol products. Failure to comply with any of therent or future regulations and requirementatiral to our industry and products could
result in monetary penalties, suspension or evewnceion of our licenses and permits. Costs of d@npe with changes in regulations could
be significant and could harm our business, asauddind it necessary to raise our prices in otdamaintain profit margins, which could
lower the demand for our products and reduce dassand profit potential.

Also, the distribution of beverage alcohol produstsubject to extensive taxation both in the @&l internationally (and, in the U.S., at
both the federal and state government levels) bawerage alcohol products themselves are the sudfjeational import and excise duties in
most countries around the world. An increase imatiax or in import or excise duties could also figantly harm our sales revenue and
margins, both through the reduction of overall eonption and by encouraging consumers to switcbwei-taxed categories of beverage
alcohol.

We could face product liability or other related liabilities that increase our costs of operations andarm our reputation.

Although we maintain liability insurance and wittempt to limit contractually our liability for daages arising from our products, these
measures may not be sufficient for us to succdgsiubid or limit liability. Our product liabilityinsurance coverage is limited to $1.0 million
per occurrence and $2.0 million in the aggregateaur general liability umbrella policy is cappeadsa0.0 million. Further, any contractual
indemnification and insurance coverage we have fpanies supplying our products is limited, asacgical matter, to the creditworthiness of
the indemnifying party and the insured limits ofansurance provided by these suppliers. In anygextensive product liability claims
could be costly to defend and/or costly to resalnd could harm our reputation.

Contamination of our products and/or counterfeit or confusingly similar products could harm the imageand integrity of, or decrease
customer support for, our brands and decrease ourades.

The success of our brands depends upon the poisitage that consumers have of them. Contaminatibether arising accidentally or
through deliberate third-party action, or otherra@gehat harm the integrity or consumer supporbfarbrands, could affect the demand for
our products. Contaminants in raw materials puretidiom third parties and used in the productionwfproducts or defects in the
distillation and fermentation processes could lealdw beverage quality as well as illness amomgnjory to, consumers of our products and
could result in reduced sales of the affected brarall of our brands. Also, to the extent thatdiparties sell products that are either
counterfeit versions of our brands or brands thek like our brands, consumers of our brands coatduse our products with products that
they consider inferior. This could cause them feaie from purchasing our brands in the future antlirn could impair our brand equity and
adversely affect our sales and operati
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Risk Relating to Owning Our Stock

We may not be able to maintain our listing on the NSE MKT, which may limit the ability of our shareholders to sell their common
stock.

If we do not meet the NYSE MKT continued listingteria, we may be delisted and trading of our comrstmck could be conducted in
the OTC Bulletin Board or the interdealer quotatiystems of the OTC Markets Group Inc. In such cashareholder likely would find it
more difficult to trade our common stock or to dbtaccurate market quotations for it. If our comnstock is delisted, it will become subject
to the Securities and Exchange Commission’s “pestogk rules,” which impose sales practice requimgsien broker-dealers that sell that
common stock to persons other than establishedmgss and “accredited investors.” Application aétitule could make broker-dealers
unable or unwilling to sell our common stock amditithe ability of shareholders to sell their coomutock in the secondary market.

Our executive officers, directors and principal shaeholders own a substantial percentage of our votmstock, which allows them to
control matters requiring shareholder approval. They could make business decisions for us that causerstock price to decline and
may act by written consent.

As of June 25, 2014, our executive officers, doextand principal shareholders beneficially ownggraximately 49% of our common
stock, including options that are exercisable with0 days of the date of this annual report andrassy full exercise of such options and
conversion of our 5% October 2013 Convertible nbeld by such persons. As a result, if they acbimcert, they could control matters
requiring approval by our shareholders, includimg ¢lection of directors, and could have the ahiititprevent or cause a corporate
transaction, even if other shareholders oppose actitn. Also, our articles of incorporation permilr shareholders to act by written consent.
This concentration of voting power could also htheeffect of delaying, deterring, or preventinghange of control or other business
combination, which could cause our stock pricedolide.

Provisions in our articles of incorporation, our bylaws and Florida law could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us,
discourage a takeover and adversely affect existirghareholders.

Our articles of incorporation, our bylaws and theriéa Business Corporation Act contain provisitimst may have the effect of making
more difficult, delaying, or deterring attemptsdityers to obtain control of our company, even winese attempts may be in the best inte
of our shareholders. These include provisions iigithe shareholders’ powers to remove directots. ddticles of incorporation also
authorize our board of directors, without sharebplpproval, to issue one or more series of predestock, which could have voting and
conversion rights that adversely affect or diltite voting power of the holders of our common stéd&rida law also imposes conditions on
certain "affiliated transactions” with “interestetareholders.”

These provisions and others that could be adopt#tki future could deter unsolicited takeoverseday or prevent changes in our con
or management, including transactions in whichaalders might otherwise receive a premium fonthleares over then current market
prices. These provisions may also limit the abitifyshareholders to approve transactions that iy deem to be in their best interests.

Negative publicity could affect our stock price andbusiness performance.
Unfavorable media related to our industry, compdmgnds, marketing, personnel, operations, busipegsrmance, or prospects could
negatively affect our corporate reputation, stogkey ability to attract high quality talent, andfbe performance of our business, regardle

its accuracy or inaccuracy. Adverse publicity ogatére commentary on social media outlets couldeaonsumers to avoid our brands
and/or choose brands offered by our competitorsgciwtould negatively affect our financial results.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

Not applicable.
Item 2. Properties

Our executive offices are located in New York, Nthere we lease approximately 4,800 square feeffisespace under a lease that
expires in April 2016. We also lease approxima#9 square feet of office space in Dublin, Irelander a lease that expires in October -
and approximately 1,000 square feet of office spad¢d¢ouston, TX under a lease that expires in Jgn2als.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We believe that neither we nor any of our whollyr@d subsidiaries is currently subject to litigatiinich, in the opinion of our
management, is likely to have a material adveriseebn us.

We may, however, become involved in litigation frtime to time relating to claims arising in the io@y course of our business. These
claims, even if not meritorious, could result ie #xpenditure of significant financial and managjeésources.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Relaed Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Edfy Securities
Price range of common stoc

Our common stock trades on the NYSE MKT under bl “ROX.” The following table sets forth the higind low sales prices for
our common stock for the periods specified.

Fiscal 2014 High Low
First Quarter (April — June 30, 2015 $ 04z $ 0.27
Second Quarter (July— September 30, 201 $ 09¢ $ 0.3C
Third Quarter (October — December 31, 201 $ 1.1C $ 0.6
Fourth Quarter (January— March 31, 2014 $ 158 $ 0.71
Fiscal 2013

First Quarter (April — June 30, 201z $ 034 $ 0.2
Second Quarter (July— September 30, 201, $ 032 % 0.2t
Third Quarter (October — December 31, 201: $ 034 $ 0.2¢€
Fourth Quarter (January— March 31, 2013 $ 03z $ 0.2t

Holders

At June 24, 2013, there were approximately 200rcebolders of our common stock.
Dividend policy

We did not declare or pay any cash dividends wafi2014 or 2013 and we do not intend to pay asf cividends with respect to our
common stock in the foreseeable future. We cuiyeénténd to retain any earnings for use in the apen of our business and to fund future
growth. Any future determination to pay cash divide will be at our board’s discretion and will degaipon our financial condition,

operating results, capital requirements and suoérdactors as our board deems relevant. Furtiieralaility to declare and pay cash divide
is restricted by certain covenants in our loan agrents.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table sets forth information at Margh, 2014 regarding compensation plans under winiclequity securities are
authorized for issuance.

Number of
securities Number of
to be issued securities
upon remaining

exercise of  Weighted-average available
outstanding exercise price of for future

options, outstanding issuance
warrants, options, warrants, under equity
restricted  restricted stock anc compensatior
stock and
Plan category rights rights plans
Equity compensation plans approved by securitydrs 12,951,80 $ 0.5€ 9,720,001
Equity compensation plans not approved by sechaotgers - - -
Total 12,951,80 $ 0.5€ 9,720,001

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

As a smaller reporting company, we are not requingatovide the information required by this Item.

Item 7. Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations

Overview

Our objective is to continue building Castle Brantte a profitable international spirits companythaa distinctive portfolio of

premium and super premium spirits brands. To aehikis, we continue to seek to:
» focus on our more profitable brands and markeWe continue to focus our distribution efforts, sadspertise and targeted

marketing activities on our more profitable braadsl markets

« grow organically.We believe that continued organic growth will eraib$ to achieve long-term profitability. We focus o

brands that have profitable growth potential aagisg power, such as our rums and whiskies, sdledizh have grown

approximately 40% over the past two fiscal ye

build consumer awarenesWe use our existing assets, expertise and resotardmsld consumer awareness and market

penetration for our brand

« leverage our distribution networkOur established distribution network in all 50 Us&tes enables us to promote our
brands nationally and makes us an attractive gi@apartner for smaller companies seeking U.Sriblision; and

» selectively add new brand extensions and brandsupportfolio. We intend to continue to introduce new brand exterss
and expressions. We continue to explore stratedationships, joint ventures and acquisitions tec#&ely expand our
premium spirits portfolio. We expect that futureaisitions or agency relations, if any, would ink®@ksome combination of

cash, debt and the issuance of our stc

Recent Events
Common stock equity distribution agreement

In November 2013, we entered into an Equity Distiitm Agreement (the "Distribution Agreement”) wBlarrington Research
Associates, Inc. ("Barrington"”), as sales agendennvhich we may issue and sell over time and ftiome to time, to or through Barrington,
shares (the "Shares") of our common stock, $0.0¥gae per share ("Common Stock") having a gratessprice of up to $6.0 million.

Sales of the Shares pursuant to the DistributioreAgient may be effected by any method permitteldwydeemed to be an "at-the-
market" offering as defined in Rule 415 of the Sims Act of 1933, as amended, including withaotifation directly on the NYSE MKT
LLC or any other existing trading market for then@aon Stock or through a market maker, up to thewarnspecified, and otherwise to or
through Barrington in accordance with the placenmenices delivered by us to Barrington. Also, wotlr prior consent, some of the Common

Stock issued pursuant to the Distribution Agreenmeay be sold in privately negotiated transactions.
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Between November 15, 2013 and June 25, 2014, wietselmillion Shares of Common Stock pursuant eoDistribution Agreeme
for gross proceeds of $5.7 million, before dedugsales agent and offering expenses of $0.2 milllde used a portion of the proceeds to
finance the acquisition of an additional $4.3 roillin bourbon inventory in support of the growthoaf Jefferson's bourbon brand.

Exercise of 2011 Warrants

In November 2013, in accordance with certain teofrthe warrants issued in connection with our J2@#&1 private placement (the
“2011 Warrants”), the down-round provisions incldde the terms of the 2011 Warrants were no longeffect as a result of the historical
volume weighted average price and trading volumeunfCommon Stock. As a result, we then reclagsedair value of the outstanding
warrant liability of $6.2 million to equity, residg in an increase to additional pardeapital. Further, we were no longer requiredetmognize
any change in fair value of the 2011 Warrants tareireporting periods.

In the year ended March 31, 2014, we issued 10llbmshares of Common Stock and received $3.8anilin cash upon the
exercise of 2011 Warrants. On April 2, 2014, wédethfor cancellation all remaining 1.7 million ureegised 2011 Warrants as of April 21,
2014. All of these warrants were exercised priazgncellation and we issued approximately 1.7 arilshares of Common Stock and rece
$0.6 million in cash upon the exercise thereof.

Conversion of Series A Preferred Stock

On February 11, 2014, our Board of Directors appdothe mandatory conversion of all outstandingeshaf our 10% Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $ 0.01 pares (“Series A Preferred Stock”) pursuant to therims, effective on or about February 24,
2014. Pursuant to the mandatory conversion, afitantling shares of Series A Preferred Stock, acidied dividends thereon, converted into
approximately 26.2 million shares of Common Stock.

5% Convertible Subordinated Notes

In October 2013, we entered into a 5% Convertibled®dinated Note Purchase Agreement (the "NotelRgic Agreement”), with the
purchasers party thereto (the "Purchasers"), whiokiides for the issuance of an aggregate initialcpal amount of $2.1 million unsecured
subordinated notes (the "Convertible Notes"). Wedus portion of the proceeds to finance the adiprisof additional bourbon inventory in
support of the growth of our Jefferson's bourbaambdr

The Convertible Notes bear interest at a rate op&8¥annum and mature on December 15, 2018. Thedttilrle Notes and accrued but
unpaid interest thereon are convertible in wholagrart from time to time at the option of the dhers thereof into shares of our Common
Stock at a conversion price of $0.90 per share"@waversion Price"). The Convertible Notes maybepaid in whole or in part at any time
without penalty or premium, but with payment of mma interest to the date of prepayment. The CoimeNotes contain customary events
of default, which, if uncured, entitle each noteteslto accelerate the due date of the unpaid pahamount of, and all accrued and unpaid
interest on, the Convertible Notes. We issued thev€rtible Notes on October 31, 2013.

The Purchasers include certain related partiesic, ancluding an affiliate of Dr. Phillip Frost§$0,000), a director of ours and our
principal shareholder, Mark E. Andrews, Ill ($50000a director of ours and our Chairman, an afliaf Richard J. Lampen ($50,000), a
director of ours and our President and Chief Exeeudfficer, an affiliate of Glenn Halpryn ($200@0Q a director of ours, Dennis Scholl
($100,000), a director of ours, and Vector Groug. ($200,000), a more than 5% shareholder of @inshich Richard Lampen is an
executive officer and Henry Beinstein, a directbours, is a director.

We may forcibly convert all or any part of the Cerible Notes and all accrued but unpaid intetestdon if (i) the average daily volur
of the Common Stock (as reported on the principaiket or exchange on which the Common Stock iedistr quoted for trading) exceeds
$50,000 per trading day and (ii) the volume weidragerage price of the Common Stock for at leashtw (20) trading days during any thi
(30) consecutive trading day period exceeds 250%ethen-current Conversion Price. Any forced avawn will be applied ratably to the
holders of all Convertible Notes issued pursuanhé&Note Purchase Agreement based on each hotteriscurrent note holdings.

Keltic Facility

Also in October 2013, in connection with our exémuiand delivery of the Note Purchase Agreementameéeour wholly owned
subsidiary, Castle Brands (USA) Corp. ("CB-USA'Htered into a Fourth Amendment, Waiver and Confaet"Fourth Amendment") to the
Loan and Security Agreement (as amended, the 'tKiettan Agreement”), dated as of August 19, 2011h Weltic Financial Partners II, LP
Delaware limited partnership ( "Keltic") , to ameeettain terms of our existing $8.0 million revalygicredit facility (the "Keltic Facility") an
$4.0 million term loan to finance purchases of aghdskies (the “Bourbon Term Loan”). The Fourth Amdenent modifies certain aspects of
the EBITDA covenant contained in the Loan Agreempatmits us to incur indebtedness in an aggrem&eal principal amount of $2.1
million pursuant to the terms of the Note Purchageeement and Convertible Notes and permits the usake regularly scheduled payments
of principal and interest and voluntary prepaymemtshe Convertible Notes, subject to certain cimats set forth in the Fourth Amendment.
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In November 2013, we entered into a Fifth Amendnternhe Keltic Loan Agreement with Keltic, to, angpother things, amend certain
terms of our existing $8.0 million revolving fatjliand $4.0 million term loan with Keltic to prowdor the issuances of letters of credit ur
the Keltic Loan Agreement.

Expansion of Gosling’s Stormy Ginger Beer

In support of our growth of the Gosling’s brand aine Dark’n StormyP cocktail, through GCP, we have recently begun pcvdy
Gosling’s Stormy Ginger Beer in Germany and the tbKinternational sales including Australia, Gempathe U.K., the Netherlands,
Denmark, Italy, Ireland and Dubai.

Operations overview

We generate revenue through the sale of our predaciur network of wholesale distributors or, amtrol states, stateperated agencie
which, in turn, distribute our products to retailtlets. In the U.S., our sales price per case dediexcise tax and import duties, which are also
reflected as a corresponding increase in our dasdles. Most of our international sales are soidotnd”, with the excise taxes paid by our
customers upon shipment, thereby resulting in lawkative revenue as well as a lower relative obsales, although some of our United
Kingdom sales are sold “tax paid”, as in the U.Be Tifference between sales and net sales prifhcigdlects adjustments for various
distributor incentives.

Our gross profit is determined by the prices atolhie sell our products, our ability to control @ast of sales, the relative mix of our
case sales by brand and geography and the impé#arteddgn currency fluctuations. Our cost of sakeprincipally driven by our cost of
procurement, bottling and packaging, which diffieydorand, as well as freight and warehousing cé¥tspurchase certain products, such as
Gosling’s rums, Pallini liqueurs, Gozio amaretta dnerras tequila, as finished goods. For othedpets, such as Jefferson’s bourbons, we
purchase the components, including the distilladtspbottles and packaging materials, and hav@ngements with third parties for bottling
and packaging. Our U.S. sales typically have adrigibsolute gross margin than in other marketsakes prices per case are generally higher
in the U.S.

Selling expense principally includes advertising amarketing expenditures and compensation paiditonarketing and sales personnel.
Our selling expense, as a percentage of salesanzhpe, is higher than that of our competitorabse of our brand development costs, level
of marketing expenditures and established sale® fegrsus our relatively small base of case salésales volumes. However, we believe
that maintaining an infrastructure capable of sufpg future growth is the correct long-term appio#or us.

While we expect the absolute level of selling exgeeto increase in the coming years, we expechgedikpense as a percentage of
revenues and on a per case basis to decline, a®lounes expand and our sales team sells a latgeber of brands.

General and administrative expense relates to catpand administrative functions that supportaparations and includes
administrative payroll, occupancy and related espsrand professional services. We expect genatadministrative expense in fiscal 2015
to be comparable to fiscal 2014, as we continwmtdrol core spending. We expect our general antrastrative expense as a percentage of
sales to decline due to economies of scale.

We expect to increase our case sales in the UdSnternationally over the next several years tgroarganic growth, and through the
extension of our product line via line extensicasuisitions and distribution agreements. We wdllsto maintain liquidity and manage our
working capital and overall capital resources dytims period of anticipated growth to achieve lomg-term objectives, although there is no
assurance that we will be able to do so.

We continue to believe the following industry trendlill create growth opportunities for us, incluglin

the divestiture of smaller and emerging -core brands by major spirits companies as theyimosto consolidate
increased barriers to entry, particularly ia thS., due to continued consolidation and theadiltfy in establishing an
extensive distribution network, such as the onena@tain; anc

the trend by small private and family-owneditpbrand owners to partner with, or be acquingddbcompany with global
distribution. We expect to be an attractive altéueeto our larger competitors for these brand awras one of the few
modesth-sized publicl-traded spirits companie

Our growth strategy is based upon partnering witieiobrands, acquiring smaller and emerging brandisgrowing existing brands. To
identify potential partner and acquisition candigatve plan to rely on our management’s industryeggpce and our extensive network of
industry contacts. We also plan to maintain andvgpar U.S. and international distribution chanrsgghat we are more attractive to spirits
companies who are looking for a route to markettieir products. We expect to compete for foreigd small private and family-owned
spirits brands by offering flexible and creativeustures, which present an alternative to the lasg&its companies.
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We intend to finance any future brand acquisititmeugh a combination of our available cash resrthird party financing and, in
appropriate circumstances, the further issuanegoity and/or debt securities. Acquiring additionednds could have a significant effect on
our financial position, and could cause substafitiatuations in our quarterly and yearly operatiegults. Also, the pursuit of acquisitions
and other new business relationships may requgréfgiant management attention. We may not be tahéeiccessfully identify attractive
acquisition candidates, obtain financing on favteabrms or complete these types of transactioastimely manner and on terms acceptable
to us, if at all.

Financial performance overview

The following table provides information regardiogr beverage alcohol case sales for the periodepted based on nitieer equivalen
cases, which is a standard industry metric:

Years ended March 31

2014 2013
Cases
United State: 307,58 302,60:
International 81,79( 69,457
Total 389,37 372,05¢
Rum 166,93¢ 152,69¢
Vodka 55,14¢ 69,60(
Liqueurs 91,83: 86,43:
Whiskey 70,59: 53,79¢
Tequila 1,152 1,33
Wine 3,70¢ 7,46¢
Other 4 72€
Total 389,37 372,05¢
Percentage of Case
United State: 79.(% 81.2%
International 21.(% 18.7%
Total 100.(% 100.(%
Rum 42.8% 41.(%
Vodka 14.2% 18.7%
Liqueurs 23.6% 23.2%
Whiskey 18.1% 14.5%
Tequila 0.3% 0.4%
Wine 1.0% 2.C%
Other 0.0% 0.2%
Total 100.(% 100.(%

The following table provides information regardiogr case sales of non-beverage alcohol productséoperiods presented:

Years ended March 31

2014 2013
Cases
United State: 403,19! 248,30¢
International 26,32:¢ 16,27:
Total 429,51¢ 264,58:
United State! 93.%% 93.8%
International 6.1% 6.2%

Total 100.(% 100.(%
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Critical accounting policies and estimates

A number of estimates and assumptions affect qaorted amounts of assets and liabilities, amouihssiles and expenses and disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities in our finahstatements. On an ongoing basis, we evaluase #stimates and assumptions based on
historical experience and other factors and cird¢antes. We believe our estimates and assumptieneasonable under the circumstances;
however, actual results may differ from these estas.

We believe that the estimates and assumptionssiiedbelow are most important to the portrayalofiimancial condition and results
operations in that they require our most difficslipjective or complex judgments and form the bfasithe accounting policies deemed to be
most critical to our operations.

Revenue recognitiol

We recognize revenue from product sales when theéugat is shipped to a customer (generally a distoit), title and risk of loss has
passed to the customer under the terms of sale @@ping point or FOB destination) and collectismeasonably assured. We do not off
right of return but will accept returns if we shgzpthe wrong product or wrong quantity. Revenu®isrecognized on shipments to control
states in the U.S. until such time as the produsbld through to the retail channel.

Accounts receivabli

We record trade accounts receivable at net reddizebue. This value includes an appropriate alloeesfor estimated uncollectible
accounts to reflect any loss anticipated on thaet@ccounts receivable balances and charged sdldiweance for doubtful accounts. We
calculate this allowance based on our history dgtfeasffs, level of past due accounts based on actuel terms of the receivables and our
relationships with, and economic status of, outamuers.

Inventory valuation

Our inventory, which consists of distilled spirikajlk wine, dry good raw materials (bottles, lakeatsl caps), packaging and finished
goods, is valued at the lower of cost or markdéhguthe weighted average cost method. We assesslintion of our inventories and reduce
the carrying value of those inventories that argot#te or in excess of our forecasted usage todltimated realizable value. We estimate
net realizable value of such inventories basednatyaes and assumptions including, but not limitedhistorical usage, future demand and
market requirements. Reduction to the carryingealiinventories is recorded in cost of goods sold.

Goodwill and other intangible assets

As of March 31, 2014 and 2013, we recorded $0.5anibf goodwill that arose from acquisitions. Gadlli represents the excess of
purchase price and related costs over the valugrassto the net tangible and identifiable intatgifssets of businesses acquired. Intangible
assets with indefinite lives consist primarily @fhts, trademarks, trade names and formulationsaeequired to analyze our goodwill and
other intangible assets with indefinite lives farpairment on an annual basis as well as when eaadtsircumstances indicate that an
impairment may have occurred. Certain factors teay occur and indicate that an impairment exigtkige, but are not limited to, operating
results that are lower than expected and advedsesiry or market economic trends. We evaluatedahewverability of goodwill and indefinite
lived intangible assets using a two-step impairnesitapproach at the reporting unit level. Inftre step the fair value for the reporting unit
is compared to its book value including goodwiilthe fair value of the reporting unit is less thiha book value, a second step is performed
which compares the implied fair value of the repgrunit’s goodwill to the book value of the goodiwThe fair value for the goodwill is
determined based on the difference between thedhies of the reporting units and the net faiuealof the identifiable assets and liabilities
of such reporting units. If the fair value of theoglwill is less than the book value, the differeisceecognized as an impairment.

The fair value of each reporting unit was determiateach of March 31, 2014 and 2013 by weightingrabination of the present value
of our discounted anticipated future operating dashis and values based on market multiples ofmaeeand earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”) of comphla companies. Other than the write downs of intaegand goodwill related to the
wine brands discussed below, we did not recordimpairment on goodwill or other intangible assetsfiscal 2014 or 2013.

Page23




Intangible assets with estimable useful lives anertized over their respective estimated usef@dito the estimated residual values and
reviewed for impairment whenever events or chaimgescumstances indicate that the carrying valagy mot be recoverable. We are requ
to amortize intangible assets with estimable udafaes over their respective estimated useful liteethe estimated residual values and to
review intangible assets with estimable usefuldif@ impairment in accordance with the Financiatdunting Standards Board (“FASB”)
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC") 310, “Ammting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-livAssets.”

In March 2013, we determined to reduce our saldsaarketing efforts on our wine brands, which doprovide a material contribution
to our results of operations. We made this decigiawptimize our resources and focus on our fagigwving and more profitable spirits
brands, and to reduce the levels of working capéqlired to maintain necessary inventory levelsuwk wine and finished goods. We intend
to continue selling existing finished goods wineentory through our current sales channels, bubaetigely seeking buyers for large lots and
for our bulk wine. In connection with this decisjame recognized a loss of $1.7 million, consistifi¢g0.8 million on the write-down of net
intangible assets and $0.9 million in goodwill vesdl as $0.3 million charged to the provision fdasolete inventory to adjust both bulk wine
and finished goods to estimated net realizableeydbr the year ended March 31, 2013.

Stock-based awards

We follow current authoritative guidance regardatgck-based compensation, which requires all shased payments, including grants
of stock options, to be recognized in the inconageshent as an operating expense, based on themafaes on the grant date. Stock-based
compensation was $0.4 million and $0.3 millionfiscal 2014 and 2013, respectively. We used thelB&choles option-pricing model to
estimate the fair value of options granted. Themgdions used in valuing the options granted dufisgal 2014 and 2013 are included in r
13 to our consolidated financial statements.

Fair value of financial instruments

ASC 825, “Financial Instruments” (“ASC 825"), dedimthe fair value of a financial instrument asahmunt at which the instrument
could be exchanged in a current transaction betwméléng parties and requires disclosure of the failue of certain financial instruments.
We believe that there is no material differenceveen the fair value and the reported amounts affifal instruments in the balance sheets
due to the short-term maturity of these instrumemtsvith respect to the debt, as compared to tineent borrowing rates available to us.

Results of operation

The following table sets forth, for the periodsigaded, the percentage of net sales of certairsi@mur consolidated financial
statements.

Years ended March 31

2014 2013
Sales, ne 100.(% 100.(%
Cost of sale: 63.(% 63.8%
Provision for obsolete inventory 0.4% 1.7%
Gross profit 36.€% 34.5%
Selling expens 26.(% 27.2%
General and administrative expel 11.5% 11.€%
Depreciation and amortizatic 1.8% 2.2%
Loss on wine assets 0.C% 4.1%
Loss from operations (2.7% (10.6)%
Loss from equity investment in n-consolidated affiliat (1.0% (0.)%
Foreign exchange lo: (0.6)% (0.6)%
Interest expense, n (2.2% (1.9%
Net change in fair value of warrant liabili (11.29% 0.7%
Income tax benefit, net 1.2% 0.2%
Net loss (16.5% (11. 9%
Net income attributable to noncontrolling intere (1.9% (1.5)%
Net loss attributable to controlling intere (18.9% (13.2)%
Dividend to preferred shareholders (0.8)% (1.8)%

Net loss attributable to common shareholc (19.2% (15.0%
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The following is a reconciliation of net loss attitable to common shareholders to EBITDA, as adflist

Years ended March 31

2014 2013
Net loss attributable to common shareholc $ (9291,34) $ (6,193,22)
Adjustments
Interest expense, n 1,062,21! 587,30t
Income tax benefit, ne (590,419 (118,349
Depreciation and amortization 860,25¢ 920,30¢
EBITDA (loss) (7,959,28) (4,803,96)
Allowance for doubtful accoun 403,04¢ 86,86¢
Allowance for obsolete inventol 200,00( 684,83(
Stocl-based compensation expel 393,91 282,31
Loss on wine asse — 1,715,72
Loss from equity investment in n-consolidated affiliatt 502,51¢ 22,54¢
Foreign exchange lo: 284,96 247,43:
Net change in fair value of warrant liabili 5,392,59 (302,739
Net income attributable to noncontrolling intere 935,03! 610,49:
Dividend to preferred shareholders 384,59¢ 744,46¢
EBITDA, as adjusted 537,38« (712,019

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation amattzation, or EBITDA, adjusted for allowances fmubtful accounts and obsolete
inventory, loss on wine assets, non-cash compeamseatipense, loss from equity investment in nonsolidated affiliate, foreign exchange,
change in fair value of warrant liability, net imae attributable to noncontrolling interests anddénd to preferred shareholders is a key
metric we use in evaluating our financial perform@rEBITDA is considered a non-GAAP financial measas defined by Regulation G
promulgated by the SEC under the Securities Ad933, as amended. We consider EBITDA, as adjustgghrtant in evaluating our
performance on a consistent basis across varigimigeDue to the significance of non-cash and remwring items, EBITDA, as adjusted,
enables our Board of Directors and management tdtorand evaluate the business on a consisteid. Me use EBITDA, as adjusted, as a
primary measure, among others, to analyze and &eafinancial and strategic planning decisions ngigg future operating investments and
allocation of capital resources. We believe thalTHB\, as adjusted, eliminates items that are ndiciative of our core operating performa
or are based on management’s estimates, sucloasmatie accounts, are due to changes in valuatich, &s the effects of changes in foreign
exchange or fair value of warrant liability, or dot involve a cash outlay, such as stock-based eosgtion expense. Our presentation of
EBITDA, as adjusted, should not be construed asfenence that our future results will be unaffelctsy unusual or non-recurring items or by
non-cash items, such as non-cash compensationhvgh@xpected to remain a key element in our l@rgitincentive compensation program.
EBITDA, as adjusted, should be considered in &midib, rather than as a substitute for, incomenfaperations, net income and cash flows
from operating activities.

Our EBITDA, as adjusted, improved to income of $®i8lion for the year ended March 31, 2014, as carag to a loss of ($0.7) million
for the comparable prior-year period, primarilyaaesult of our increased sales and gross profit.

Fiscal 2014 compared with fiscal 2013

Net salesNet sales increased 16.2% to $48.1 million forytkar ended March 31, 2014, as compared to $41libmibr the comparable
prior-year period, due to the overall growth of @osling's, Jefferson's, Clontarf and Brady's bsa@ur international case sales as a
percentage of total case sales increased to 210thd year ended March 31, 2014 from 18.7% forcttvaparable prior-year period due to
strong growth in Irish whiskey sales in internatibmarkets. The overall sales growth was partiaffget by a decrease in vodka sales due to
continued price competition. We continue to focnsar faster growing brands and markets, bothénls. and internationally.
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The table below presents the increase or decraasgplicable, in case sales by product categohé year ended March 31, 2014
as compared to the year ended March 31, 2013:

Increase/(decrease Percentage
in case sale: increase/(decrease
Overall U.S. Overall U.S.
Rum 14,30¢ 5,467 9.4% 4.7%
Liqueur 5,401 4,57¢ 6.2% 5.2%
Whiskey 16,72’ 11,07: 31.1% 35.(%
Vodka (14,45¢) (11,467 (20.9% (19.1%
Tequila (184) (184) (13.9% (13.9%
Wine (3,760) (3,760) (50.9% (50.9)%
Other (724) (724) (99.9% (99.9%
Total 17,31 4,982 4.7% 1.€%

Gross profit.Gross profit increased 22.9% to $17.6 million foe tyear ended March 31, 2014 from $14.3 milliontfer comparable
prior-year period, while our gross margin increaed6.6% for the year ended March 31, 2014 contpar&4.6% for the comparable prior-
year period. The increase in gross profit was priilsndue to increased sales in the current peniddle the increase in gross margin was
to an increase in sales of our more profitable dsam particular the Jefferson’s brands. Duringykear ended March 31, 2014, we recorded a
net allowance for obsolete and slow moving inventadr$0.2 million, as compared to $0.7 million fbe prior year period. We recorded th
allowances on both raw materials and finished gopdsarily in connection with label and packaguitanges made to certain brands, as
as certain cost variances. The allowance recor#tki prior year period included $0.3 million ind in connection with our determination
to cease supporting our wine brands. The net chdrgee been recorded as an increase to Cost &f iBdleth periods. Net of the allowance
for obsolete inventory, our gross margin for tharyended March 31, 2014 was 37.0% as compared 28a3fr the comparable prior-year
period.

Selling expense&elling expense increased 11.2% to $12.5 milliortfe year ended March 31, 2014 from $11.3 milfimonthe
comparable prior-year period, primarily due to a7$@illion increase in shipping costs due to inseghsales vaolume, a $0.3 million increase
in employee costs and a $0.1 million increase wregteing, marketing and promotion expense in supgoour overall volume growth. The
increase in sales resulted in a net decreaselivigsekpense as a percentage of net sales to 2®10#te year ended March 31, 2014 as
compared to 27.2% for the comparable prior-yeaioger

General and administrative expens8eneral and administrative expense increasedd th25.5 million for the year ended March 31,
2014 from $4.8 million for the comparable priggar period, primarily due to a $0.3 million incsean bad debt expense due to the insolv
of certain international distributors and the wdtié of uncollectable receivables from wine sakeswell as an overall increase in the
allowance due to the increase in overall saleso Ale year ended March 31, 2014 included a $0lliomincrease in each of professional
fees, insurance and occupancy costs and emplopemsx. The increase in sales in the current pegmdted in general and administrative
expense as a percentage of net sales decreadifidh®b for the year ended March 31, 2014 as comparétl.6% for the comparable prior-
year period

Depreciation and amortizatioepreciation and amortization was $0.9 millionttee each of the years ended March 31, 2014 and 2013

Loss from operationsAs a result of the foregoing, loss from operagianproved 70.0% to ($1.3) million for the year eddViarch 31,
2014 from ($4.4) million for the comparable priazay period, which prioyear period included a ($1.7) million loss on wassets. Net of tt
loss on wine assets, loss from operations impr&20% from ($2.7) million for the comparable pri@ar period. As a result of our focus on
our stronger growth markets and better performiraéls, and expected growth from our existing brawesanticipate improved results of
operations in the near term as compared to comigapaibr-year periods, although there is no assgdhat we will attain such results.

Net change in fair value of warrant liability¥e recorded the fair market value of the 2011 WHsrat their initial fair value. Changes in
the fair value of the 2011 Warrants were recognineshrnings for each reporting period. For therysaled March 31, 2014, we recorded a
non-cash charge for loss on the change in the \dltlee warrants of ($5.4) million, as comparedtgain of $0.3 million for the comparable
prior-year period, primarily due to the effectsoofr increased share price on the Black-Scholestialu In November 2013, in accordance
with certain terms of the 2011 Warrants, the doawnad provisions included in the terms of the warcaased to be in effect due to the
historical VWAP and trading volume of our Commondt As a result, the then outstanding warranillistof $6.2 million was eliminated
and recognized as an increase to additional ipagdypital. For the year ended March 31, 2014, éislabf 2011 Warrants exercised 10.1 mil
2011 Warrants and received shares of Common Stekreceived $3.8 million in cash upon the exerofsénese warrants. In April 2014, we
called for cancellation all remaining 1.7 millionexercised 2011 Warrants pursuant to their terftes, satisfying applicable conditions.
Pursuant to the call for cancellation, holdersibL & million unexercised 2011 Warrants exerciaed received 1.7 million shares of Comr
Stock. We received $0.6 million in cash upon thereise of these warrants. As a result, all outstend011 Warrants have been exercised as
of the date of this report. Accordingly, we areloger required to recognize any changes in fdireraf the 2011 Warrants in future
reporting periods.
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Income tax benefit, natve released the deferred tax asset valuation afiogvallocated to GCP as of March 31, 2014 dueto ou
determination that it was “more likely than notatithe GCP’s deferred tax assets would be realfadake likely than not” is defined as
greater than 50% probability of occurrence. Ouedsination as to the ultimate realization of théed®d tax assets is dependent upon our
judgment and evaluation of both positive and negatividence, forecasts of future taxable incompliegible tax planning strategies, and
assessment of current and future economic andédmssonditions. In 2014, GCP was in a positioruofidative profitability on a pre-tax
basis, considering its operating results for thmedtyears ended March 31, 2014. We concludedhtsatdcord of cumulative profitability in
recent years, in addition to a long range foreshsting continued profitability for GCP, providedfficient positive evidence that the net
U.S. federal tax benefits more likely than not wbie realized. Accordingly, in the year ended M&8th2014, we released the valuation
allowance against GCP’s net federal deferred gssstslting in a $0.5 million benefit in provisiéor income taxes for the year ended March
31, 2014.

Loss from equity investment in non-consolidatedia#. In August 2010, through CB-USA, we formed DP CaBtetners, LLC
(“DPCP”) with Drink Pie, LLC to manage the manufaitg and marketing of Travis Hasse’s Original Applie Liqueur, Cherry Pie Liqueur
and any future line extensions of the brand. Weslaocounted for our investment in DPCP on the gauéithod of accounting. Results from
this investment were de minimis in each of the yearded March 31, 2014 and 2013. In December 204 8letermined to cease marketing
and selling these brands and returned the remainugmtory to Drink Pie, LLC. In connection withetldiscontinuation of marketing and se
efforts, we recognized a loss of $0.5 million fronr investment in DPCP, including a $0.1 milliosdan investment and write-offs of $0.4
million on the remaining receivable balances doenfDPCP, for the year ended March 31, 2014.

Foreign exchange losEoreign exchange loss for the year ended Marc2@14 was ($0.3) million as compared to a loss 6fZ
million for the comparable prior-year period duahe net effects of fluctuations of the U.S. doHgainst the Euro and their effects on our
Euro-denominated intercompany balances due toavaigh subsidiaries for inventory purchases.

Interest expense, n&t/e had interest expense, net of ($1.1) milliontf@r year ended March 31, 2014 as compared to ($0l&n for
the comparable prior-year period due to increasdahoes outstanding under our credit facilitiese Buexpected balances on the Keltic
Facility and other indebtedness, we expect intengsénse, net to increase in the near term as cechpaprior-year periods.

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interedtet income attributable to noncontrolling interedising the year ended March 31,
2014 was ($0.9) million as compared to ($0.6) willfor the comparable prigrear period, both the result of allocated net inegetorded b
our 60% owned subsidiary, Gosling-Castle Partriars,

Dividend to preferred shareholdetSor each of the years ended March 31, 2014 and, 204 Becognized a dividend on our Series A
Preferred Stock of $0.4 million, as compared t& $8illion in the prior-year period, as requiredthg terms of the preferred stock. Accrued
dividends on our Series A Preferred Stock were palyable in Common Stock upon conversion or ligtiiee Pursuant to the mandatory
conversion described aboveRecent Eventsall outstanding shares of Series A PreferrediSimed accrued dividends thereon, converted
into Common Stock in February 2014. Accordingly,wi# no longer recognize a dividend to preferrédusholders in future reporting
periods.

Net loss attributable to common shareholdérs a result of the net effects of the foregoingpessally the non-cash charge for loss on the
net change in fair value of warrant liability iretourrent year, offset by the loss on wine assetisd prior year, net loss attributable to
common shareholders increased to ($9.3) milliortHeryear ended March 31, 2014 as compared to)(&6libn for the comparable prior-
year period. Net loss per common share, basic éunetd, was ($0.08) per share for the year endectMal, 2014 as compared to ($0.06)
share for the comparable pripear period. Net loss per common share, basic duned, as reported in the current period was inapdoby the
issuance of 43.0 million shares of Common Stoatoinnection with the Distribution Agreement, the wersion of Series A Preferred Stock
and the warrant exercise described above.

Liquidity and capital resources
Overview
Since our inception, we have incurred significamemating and net losses and have not generatetivpasash flows from operations. For

the year ended March 31, 2014, we had a net lo$8.dfmillion, and used cash of $5.8 million in maiéng activities. As of March 31, 2014,
we had cash and cash equivalents of $0.9 and hadcamulated deficit of $140.0 million.
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Existing Financing

See Management's Discussion and Analysis of Finh@gndition and Results of Operations — RecennEvior a discussion of our
recent financing activities.

In March 2013, we entered into a Second Amendntetiite Keltic Facility, providing for an increasedmailable borrowings (subject to
certain terms and conditions) under the Keltic Fgdior working capital purposes from $7.0 millida $8.0 million and the Bourbon Term
Loan in the initial aggregate principal amount &f3million, which was used for the purchase ofrbon inventory on March 11, 2013.
Unless sooner terminated in accordance with tlesipective terms, the Keltic Facility and Bourbomriié.oan expire on December 31, 2016
(the "Maturity Date"). We may borrow up to the nragim amount of the Keltic Facility, provided that vave a sufficient borrowing base
defined in the Keltic Loan Agreement). The Keltizciity interest rate is the rate that, when anized,, is the greatest of (a) the Prime Rate
plus 3.25%, (b) the LIBOR Rate plus 5.75% and (6P%. The Bourbon Term Loan interest rate is the ttzat, when annualized, is the
greatest of (a) the Prime Rate plus 4.25%, (bL.tBOR Rate plus 6.75% and (c) 7.50%. Interest igapée monthly in arrears, on the first
of every month on the average daily unpaid princgmaount of the Keltic Facility and the Bourbon fiekoan. After the occurrence and
during the continuance of any "Default" or "EvefDefault" (as defined under the loan agreementareerequired to pay interest at a rate
that is 3.25% per annum above the then applicablédacility or Bourbon Term Loan, as applicabigerest rate. The Keltic Facility
currently bears interest at 6.50% and the BourlkenmTLoan currently bears interest at 7.50%. Weegeaired to pay down the principal
balance of the Bourbon Term Loan within 15 banldags from the completion of a bottling run of baamtfrom our bourbon inventory stock
purchased on or about the date of the Bourbon Team in an amount equal to the purchase price @i ourbon. The unpaid principal
balance of the Bourbon Term Loan, all accrued anghid interest thereon, all fees, costs and exggesgable in connection with the
Bourbon Term Loan are due and payable in full enNfaturity Date. In addition to closing fees, Kelteceives an annual facility fee and a
collateral management fee (each as set forth iéigc Loan Agreement).

The Keltic Loan Agreement contains standard borrawpresentations and warranties for asset-basedviog and a number of
reporting obligations and affirmative and negatte@enants. The Keltic Loan Agreement includes rnegaiovenants that, among other
things, restrict our ability to create additionadiébtedness, dispose of properties, incur liergspaaike distributions or cash dividends. At
March 31, 2014, we were in compliance, in all mateespects, with the covenants under the Keltiar. Agreement.

Keltic required as a condition to funding the Baumtirerm Loan that Keltic had entered into a pgrtiibn agreement providing for an
aggregate of $750,000 of the initial $2.5 millioingipal amount of the Bourbon Term Loan to be pased by junior participants. Certain
related parties of ours purchased a portion ofetl@sior participations in the Bourbon Term Loargluding Frost Gamma Investments Trust
($500,000), Mark E. Andrews, Il ($50,000) and #iliate of Richard J. Lampen ($50,000). Under thems of the participation agreement,
the junior participants receive interest at the @ft11% per annum. We are not a party to theqpation agreement. However, we are party
to a fee letter with the junior participants (indilng the related party junior participants) purgutanwvhich we pay the junior participants an
aggregate commitment fee of $45,000 paid in thgemleannual installments of $15,000.

In August 2013, we entered into a Third Amendm#ére (Third Amendment”) to the Keltic Loan Agreeménbrder to modify certain
aspects of the borrowing base calculation and cavisrwith respect to the Keltic Facility and perostto make regularly scheduled paym:
of principal and interest and voluntary prepaymemshe Junior Loan (as defined below), subjectttain conditions set forth in the Third
Amendment. In addition, the Third Amendment prodides with the ability to increase the maximum aggte principal amount of the
Bourbon Term Loan from $2.5 million to up to $4.@lion following the identification of junior partipants to purchase a portion of the
increased Bourbon Term Loan amount. We paid Kehi@aggregate $25,000 amendment fee in connectibrtivg execution of the Third
Amendment.

Also in August 2013, we entered into a Loan Agreeinfihe "Junior Loan Agreement"), by and betweeants the lending parties ther:
(the "Junior Lenders"), which provides for an aggite $1.25 million unsecured loan (the "Junior L'pam us. The Junior Loan bears interest
at a rate of 11% per annum, payable quarterlyrimeas commencing November 1, 2013, and maturesctwbér 15, 2015. The Junior Loan
may be prepaid in whole or in part at any time withpenalty or premium but with payment of accrirgdrest to the date of prepayment. The
Junior Loan Agreement contains customary eventief#ult, which, if uncured, entitle each Junior dento accelerate the due date of the
unpaid principal amount of, and all accrued andaithpnterest on, the portion of the Junior Loan g such Junior Lender. The Junior
Loan Agreement provides for a funding fee of 2%go@mum on the then outstanding Junior Loan bal§ureerated for any period of less th
one year), payable pro rata among the Junior Lenutethe date of the Junior Loan Agreement andheffitst and second anniversaries
thereof. The Junior Lenders include Frost Gammadtments Trust, Mark E. Andrews, Ill and an affdiaf Richard J. Lampen. In
connection with the Junior Loan Agreement, the dubéenders entered into the subordination agreemihtKeltic; we are not a party to the
subordination agreement.
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In December 2009, Gosling-Castle Partners, In6Q% owned subsidiary, issued a promissory notheragjgregate principal amount of
$0.2 million to Gosling's Export (Bermuda) Limitedexchange for credits issued on certain invenpamchases. This note matures on April
1, 2020, is payable at maturity, subject to certaiceleration events, and calls for annual intexeS#6, to be accrued and paid at maturity.

We have arranged various credit facilities aggiegat0.4 million or $0.5 million (translated at tMarch 31, 2014 exchange rate) with
an Irish bank, including overdraft coverage, craditinsurance, customs and excise guaranty, aadaving credit facility. These facilities
are payable on demand, continue until terminateditner party, are subject to annual review, adlfeainterest at the lender’'s AA1 Rate
minus 1.70%.

Liquidity Discussion

As of March 31, 2014, we had shareholders’ equit$1®.9 million as compared to $12.9 million at Ma31, 2013. This increase is
primarily due to the reclassification of our prengo$6.2 million warrant liability as additional dain capital, the net issuance of $4.3 million
of Common Stock under the Distribution Agreemertt tre exercise of $3.8 million of our 2011 Warrapirtially offset by our total
comprehensive loss for the year ended March 314,26tluding the $5.4 million loss on the fair valaf warrant liability.

We had working capital of $19.1 million at March, 2014 as compared to $13.9 million as of March2BIL3. This increase is primarily
due to a $1.8 million increase in accounts recée;a$0.9 million increase in inventory, a $0.6lion increase in prepaid expenses, a $0.5
million increase in deferred tax assets, a net $fillilon decrease in accounts payable, accruedresgseand due to related parties and a $0.1
million decrease in our foreign revolving creditifay, partially offset by a $0.2 million decreasedue from shareholders and affiliates.

As of March 31, 2014, we had cash and cash equitsatéf approximately $0.9 million, as compared @o4$million as of March 31, 201
The increase is primarily attributable to the egaind debt issued, partially offset by the fundafigpur operations and working capital needs
for the year ended March 31, 2014. At March 31,£0de also had approximately $0.4 million of casstricted from withdrawal and held by
a bank in Ireland as collateral for overdraft cager, creditors’ insurance, revolving credit anceotiorking capital purposes.

In addition, between April 1, 2014 and June 27,£20te received $0.6 million in cash upon the exserdf 2011 Warrants to purchase
million shares of Common Stock.

The following may materially affect our liquidityver the near-to-mid term:

continued significant levels of cash losses frorarapions;

our ability to obtain additional debt or equitydimcing should it be require

an increase in working capital requirements torfeshigher levels of inventories and accounts vatde;
our ability to maintain and improve our relatiorshivith our distributors and our routes to mar

our ability to procure raw materials at a favorgiliee to support our level of sale

potential acquisitions of additional brands; i

expansion into new markets and within existing ratshn the U.S. and international

We continue to implement a plan to support the ghavf existing brands through sales and marketiitgatives that we expect will
generate cash flows from operations in the nextyfears. As part of this plan, we seek to grow aigifiess through expansion to new
markets, growth in existing markets and strengttetigtributor relationships. As our brands contitmgrow, our working capital
requirements will increase. In particular, the gifowf our Jefferson’s brands requires a signifiGanbunt of working capital relative to our
other brands, as we are required to purchase dddher increasing amounts of aged bulk bourbaméet growing demand. While we are
seeking solutions to our long-term bourbon suplgds, we are required to purchase and hold sexeaed’ worth of bulk bourbon in
inventory until such time as it is aged to our $fi@brand taste profiles, increasing our workirgpital requirements and negatively impac!
cash flows.

We are also seeking additional brands and agetatyorships to leverage our existing distributidatform. We intend to finance our
brand acquisitions through a combination of ourilaisée cash resources, borrowings and, in apprapd@Ecumstances, additional issuance
equity and/or debt securities. Acquiring additiobednds could have a significant effect on ourritial position, could materially reduce our
liquidity and could cause substantial fluctuatiomsur quarterly and yearly operating results. Wetmue to look to control expenses, seek
improvements in routes to market and contain probdacosts to improve cash flows.

As of March 31, 2014, we had borrowed $2.0 millgirthe $8.0 million available under the Keltic Hagj leaving $6.0 million in then
potential availability for working capital needss Af the date of this report, we had borrowed $6ilon of the $8.0 million available under
the Keltic Facility, leaving $4.0 million in poteat availability for working capital needs. We tele our current cash and working capital,
availability under the Keltic Facility, the proceethat have been raised, and the additional fungitadle to be raised, under the Distribution
Agreement, will enable us to fund our losses wmlachieve profitability, ensure continuity of siyppf our brands, and support new brand
initiatives and marketing programs through at ldastch 2015.
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Cash flows
The following table summarizes our primary souraeg uses of cash during the periods presented:

Years ended March 31
2014 2013
(in thousands)

Net cash provided by (used in)

Operating activitie! $ (5,8200 $ (4,98¢)
Investing activities (20¢) (299)
Financing activities 6,494 5,23
Effect of foreign currency translation 3 (2)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equisalent $ 46 $ (45)

Operating activitiesA substantial portion of available cash has beew ts fund our operating activities. In generagsth cash funding
requirements are based on operating losses, drhiefly by the costs in maintaining our distributisystem and our sales and marketing
activities. We have also utilized cash to fund iowentories. In general, these cash outlays foermeries are only partially offset by increases
in our accounts payable to our suppliers.

On average, the production cycle for our owned dsds up to three months from the time we obtaéndistilled spirits and other
materials needed to bottle and package our produthe time we receive products available for sal@art due to the international nature of
our business. We do not produce Gosling’s rumdinPidjueurs, Tierras tequila, or Gozio amaretttstead, we receive the finished product
directly from the owners of such brands. From timetwe have products available for sale, an additibwo to three months may be required
before we sell our inventory and collect paymeatfrcustomers. Further, our inventory at March . Lincluded significant additional
stores of bulk bourbon purchased in advance oté&sted production requirements. We expect to rethecbulk bourbon in the normal cou
of future sales, generating positive cash flowlitare periods.

During the year ended March 31, 2014, net cash insegerating activities was $5.8 million, congistiprimarily of a net loss of $7.9
million, a $2.0 million increase in accounts reedile, a $1.2 million increase in inventory, a $®iion decrease in accounts payable and
accrued expenses, a $0.6 million increase in pdeggenses, a $0.2 million increase in other assets$0.6 million in deferred tax benefit.
These uses of cash were partially offset by a ahamdpir value of warrant liability of $5.4 millig a $0.5 million loss on equity investmen
non-consolidated affiliate, stock based compensatigense of $0.4 million, depreciation and amatitn expense of $0.9 million, and a
provision for obsolete inventories of $0.2 million.

During the year ended March 31, 2013, net cash imseperating activities was $5.0 million, consistiprimarily of a net loss of $4.8
million, a $4.0 million increase in inventory, a.80nillion increase in accounts receivable, a $8illon increase in other assets, a $0.2
million increase in due from affiliates and a $thlion credit for the net change in fair valuewsérrant liability. These uses of cash were
partially offset by a net $0.9 million increaseaiccounts payable and accrued expenses, an $0i@nniltrease in due to related parties, a
$1.7 million loss on wine assets, $0.7 million iloa@ance for obsolete inventory and depreciatiod amortization expense of $0.9 million.

Investing Activities.Net cash used in investing activities was $0.2iamilfor the year ended March 31, 2014, represerdtthd million
used in the acquisition of fixed and intangibleedsspartially offset by $0.06 million from a chanig restricted cash.

Net cash used in investing activities was $0.3iamlfor the year ended March 31, 2013, represerappyoximately $0.1 million used in
the acquisition of fixed and intangible assets approximately $0.1 million in payments under a awyent consideration agreement.

Financing activities.Net cash provided by financing activities for theayended March 31, 2014 was $6.5 million, comgjstif $4.3
million in net proceeds from the issuance of Comi8twck pursuant to the Distribution Agreement, $illion in proceeds from the exerc
of 2011 Warrants, $2.1 million from the issuanc&%f Convertible Notes, $1.25 million from issuané¢he Junior Loan, offset by the $4.5
million paid on the Keltic Facility, $0.5 milliongsd on the Bourbon Term Loan and $0.1 million paidthe foreign revolving credit facilities.

Net cash provided by financing activities for treay ended March 31, 2013 was $5.2 million représgi®2.6 million drawn on the
Keltic Facility, $2.5 million in proceeds from amvientory term loan and $0.1 million drawn on theefgn revolving credit facility.
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Obligations and commitments

Irish bank facilities. We have credit facilities with availability aggréigg approximately €0.4 million ($0.5 million) withn Irish bank,
including overdraft, customs and excise guaranty,arevolving credit facility. These facilitiesegpayable on demand, continue until
terminated by either party, are subject to annexdkexw and call for interest at the lender's AAL ®atinus 1.70%. We have deposited €0.4
million ($0.5 million) with the bank to secure tleelsorrowings.

We are in compliance in all material respects wh#h covenants of our Irish bank facilities as ofr&a31, 2014.
Keltic Facility. For a discussion of the Keltic Facility, please B&isting Financingn “Liquidity and Capital Resources” above.

Bourbon Term Loan.For a discussion of the Bourbon Term Loan, pleas&szisting Financingn “Liquidity and Capital Resources”
above.

Junior Loan AgreementFor a discussion of the Junior Loan Agreement,saesdExisting Financingn “Liquidity and Capital
Resources” above.

5% Convertible Subordinated NoteSor a discussion of the 5% Convertible Subordindtetks, please seRecent Events
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations” above.

Gosling-Castle Partners notéor a discussion of the Gosling-Castle Partners,mdease seexisting Financingn “Liquidity and
Capital Resources” above.

Currency Translation

The functional currencies for our foreign operasiane the Euro in Ireland and the British PounthnUnited Kingdom. With respect to
our consolidated financial statements, the traimsidtom the applicable foreign currencies to WD8llars is performed for balance sheet
accounts using exchange rates in effect at thenbalsheet date and for revenue and expense acemimgsa weighted average exchange rate
during the period. The resulting translation adjwestts are recorded as a component of other conmsigleencome.

Where in this annual report we refer to amountSuros or British Pounds, we have for your convecgeslso in certain cases provided a
conversion of those amounts to U.S. Dollars in preses. Where the numbers refer to a specifinbalgheet account date or financial
statement account period, we have used the exchiategthat was used to perform the conversionstimection with the applicable financial
statement. In all other instances, unless otheriniieated, the conversions have been made usegxthange rates as of March 31, 2014,
each as calculated from the Interbank exchange eateeported by Oanda.com. On March 31, 2014xtleange rate of the Euro and the
British Pound in exchange for U.S. Dollars was 810J.S.$1.37516 (equivalent to U.S.$1.00 = €0.72&0hd £1.00 = U.S.$1.66368
(equivalent to U.S.$1.00 = £0.60089).

These conversions should not be construed as epati®ns that the Euro and British Pound amouetisadly represent U.S. Dollar
amounts or could be converted into U.S. Dollathatrates indicated.

Impact of inflation

We believe that our results of operations are retenmlly impacted by moderate changes in thetiofliarate. Inflation and changing
prices did not have a material impact on our opematduring fiscal 2014 or 2013. Severe increaséasfiation, however, could affect the
global and U.S. economies and could have an adirapsgct on our business, financial condition arslilts of operations.
Recent accounting pronouncements

We discuss recently issued and adopted accourtangards in the “Accounting standards adopted”&wetent accounting

pronouncements” sections of note 1 of the “NoteSdasolidated Financial Statements” in the accomipgnconsolidated financial
statements.
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Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statemens

This annual report includes certain “forward-loakistatements” within the meaning of the Privateusiées Litigation Reform Act of
1995. These statements, which involve risks an@ainties, relate to the discussion of our busirstisategies and our expectations
concerning future operations, margins, profitapilitquidity and capital resources and to analys®s other information that are based on

forecasts of future results and estimates of ansonwit yet determinable. We use words such as “nayll}, “should”, “expects”, “intends”,
“plans”, “anticipates”, “believes”, “estimates”,égks”, “expects”, “predicts”, “could”, “projects”potential” and similar terms and phrases,
including references to assumptions, in this refwidentify forward-looking statements. These farddooking statements are made base
expectations and beliefs concerning future eveifdésting us and are subject to uncertainties, rasks factors relating to our operations and
business environments, all of which are difficolpredict and many of which are beyond our conthalt could cause our actual results to
differ materially from those matters expressechplied by these forward-looking statements. Thédesrand other factors include those

listed under “Risk Factors” and as follows:

« our history of losses

« recent worldwide and domestic economic trends arahtial market conditions could adversely impagatfinancial
performance

« our potential need for additional capital, whidmat available on acceptable terms or at all, doaktrict our future growth
and severely limit our operatior

« our brands could fail to achieve more widespreatsumer acceptance, which may limit our growth;

« our dependence on a limited number of supplier® mhy not perform satisfactorily or may end thelationships with us,
which could result in lost sales, incurrence ofiddal costs or lost credibility in the marketpbg

« our annual purchase obligations with certain sepgli

« the failure of even a few of our independent whalleslistributors to adequately distribute our pidwvithin their territorie
could harm our sales and result in a decline inresults of operation:

« the possibility that we cannot secure and mairtsiimgs in control states, which could cause #lesof our products to
decrease significantl

« the potential limitation to our growth if we arealble to identify and successfully acquire additldrands that are
complementary to our existing portfolio, or intelgrauch brands after acquisitio

« currency exchange rate fluctuations and devalustioay significantly adversely affect our revensades, costs of goods
and overall financial result

« our need to maintain a relatively large inventofpar products to support customer delivery requigats, which could
negatively impact our operations if such inventisriost due to theft, fire or other dama

« the possibility that we or our strategic partneil$ fail to protect our respective trademarks aratie secrets, which could
compromise our competitive position and decreaseséttue of our brand portfoli

« an impairment in the carrying value of our goodwillother acquired intangible assets could negstafect our operating
results and sharehold’ equity;

« changes in consumer preferences and trends cowdilsady affect demand for our products;

« there is substantial competition in our industrg #me many factors that may prevent us from competuiccessfully;

« adverse changes in public opinion about alcoholdcreduce demand for our products;

« class action or other litigation relating to alcbhisuse or abuse could adversely affect our bgsine

« adverse regulatory decisions and legal, regulaioitgx changes could limit our business activitiesrease our operating
costs and reduce our margil

We assume no obligation to publicly update or retieese forward-looking statements for any reagptg update the reasons actual results
could differ materially from those anticipated am,implied by, these forward-looking statementsreif new information becomes available
in the future.
ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures @&out Market Risk

As a smaller reporting company, we are not requingatovide the information required by this Item.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Index to Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public AccourfEing

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 20d2@h3

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeded March 31, 2014 and 2C
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loshiéoyears ended March 31, 2014 and 2
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity etars ended March 31, 2014 and 2
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yerailed March 31, 2014 and 2C

Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Shareholders
Castle Brands Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Castle Brands Inc. and subsidiahies'@ompany”) as of March 31, 2014
and 2013, and the related consolidated stateménfseoations, comprehensive loss, changes in sblgets’ equity and cash flows for eact
the years in the two-year period ended March 31420These financial statements are the respoitgibflthe Company's management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on thesarftial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBigUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &andbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. The Company is not required to hawewere we engaged to perform, an audit of tisrival control over financial

reporting. Our audits included consideration &¢inal control over financial reporting as a bédsisdesigning audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for tinppse of expressing an opinion on the effectiveioéshe Company's internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express nafswpinion. An audit includes examining, on a tegstis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. Aditalso includes assessing the accounting priesipked and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall fishistatement presentation. We believe that adita provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referedlbove present fairly, in all material respedts,¢onsolidated financial position of the
Company as of March 31, 2014 and 2013, and theotidaged results of its operations and its castvglfor each of the years in the two-year
period ended March 31, 2014, in conformity with@agting principles generally accepted in the Uniéaltes of America.

/sl EisnerAmper LLP

New York, New York
June 27, 2014
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CASTLE BRANDS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets

ASSETS
Current Asset
Cash and cash equivalel
Accounts receivable — net of allowance for doub#fttounts of $204,418 and $70,692,
respectively
Due from shareholders and affiliat
Inventories— net of allowance for obsolete and sfeewing inventory of $266,473 and
$461,660, respective
Deferred tax asse
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total Current Assets
Equipmeni— net

Investment in no-consolidated affiliate, at equi

Intangible asset— net of accumulated amortization of $6,058,005 amd@4,000, respective
Goodwill

Restricted cas

Other assets

Total Assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Foreign revolving credit facilit
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Due to shareholders and affiliates

Total Current Liabilities

Long-Term Liabilities
Keltic facility
Bourbon term loan (including $484,375 and $600,00@lated-party participation at March 3:
2014 and 2013, respective
Notes payabl- Junior loan (including $300,000 of related partyticgpation at March 31, 201+
Notes payable — 5% Convertible notes (includind 8@,000 of related party participation at
March 31, 2014
Notes payabl— GCP Note
Warrant liability
Deferred tax liability

Total Liabilities

Commitments and Contingencies (Note

Equity
Preferred stock, $.01 par value, 25,000,000 start®rized, 0 and 6,701 shares of series A
convertible preferred stock issued and outstandiridarch 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively
(liguidation value of $0 and $7,876,530 at March 3114 and 2013, respective
Common stock, $.01 par value, 300,000,000 and PRF)00 shares authorized at March 31,
2014 and 2013, respectively, 151,841,133 and ¥33)84 shares issued and outstanding at
March 31, 2014 and 2013, respectiv
Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated defici
Accumulated other comprehensive loss

March 31, March 31,

2014 2013
908,50: $ 439,32:
8,858,14! 7,025,35!
115,28¢ 303,22¢
14,650,02 13,731,96
473,33( —
1,575,94 983,83
26,581,24 22,483,70
568,39! 516,64:
— 116,70(
8,178,88! 8,805,91.
496,22¢ 490,28t
416,56 451 ,34¢
280,19! 252,50¢
36,521,511 $ 33,117,09
20,20F $ 89,407
4,483,76: 5,301,52.
1,073,18: 793,24
1,936,24. 2,351,95
7,513,39: 8,536,13:
1,953,03 6,501,32
2,015,00I 2,496,00I
1,250,00! —
2,125,00I —
211,58( 211,58(
— 795,37-
1,518,30 1,666,45!
16,586,31 20,206,86
— 67,01:
1,518,41. 1,087,73
157,485,96 142,661,54
(139,561,96) (130,270,62)
(1,724,91)) (1,918,09,)




Total controlling shareholders’ equity 17,717,49 11,627,56

Noncontrolling interests 2,217,701 1,282,66!
Total equity 19,935,19 12,910,23
Total Liabilities and Equity $ 36,521,51 $ 33,117,09

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteiements.
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CASTLE BRANDS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Operations

Sales, net
Cost of sales’
Provision for obsolete inventory

Gross profit
Selling expens
General and administrative expel

Depreciation and amortizatic
Loss on wine assets

Loss from operations

Loss from equity investment in n-consolidated affiliat
Foreign exchange lot

Interest expense, n

Net change in fair value of warrant liabili

Income tax benefit, net

Net loss
Net income attributable to noncontrolling intere

Net loss attributable to controlling intere
Dividend to preferred shareholders

Net loss attributable to common shareholc
Net loss per common share, basic and dilutedbatable to common sharehold:

Weighted average shares used in computation, badidliluted, attributable to common
shareholders

Years ended March 31,

2014 2013
48,140,48 $ 41,442,99
30,336,66 26,438,23

200,00( 684,83
17,603,81 14,319,92
12,529,68 11,265,10

5,533,71. 4,820,84!
860,25¢ 920,30!
— 1,715,72
(1,319,83) (4,402,061
(502,51%) (22,549
(284,96:) (247,43))
(1,062,21) (587,30%)
(5,392,59) 302,73

590,41+ 118,34

(7,971,71) (4,838,26))
(935,03 (610,49:)
(8,906,74) (5,448,75)
(384,599 (744,46%)
(9,291,34) $ (6,193,22)
(0.09 $ (0.06)
116,511,44 108,508,65

*Sales, net and Cost of sales include excise tak$6,420,730 and $5,964,374 for the years endedMal, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finksteitements.
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Net loss

Other comprehensive income (los

CASTLE BRANDS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

Years Ended March 31,

2014 2013

Foreign currency translation adjustment

Total other comprehensive income (loss):

Comprehensive (loss):

$ (7.971,71) $ (4,838,26)
193,17¢ (116,439)
193,17¢ (116,439)
$ (7,778,53) $ (4,954,70)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteiements.
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BALANCE, MARCH 31, 2012

Net (loss) incomi

Foreign currency translatic

adjustmen

Conversion of series A preferred st
and accrued dividenc

Accrued dividend- series A
convertible preferred stoc

Stocl-based compensatic

BALANCE, MARCH 31, 2013

Net (loss) incomi

Foreign currency translatic

adjustmen

Issuance of common stock, net
issuance cos!

Conversion of series A preferred st
and accrued dividenc

Exercise of common stock warrai

Exercise of common stock optio

Accrued dividend- series A
convertible preferred stoc

Reclassification of liability to equi-
warrant

Stocl-based compensatic

BALANCE, MARCH 31, 2014

CASTLE BRANDS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

Accumulated

Additional Other

Preferred Stock Common Stock Paid-in Accumulated ~ Comprehensive  Noncontrolling Total

Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit (Loss) Income Interests Equity
6,897 $ 68,96¢ 108,052,06 $ 1,080,521 $141,639,22 $(124,076,60) $ (1,801,65) $ 672,17 $ 17,582,62
(5,448,75) 610,49: (4,838,26))
(116,43 (116,439
(19€) (1,957) 720,96° 7,21( (4,46¢) (790 —
744,46¢ (744,46%) —
282,31 282,31«
6,701 $ 67,010 108,773,03 $ 1,087,731 $142,661,54 $(130,270,62) $  (1,918,09) $ 1,282,660 $ 12,910,23
(8,906,74) 935,03! (7,971,71)
193,17¢ 193,17¢
5,394,60: 53,94¢ 4,293,35! 4,347,30:
(6,707 (67,019 27,465,61 274,65t (207,64 —
10,127,12 101,27: 3,747,06 3,848,33:
80,75¢ 80¢ 25,16¢ 25,97¢
384,59¢ (384,599 —
6,187,96: 6,187,96!
393,91 393,91
— $ = 151,841,13 $ 151841 $157,48596 $(139,561,96) $ (1,724,91) $ 2,217,700 $ 19,935,19

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finksteitements.
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CASTLE BRANDS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Depreciation and amortizatic
Loss on disposition of wine ass!
Provision for doubtful accoun
Amortization of deferred financing cos
Change in fair value of warrant liabili
Income tax benefit, n
Loss from equity investment in n-consolidated affiliat
Effect of changes in foreign exchar
Stocl-based compensation expel
Provision for obsolete inventoris
Changes in operations, assets and liabili
Accounts receivabl
Due from affiliates
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and supp
Other asset
Accounts payable and accrued expel
Accrued interes
Due to related parties

Total adjustments
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of equipme

Acquisition of intangible asse

Change in restricted ca

Payments under contingent consideration agreements

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Net (payments on) proceeds from Keltic faci

(Payments on) proceeds from Bourbon term

Proceeds from Junior loz

Proceeds from 5% Convertible no

Net (payments on) proceeds from foreign revolviregi facility
Proceeds from issuance of common st

Payments for costs of stock issua

Proceeds from exercise of common stock warr

Proceeds from exercise of common stock options

NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES

EFFECTS OF FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT S
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS — BEGINNING

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS — ENDING

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES:
Schedule of nc-cash investing and financing activiti
Conversion of series A preferred stock to commonle

Years ended March 31,

2014 2013
$ (7.971,71) $ (4,838,26)
860,25« 920,30!
— 1,715,72:
133,72 86,86¢
161,17¢ 96,55¢
5,392,59. (302,739
(590,419 (118,349
502,51¢ 22,54
284,96 247,43:
393,91« 282,31«
200,00 684,83
(1,959,59) (861,33()
(193,68() (180,58¢)
(1,246,55) (4,028,58)
(591,189) (200,40Y)
(188,86 (152,06))
(597,12) 880,01
6,37¢ (8,400)
(416,069) 767,68
2,152,03! (148,16Y)
(5,819,67) (4,986,43)
(234,69) (93,869
(26,98() (53,569)
60,13 (730)
(5,940 (145,80)
(207,470) (293,96))
(4,548,28) 2,651,49
(481,00) 2,496,001
1,250,001 —
2,125,001 —
(73,79) 89,86¢
4,531,64: —
(184,34)) —
3,848,33; —
25,97 —
6,493,52! 5,237,35!
2,79¢ (2,007)
469,17¢ (45,039
439,32: 484,36:
$ 908,50: $ 439,32:
$ 834953 $ 219,17



Issuance of warrant liability in connection wittriss A convertible preferred sto $ — 3 794,45

Interest paic $ 867,78. $ 442,20«
Income taxes pai $ 14,84¢ $ 25,00(

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteiements.
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CASTLE BRANDS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTE 1 — ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT AC COUNTING POLICIES

A. Description of business- The consolidated financial statements includeatteounts of Castle Brands Inc.(the “Company”), its
wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries, Castle BrandfSA) Corp. (“CB-USA”) and McLain & Kyne, Ltd. (“Mchin & Kyne”), the
Company'’s wholly-owned foreign subsidiaries, CaBtlands Spirits Group Limited (“CB-IRL") and Casigands Spirits Marketing
and Sales Company Limited, and the Company’s 6@Wtecship interest in Gosling-Castle Partners, (f8CP"), with adjustments
for income or loss allocated based upon percerahgenership. The accounts of the subsidiaries ten included as of the date
acquisition. All significant intercompany transacts and balances have been eliming

B. Organization and operatiors The Company is principally engaged in the impiiota marketing and sale of premium and super
premium brands of rums, whiskey, liqueurs, vodka #mguila in the United States, Canada, Europefaial

C. Brands— Rum— Gosling’s rums, a family of premium rums with @32year history, including the award-winning GoglsBlack
Seal rum, for which the Company is, through itsakpenture GCP, the exclusive marketer outsidBermuda, and Gosling’s
Stormy Ginger Beer, an essential -alcoholic ingredient in Goslir's trademarked Dar'n Storm® rum cocktail.

Whiskey— three premium small batch bourbons: Jeffersalgfferson’s Reserve and Jefferson’s Presidentlat§deffersors Rye
an aged rye whiskey; the Clontarf Irish whiskeyfraily of premium Irish whiskeys, available in gla malt and classic pure grain
versions; Knappogue Castle Whiskey, a vintage-datechium single-malt Irish whiskey; and Knappogwsi® 1951, a pure pstil
whiskey that has been aged for 36 years.

Ligueurs— Brady’s Irish Cream, a premium Irish cream liqueTastello Mio, a super premium Sambuca, Celtioéyo a premium
Irish liqueur; pursuant to an exclusive U.S. margarrangement, Pallini Limoncello, Raspicello &wehchcello premium Italian
liqueurs; and pursuant to a U.S. distribution agreet, Gozio amaretto, a premium lItalian liqueur.

Vodka— Boru vodka, an ultra-pure, five-times distillenidaspecially filtered premium vodka. Boru is proddén Ireland.

Tequila— a USDA certified organic, super-premium tequilaquila Tierras Autenticas de Jalisco or Tierrdse Tompany is the
exclusive U.S. importer and marketer of Tierrasiclvtis available as blanco, reposado and afiejo.

D. Cash and cash equivalentsThe Company considers all highly liquid instrurtsewith a maturity at date of acquisition of three
months or less to be cash equivale

E. Equity investmentsEquity investments are carried at original cafjtisted for the Company’s proportionate share efitivestees’
income, losses and distributions. The Company assdbe carrying value of its equity investmentemvan indicator of a loss in
value is present and records a loss in value ofitresstment when the assessment indicates thahan-hantemporary decline in tr
investment exists. The Company classifies its geearnings of non-consolidated affiliate equityéstment as a component of net
income or loss

F. _Trade accounts receivable The Company records trade accounts receivaliletatalizable value. This value includes an
appropriate allowance for estimated uncollectildeoants to reflect anticipated losses on the teadeunts receivable balances. The
Company calculates this allowance based on itsryistf write-offs, level of past due accounts basedaontractual terms of the
receivables and its relationships with and econatatus of its customer

G. Revenue recognitioh Revenue from product sales is recognized whepitbeuct is shipped to a customer (generally ailigbr),
titte and risk of loss has passed to the customaccordance with the terms of sale (FOB shippiigtmr FOB destination), and
collection is reasonably assured. Revenue is mogrézed on shipments to control states in theddin8tates until such time as
product is sold through to the retail chani

H. Inventories— Inventories are comprised of distilled spiritajkowine, dry good raw materials (bottles, labelsrks and caps),
packaging and finished goods, and are valued dower of cost or market, using the weighted avereast method. The Company
assesses the valuation of its inventories and el carrying value of those inventories thabhisolete or in excess of the
Company'’s forecasted usage to their estimatedeadivable value. The Company estimates the nazaddéd value of such
inventories based on analyses and assumptionglinglubut not limited to, historical usage, expddigure demand and market
requirements. A change to the carrying value oéimwries is recorded in cost of goods sold. See Nt
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During the years ended March 31, 2014 and 2013Ctmpany recorded allowances for obsolete and siowing inventory of
$200,000 and $684,830, respectively. The Compargrded these allowances on both raw materialsiaighéd goods, primarily in
connection with the disposition of wine brandsgladind packaging changes made to certain brandgglhas wine spoilage and
certain cost variances. The charges have beendegtas increases to Cost of Sales in the respgaars.

Equipment— Equipment consists of office equipment, compugerd software and furniture and fixtures. When tasaee retired or
otherwise disposed of, the cost and related degieniis removed from the accounts, and any regufiain or loss is recognized in
the statement of operations. Equipment is deprgtiasing the straight-line method over the estichaseful lives of the assets
ranging from three to five yeai

Goodwill and other intangible assetsGoodwill represents the excess of purchase prdading related costs over the value
assigned to the net tangible and identifiable igiiale assets of businesses acquired. Goodwill &mer @dentifiable intangible assets
with indefinite lives are not amortized, but instese tested for impairment annually, or more feggly if circumstances indicate a
possible impairment may exist. Intangible asseth estimable useful lives are amortized over thespective estimated useful lives,
generally on a straight-line basis, and are reviefge impairment whenever events or changes irunistances indicate that the
carrying value may not be recoveral

Under Financial Accounting Standards Board (SB&) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 35Mtangibles -Goodwill anc
Other”, impairment of goodwill must be tested atseannually by comparing the fair values of theliapble reporting units with the
carrying amount of their net assets, including gatidThe required two-step approach uses accogrjtidgments and estimates of
future operating results. Changes in estimateleapplication of alternative assumptions couldipog significantly different
results. The estimates that most significantlycffhe fair value calculation are related to rexeegtowth, cost of sales, selling and
marketing expenses and discount rates. Impairnestihg is done at the reporting level. If the ciemgyamount of the reporting unit’s
net assets exceeds the unit’s fair value, an imyait loss is recognized in an amount equal to xbess of the carrying amount of
goodwill over its implied fair value. The impliedif value of goodwill is determined in the same m&mas the amount of goodwiill
recognized in a business combination with thevfalue of the reporting unit deemed to be the pwelmice paid. Rights,
trademarks, trade names and formulations are mitkefived intangible assets not subject to amatiim and are tested for
impairment at least annually. The impairment tesisists of a comparison of the fair value of theeigroup allocated to each
reporting unit with its allocated carrying amount.

The fair value of each reporting unit was determiaeMarch 31, 2014 and 2013 by weighting a contlinaf the present value of
the Company'’s discounted anticipated future opegatash flows and values based on market multgflesvenue and earnings
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortingtiEBITDA”) of comparable companies. Other thae tvrite-downs of intangible
and goodwill related to the wine brands discuseedate 7, the Company did not record any impairnoeengoodwill or other
intangible assets for the years ended March 314 208 2013.

Impairment and disposal of lofiged assets— Under ASC 310, “Accounting for the Impairment@isposal of Long-lived Assets”,
the Company periodically reviews whether change lwecurred that would require revisions to theyiag amounts of its definite
lived, long-lived assets. When the sum of the etqubtuture cash flows is less than the carrying@mof the asset, an impairment
loss is recognized based on the fair value of fseta The Company did not record an impairmenbog-lived assets for the years
ended March 31, 2014 and 20.

In March 2013, the Company determined to rediiscgales and marketing efforts on its wine bramdsch do not provide a material
contribution to the Company’s results of operatidifse Company made this decision to optimize i®ueces and focus on its faster
growing and more profitable spirits brands, antettuce the levels of working capital required tanmtan necessary inventory levels
of bulk wine and finished goods. The Company ingetadcontinue selling existing finished goods wimeentory through its current
sales channels, but is actively seeking buyertafge lots and for its bulk wine. In connectiontwihis decision, the Company
recognized a loss of $1,715,728, consisting of §88 on the write-down of net intangible assets$8@B,572 in goodwill, as well
as $326,869 charged to the provision for obsofeteritory to adjust both bulk wine and finished gotmlestimated net realizable
value, for the year ended March 31, 2C
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Shipping and handling- The Company reflects as inventory costs freighasnid related external handling charges relatingeo
purchase of raw materials and finished goods. Thests are charged to cost of sales at the timartterlying product is sold. The
Company also incurs shipping costs in connectidh s various marketing activities, including tst@pment of point of sale
materials to the Company’s regional sales managaisustomers, and the costs of shipping produmrimection with its various
marketing programs and promotions. These shippirgges are included in selling expense and we&791881 and $1,171,290 for
the years ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, resphct

. Excise taxes and duty Excise taxes and duty are computed at standarsl bateed on alcohol proof per gallon/liter and aie pftel
finished goods are imported into the United Statesthen transferred out of “bond.” Excise taxes dutty are recorded to inventory
as a component of the cost of the underlying fimisgoods. When the underlying products are soldvanehouse”, the sales price
reflects the taxes paid and the inventoried exeises and duties are charged to cost of s

Distributor charges and promotional goedsThe Company incurs charges from its distribuforsa variety of transactions and
services rendered by the distributor, includingdoict depletions, product samples for various prasnal purposes, in-store tastings
and training where legal, and local advertising reHegal. Such charges are reflected as sellingresepas incurred. Also, the
Company has entered into arrangements with ceofdts distributors whereby the purchase of a patdr product or products by a
distributor is accompanied by a percentage of #he lseing composed of promotional goods or as @depeemined discount
percentage of dollars off invoice. In such cades,cost of the promotional goods is charged to @bsales and dollars off invoice ¢
a reduction to revenu

. Foreign currency- The functional currency for the Company’s fore@perations is the Euro in Ireland and the Brifglund in the
United Kingdom. Under ASC 830, “Foreign Currencyties”, the translation from the applicable fore@mnrencies to U.S. Dollars
is performed for balance sheet accounts using egeheates in effect at the balance sheet dateand¥enue and expense accounts
using a weighted average exchange rate duringatiedp The resulting translation adjustments acenged as a component of other
comprehensive income. Gains or losses resulting fayeign currency transactions are shown as aatpkne item in the

consolidated statements of operatic

Fair value of financial instruments ASC 825, “Financial Instruments”, defines the falue of a financial instrument as the amount
at which the instrument could be exchanged in eeotitransaction between willing parties and rezgitisclosure of the fair value of
certain financial instruments. The Company belighas there is no material difference between #ievialue and the reported
amounts of financial instruments in the Companygkhbce sheets due to the short term maturity aktliestruments, or with respect
to the Compar’s debt, as compared to the current borrowing iatagable to the Compan

The Company’s investments are reported awflire in accordance with authoritative guidanceictvlaccomplishes the following
key objectives
- Defines fair value as the price that would éeeived to sell an asset or paid to transfer ditian an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement
- Establishes a thr-level hierarchy“valuation hierarct”) for fair value measurement
- Requires consideration of the Comp’s creditworthiness when valuing liabilities; &
- Expands disclosures about instruments measuredr aifue.

The valuation hierarchy is based upon the frarency of inputs to the valuation of an asseiadillty as of the measurement date. A
financial instrument’s categorization within thduetion hierarchy is based upon the lowest levehpiit that is significant to the fair
value measurement. The three levels of the valudtierarchy are as follow
- Level 1 —inputs to the valuation methodologg quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical asselsbilities in active
markets
- Level 2 —inputs to the valuation methodologglude quoted prices for similar assets and litddiin active markets, and
inputs that are directly or indirectly observalie the asset or liability for substantially thel fidrm of the financial
instrument.
- Level 3— inputs to the valuation methodology are unobseerahld significant to the fair value measurem

Income taxes— Under ASC 740, “Income Taxes”, deferred tax asaatl liabilities are recognized for the future cansequences
attributable to differences between the finandialesnent carrying amounts of existing assets afuities and their respective tax
basis. A valuation allowance is provided to theeaki deferred tax asset is not considered reclolee

The Company has adopted the provisions of A&Cand has recognized no adjustment for unceraiprovisions. The Company
recognizes interest and penalties related to uasicetdx positions in general and administrativeesge; however, no such provisions
for accrued interest and penalties related to daicetax positions have been recorded as of Matgl2G14.

Research and development cest3he costs of research, development and productowepnent are charged to expense as inc
and are included in selling expen
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. Advertising— Advertising costs are expensed when the advertfgisigappears in its respective medium. Advertisixpense, whic
is included in selling expense, was $2,052,819%#12,774 for the years ended March 31, 2014 aa8,2espectively

. Use of estimates- The preparation of financial statements in comiity with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Pripleis
(“GAAP”) requires management to make estimatesamsdimptions that affect the reported amounts etassd liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitiehatdate of the financial statements, and the ted@mounts of revenues and expe
during the reporting period. Actual results couilifledd from those estimates. Estimates include teanting for items such as
evaluating annual impairment tests, derivativerimaents and equity issuances, warrant valuatiogkdbased compensation,
allowances for doubtful accounts and inventory ¢tdsmence, depreciation, amortization and expenseials.

. Uncertainties— The Company depends on a limited number of thady suppliers for the sourcing of all of its puatk, including

both its own proprietary brands and those it disties for others. The Company does not have lomgeitten agreements with all
of its suppliers. Also, if the Company fails to qalete purchases of products ordered annually,ioesteppliers have the right to bil
for product not purchased during the period. Sepglfailure to perform satisfactorily or handle incredorders, delays in shipme
of products from international suppliers or theslo$ existing suppliers, especially key suppliemsjld have material adverse effects
on the Company’s operating results. The inabibityniaintain, renew on acceptable terms or find blgtalternatives to the
Compan’s contracts with suppliers could have a materiaeesk effect on its operating resu

. Recent accounting pronouncement$On April 10, 2014, the FASB issued final guidatcehange the criteria for reporting

discontinued operations while enhancing disclosuréisis area (Accounting Standards Update (“ASNY). 201408). Under the ne
guidance, only disposals representing a stratduii; such as a major line of business, a majoggaehical area or a major equity
investment, should be presented as discontinuediipes. The guidance will be applied prospectivelyew disposals and new
classifications of disposal groups as held for aftler the effective date. The guidance is effector annual financial statements with
fiscal years beginning on or after December 15420ith early adoption permitted for disposals @ssifications as held for sale
which have not been reported in financial statespndviously issued or available for issuance. Chmpany will adopt the guidan
effective April 1, 2015 and the adoption of thisdance is not expected to have a material impat¢cherCompany’s results of
operations, cash flows or financial conditi

On March 13, 2014, the Emerging Issues Task Fahee"Task Force”) reached a final consensus to dntie® accounting guidance
for stock compensation tied to performance tarfletsie No. 13-D). The objective of this guidancwislarify the accounting
treatment of certain types of performance cond#tionstock-based compensation awards, more spadbifiavhen performance
targets can be achieved after the requisite sepgded. The Task Force concluded that performaniteria subsequent to a service
period vesting requirement should be treated atingesonditions, and as a result, this type of enfance condition may delay
expense recognition until achievement of the perforce target is probable. Issue No. 13-D will Beatiive for all entities for
reporting periods (including interim periods) beging after December 15, 2015, and early adoptigreisnitted. The adoption of this
guidance is not expected have a material impath®@ompan’s results of operations, cash flows or financialdition.

. Accounting standards adoptedin July 2012, the FASB issued ASU 2012-02, “Ingfiltes—Goodwill and Other (Topic 350):
Testing Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets for Inipaent.” The amended guidance simplifies how eggitest indefinite-lived
intangible assets other than goodwill for impairtdtiter an assessment of certain qualitative fetid it is determined to be more
likely than not that an indefinite-lived assetrigoiaired, entities must perform the quantitativeampent test. ~ Otherwise, the
guantitative test is optional. ~ This new guickwwas effective for the Company as of April 1, 20The adoption of this standard
did not have a material impact on the Comy's results of operations, cash flows or financialdition.

In October 2012, the FASB issued ASU 2012-04, “hécdl Corrections and Improvements.” The amendmientsis update cover a
wide range of topics in the ASC. These amendmaeawtsde technical corrections and improvements @odA8C and conforming
amendments related to fair value measurements.nBlasguidance was effective for the Company asmflA, 2013. The adoption
of this standard did not have a material impacthenCompan’s results of operations, cash flows or financialdition.

In January 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-01, ‘ijliag the Scope of Disclosures about Offsettingéts and Liabilities”. This
update is intended to improve the comparabilitgtatements of financial position prepared in acaocg with U.S. GAAP and
International Financial Reporting Standards, reggiboth gross and net presentation of offsettgggts and liabilities. The new
requirements are effective for fiscal years begigron or after January 1, 2013, and for interinmiqaisr within those fiscal years. As
this guidance only affects disclosures, the adapticthis standard did not have a material impacthe Company’s results of
operations, cash flows or financial conditi
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In February 2013, the FASB issued amendmerttset@accounting guidance for presentation of cotmgmsive income to improve the
reporting of reclassifications out of accumulatéiaeo comprehensive income. The amendments do maoigehthe current
requirements for reporting net income or other cahpnsive income, but do require an entity to mtewnformation about the
amounts reclassified out of accumulated other cehmasive income by component. In addition, anergitequired to present, eitl
on the face of the statement where the net incempesisented or in the notes, significant amoumisassified out of accumulated
other comprehensive income by the respective teras of net income but only if the amount reclésdifs required under GAAP to
be reclassified to net income in its entirety ia #ame reporting period. For other amounts thanetreequired under GAAP to be
reclassified in their entirety to net income, atitgns required to cross-reference to other disates required under GAAP that
provide additional detail about these amounts. Tkis guidance was effective for the Company asmflA, 2013. The adoption of
this standard did not have a material impact ortbpan’s results of operations, cash flows or financialdition.

In July 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-11, $ergation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a®{srating Loss
Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credir@forward Exists (a consensus of the FASB Emer¢gsues Task

Force)” ("ASU 2013-11"), which requires an entitygresent an unrecognized tax benefit as a reduofia deferred tax asset for a
net operating loss (NOL) carryforward, or similak toss or tax credit carryforward, rather tham diability when (1) the uncertain
tax position would reduce the NOL or other carryfard under the tax law of the applicable jurisdiotand (2) the entity intends to
use the deferred tax asset for that purpose. ASI13-2Q does not require new recurring disclosuress flew guidance was effective
for the Company as of April 1, 2013. The adoptiéthés standard did not have a material impactren@ompany’s results of
operations, cash flows or financial conditi

X. Reclassificatior— Certain prior year balances have been reclasdifiednform to the current year presentat

NOTE 2 — BASIC AND DILUTED NET LOSS PER COMMON SHAR E

Basic net loss per common share is computed bdidiyinet loss by the weighted average number ofheomshares outstanding during the
period. Diluted net loss per common share is cortpgtving effect to all potentially dilutive commahares that were outstanding during the
period that are not anti-dilutive. Potentially dii¢ common shares consist of incremental shasesiide upon exercise of stock options and
warrants or conversion of convertible preferredktoutstanding and related accrued dividends. impeding diluted net loss per share for the
years ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, no adjusthaasnibeen made to the weighted average outstandingnon shares as the assur
exercise of outstanding options and warrants aaé#sumed conversion of convertible preferred sdockrelated accrued dividends is anti-
dilutive.

Potential common shares not included in calculatihged net loss per share are as follows:

Years ended March 31

2014 2013
Stock options 11,174,00 8,120,76!
Warrants to purchase common sti 1,777,80. 11,874,08
Convertible preferred stock and accrued divide — 25,879,80
5% Convertible notes 2,361,111 —
Total 15,312,922 45,874,65
NOTE 3 — INVENTORIES

March 31,

2014 2013
Raw material— net $ 4502223 $ 5191,14
Finished goods — net 10,147,79 8,540,81!
Total $ 14,650,022 $ 13,731,96

As of March 31, 2014 and 2013, 19% and 19%, respdyt of raw materials and 5% and 4%, respectivefyfinished goods were located
outside of the United States.
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In March and October 2013, the Company acquired22000 and $780,000 of bulk bourbon whiskey, rethpely, in support of it
anticipated near and mid-term needs.

The Company estimates the allowance for obsoledesbrvv moving inventory based on analyses and gsoms including, but not limited
to, historical usage, expected future demand antieheequirements.

Inventories are stated at the lower of weightedaye cost or market.

NOTE 4 — EQUITY INVESTMENT

Investment in DP_Castle Partners, LLC

In August 2010, CB-USA formed DP Castle PartnetsC I("DPCP”) with Drink Pie, LLC to manage the maaafuring and marketing of
Travis Hasse Original Apple Pie Liqueur, Cherry Pie Liqueudany future line extensions of the brand. DPCH pgper case royalty fee
Drink Pie, LLC under a licensing agreement. CB-US#chased the finished product from DPCP FOB — &etidn and CB-USA bore the
risk of loss on both inventory and third-party rieedles. Revenues and cost of sales were recotdbdiarespective gross amounts on the
books and records of CB-USA. For the years endedtivial, 2014 and 2013, CB-USA purchased $170,88(867,280, respectively, in
finished goods from DPCP under the distributioreagnent. As of March 31, 2013, DPCP was indebt&BdJSA in the amount of
$268,598, which is included in due to shareholdexs affiliates on the accompanying condensed cutael balance sheet. At March 31,
2014, CB-USA owned 20 % of now inactive DPCP. CBALEso earned a defined rate of interest on it¢tabpontribution to DPCP, based
on its ownership in DPCP. For the years ended Maigt2014 and 2013, CB-USA earned $4,200 and $8ré8pectively, in interest income
on its capital contribution to DPCP. The Compangoanted for this investment under the equity metbfogiccounting. The investment
balance was $116,700 at March 31, 2013. In Dece®E3, CB-USA determined to cease marketing arlthgehese brands and returned
the remaining inventory to Drink Pie, LLC. In comtien with the discontinuation of marketing andesa¢fforts, the Company recognized a
loss of $502,518 from its investment in DPCP, idatg a $120,900 loss on investment and write off399,618 on the remaining receiva
balances due from DPCP.

NOTE 5 — ACQUISITIONS

Acquisition of McLain & Kyne

On October 12, 2006, the Company acquired all efdtitstanding capital stock of McLain & Kyne. Then@pany was required to pay
contingent consideration based on the case saliffefson’s Presidential Select bourbon for aifipdcamount of cases. As of June 30,
2013, the Company had reached the specified cés¢hsashold for contingent consideration underageement. Accordingly, no further
contingent consideration will be due. For the yearded March 31, 2014 and 2013, the sellers edB@®dl0 and $145,800, respectively,
under this agreement. The earn-out payments harereeorded as an increase to goodwill.

NOTE 6 — EQUIPMENT, NET

Equipment consists of the following:

March 31,
2014 2013
Equipment and softwal $ 2,317,311 $ 2,026,02
Furniture and fixtures 10,32¢ 10,32¢
2,327,63! 2,036,35:
Less: accumulated depreciation 1,759,241 1,519,71.
Balance $ 568,39 $ 516,64:

Depreciation expense for the years ended MarcR@®14 and 2013 totaled $204,180 and $187,539, régpkc
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NOTE 7 — GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

In March 2013, the Company determined to reducsaikss and marketing efforts on its wine brandschvtlo not provide a material
contribution to the Company’s results of operatidrtse Company made this decision to optimize i®ueces and focus on its faster growing
and more profitable spirits brands, and to redbedevels of working capital required to mainta@cassary inventory levels of bulk wine and
finished goods. The Company intends to continukngetxisting finished goods wine inventory througdhcurrent sales channels, but is
actively seeking buyers for large lots and fomitk wine. In connection with this decision, then@many recognized a loss of $1,715,728,
consisting of $817,156 on the write-down of neangible assets and $898,572 in goodwill, as wefi3#6,869 charged to the provision for
obsolete inventory to adjust both bulk wine andgsfied goods to estimated net realizable valughyear ended March 31, 2013.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwilltfa years ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 were lasvol

Amount
Balance as of March 31, 2012 $ 1,243,05!
Write-down of goodwill related to wine bran (898,579
Payments under McLain and Kyne agreen 145,80(
Balance as of March 31, 20 $ 490,28t
Payments under McLain and Kyne agreen 5,94(
Balance as of March 31, 2014 $ 496,22t
Intangible assets consist of the following:
March 31,

2014 2013
Definite life brands $ 170,00( $ 170,00(
Trademarks 535,94 535,94
Rights 8,271,55! 8,271,55!
Product developmel 96,95¢ 96,95¢
Patents 994,00( 994,00(
Other 55,46( 28,48(

10,123,92 10,096,94
Less: accumulated amortization 6,058,00! 5,404,001
Net 4,065,911 4,692,94.
Other identifiable intangible assets — indefiniteet* 4,112,97. 4,112,97.

$ 8178,88 $ 8,805,911

Accumulated amortization consists of the following:

March 31,
2014 2013
Definite life brands $ 170,00 $ 170,00(
Trademarks 262,09¢ 230,37¢
Rights 4,961,171 4,409,222
Product developmel 20,35( 16,28(
Patents 644,38° 578,12:
Other - -
Accumulated amortization $ 6,058,000 $ 5,404,001

* Other identifiable intangible assets — indefirliteed consists of product formulations.

Amortization expense for the years ended Marct2814 and 2013 totaled $654,005 and $732,783, régpkyc
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Estimated aggregate amortization expense for ekitte mext five fiscal years is as follows:

Years ending March 31, Amount

2015 $ 634,75’
2016 632,36!
2017 631,56:
2018 631,40!
2019 613,07:
Total $ 3,143,16.

NOTE 8 — RESTRICTED CASH

At March 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company had €3@2®2416,565 (translated at the March 31, 2014a&nge rate) and €352,255 or
$451,346 (translated at the March 31, 2013 excheatg, respectively, of cash restricted from witlvdal and held by a bank in Ireland as
collateral for overdraft coverage, creditors’ irmure, customs and excise guaranty and a revolvauitdacility as described in Note 9A

below.

NOTE 9 — NOTES PAYABLE AND CAPITAL LEASE

March 31,
2014 2013
Notes payable consist of the followir
Foreign revolving credit facilities (A $ 20,20 $ 89,401
Note payabl— GCP note(B 211,58( 211,58(
Keltic facility (C) 1,953,03 6,501,32.
Bourbon term loan (D 2,015,001 2,496,001
Junior loan (E 1,250,00! —
5% Convertible notes(F) 2,125,001 —

Total

$ 757482 $  9,298,30

A. The Company has arranged various facilitiggregating €302,714 or $416,280 (translated at thechi31, 2014 exchange rate) with

an Irish bank, including overdraft coverage, craditinsurance, customs and excise guaranty, aadaving credit facility. These
facilities are payable on demand, continue untihteated by either party, are subject to annuakseyand call for interest at the
lender’'s AA1 Rate minus 1.70 %. The balance orcthdit facilities included in notes payable tota#dd!,693, or $20,205 (translated
at the March 31, 2014 exchange rate), and €69016889,407, (translated at the March 31, 2013 exgbaate), at March 31, 2014
and 2013, respectivel

In December 2009, GCP issued a promissory (tliee"GCP Note”) in the aggregate principal amanf$211,580 to Gosling's
Export (Bermuda) Limited in exchange for creditsuisd on certain inventory purchases. The GCP Nateras on April 1, 2020, is
payable at maturity, subject to certain accelenagieents, and calls for annual interest of 5% g@tcrued and paid at maturity. At
March 31, 2014 and 2013, $10,579 of accrued intevas converted to amounts due to affiliates. AtéeB1, 2014 and 2013,
$211,580 of principal due on the GCP Note is inellith lon¢-term liabilities.

In August 2011, the Company and CB-USA entéradthe Keltic Facility (“Keltic Facility”), a reolving loan agreement with Keltic
Financial Partners Il, LP ("Keltic"), providing fawailability (subject to certain terms and corati) of a facility of up to $5,000,000
for the purpose of providing the Company and CB-U@th working capital. In July 2012, the Keltic Fisty was amended to
increase availability to $7,000,000, among othemgjes. In March 2013, the Keltic Facility was amezhtb increase availability to
$8,000,000, among other changes. In August 20&3Kéltic Facility was amended to modify the bormogibase calculation and
covenants with respect to the Keltic Facility ardmit the Company to make regularly scheduled pasnaf principal and interest
and voluntary prepayments on the Junior Loan (&aeatbbelow), subject to certain conditions setHan the amendment, to

modify certain aspects of the EBITDA covenant coed in the loan agreement, permit the Companpdariindebtedness in an
aggregate original principal amount of $2,125,008spant to the terms of the Note Purchase Agreear@hConvertible Notes (as
each term is defined below in Note 9F), and peth@tCompany to make regularly scheduled paymengtsindipal and interest and
voluntary prepayments on the Convertible Notesjemtitto certain conditions set forth in the amendimb November 2013, the
Keltic Facility was further amended, to, among otitngs, provide for the issuances of lettersrefli thereunde!

Paged7




The Company and CBSA are referred to individually and collectively the Borrower. The Keltic Facility expires on Dexteer 31
2016. The Borrower may borrow up to the maximum amf the Keltic Facility, provided that the Bower has a sufficient
borrowing base (as defined under the loan agregniem: Keltic Facility interest rate is the ratatthwhen annualized, is the greatest
of (a) the Prime Rate plus 3.25%, (b) the LIBOReRatis 5.75% and (c) 6.50%. For the year ended Mat¢ 2014, the Company
paid interest at 6.5%. Interest is payable morithlyrrears, on the first day of every month ondtierage daily unpaid principal
amount of the Keltic Facility. After the occurrenmed during the continuance of any "Default" or éavof Default" (as defined
under the loan agreement), the Borrower is requoezhy interest at a rate that is 3.25% per anabave the then applicable Keltic
Facility interest rate. There have been no EvehBedault under the Keltic Facility. The Companyigpa $40,000 commitment fee
connection with the first amendment, a $70,000icpand commitment fee in connection with the secamendment and a $25,000
closing and commitment fee in connection with thiedtamendment. Keltic also receives an annualifiaéée in an amount equal to
1% per annum of the maximum revolving facility amband a collateral management fee of $1,000 petim@ncreased to $2,000
after the occurrence of and during the continuari@ Event of Default). The loan agreement costabandard borrower
representations and warranties for asset-basedviiog and a number of reporting obligations andtrafitive and negative
covenants. The loan agreement includes negativenemys that, among other things, restrict the Begrts ability to create

additional indebtedness, dispose of propertiesiriiens and make distributions or cash dividedddMarch 31, 2014, the Company
was in compliance, in all material respects, whith tovenants under the Keltic Facility. At March 2014 and 2013, $1,953,037 and
$6,501,321, respectively, due on the Keltic Faciitincluded in long-term liabilities.

. In March 2013, the Company and CB-USA enténéalan inventory term loan of $2,496,000 (the "Bmn Term Loan") that was
used to purchase bourbon inventory on March 11320hless sooner terminated in accordance witteitss, the Bourbon Term
Loan matures on December 31, 2016. The Bourbon Tean interest rate is the rate that, when annedliis the greatest of (a) the
Prime Rate plus 4.25%, (b) the LIBOR Rate plus &#hd (c) 7.50%. For the year ended March 31, 2B®ACompany paid intere
of 7.5%. Interest is payable monthly in arrearsttenfirst day of every month on the average dailgaid principal amount of the
Bourbon Term Loan. After the occurrence and dutirggcontinuance of any "Default” or "Event of Ddfa(as defined under the
loan agreement), the Borrower is required to pssrast at a rate that is 3.25% per annum abovihémeapplicable Bourbon Term

Loan interest rate. The Borrower is required to gawn the principal balance of the Bourbon Termriwéthin 15 banking days

from the completion of a bottling run of bourboorr the bourbon inventory stock purchased on or eifeudate of the Bourbon
Term Loan in an amount equal to the purchase pfiseich bourbon. The unpaid principal balance efBourbon Term Loan, all
accrued and unpaid interest thereon, all feess @xl expenses payable in connection with the Bouflerm Loan are due and

payable in full on December 31, 20:

Keltic required as a condition to funding the Baumbrerm Loan that Keltic had entered into a pgyéiibn agreement (the
"Participation Agreement") providing for an initiaggregate of $750,000 of the Bourbon Term Lodretpurchased by junior
participants. Certain related parties of the Compgaurchased a portion of these junior participationthe Bourbon Term Loan,
including Frost Gamma Investments Trust ($500,080)ntity affiliated with Phillip Frost, M.D., ardctor and principal
shareholder of the Company, Mark E. Andrews, 18Q®00), a director of the Company and the Comma@¥iairman, and an
affiliate of Richard J. Lampen ($50,000), a direabthe Company and the Company’s President anef Executive Officer
(amounts shown are initial purchase amounts). Utideterms of the Participation Agreement, thequpiarticipants receive interest
at the rate of 11% per annum. Neither the CompanyCB-USA is a party to the Participation Agreemétawever, the Borrower is
party to a fee letter (the "Fee Letter") with theipr participants (including the related partyipurparticipants) pursuant to which t
Borrower is obligated to pay the junior participmah aggregate commitment fee of $45,000 in thyealeannual installments of
$15,000. In August 2013, the Bourbon Term Loan aragnded to provide the Company with the abilitintyease the maximum
aggregate principal amount of the Bourbon Term Livpam $2,500,000 to up to $4,000,000 to financepheehase of aged whiskies
following the identification of junior participants purchase a portion of the increased BourbomTeayan amount. The balance on
the Bourbon Term Loan included in notes payablalédt$2,015,000 and $2,496,000 at March 31, 2082843, respectively.

. In August 2013, the Company entered into anL&greement (the "Junior Loan Agreement"), by aatileen the Company and the
lending parties thereto (the "Junior Lenders"),chhprovides for an aggregate $1,250,000 unsecoeed(the "Junior Loan") to the
Company. The Junior Loan bears interest at a fat& &6 per annum, payable quarterly in arrears cengimg November 1, 2013,
and matures on October 15, 2015. The Junior Loanbaarepaid in whole or in part at any time withpeanalty or premium but
with payment of accrued interest to the date opgyenent. The Junior Loan Agreement contains custpmaents of default, which,
if uncured, entitle each Junior Lender to accetetla¢ due date of the unpaid principal amountrd, @l accrued and unpaid interest
on, the portion of the Junior Loan made by suchaiurender. The Junior Loan Agreement providesaféunding fee of 2% per
annum on the then outstanding Junior Loan balgmeeréted for any period of less than one yeayapke pro rata among the Junior
Lenders on the date of the Junior Loan Agreemedhioarthe first and second anniversaries thered.Jimior Lenders include Frost
Gamma Investments Trust ($200,000), Mark E. AndréW§$50,000) and an affiliate of Richard J. Laemp($50,000). In connection
with the Junior Loan Agreement, the Junior Lendertered into a subordination agreement with Keltie;Company is not a party to
the subordination agreement. At March 31, 20142%1,000 of principal due on the Junior Loan isuded in lon-term liabilities.
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F. In October 2013, the Company entered into &Caffvertible Subordinated Note Purchase Agreentkat'Note Purchase
Agreement"), by and among the Company and the pseB party thereto, which provided for the issaafan aggregate initial
principal amount of $2,125,000 unsecured subordihabtes (the "Convertible Notes") by the Compdaie Convertible Notes bear
interest at a rate of 5% per annum, payable quatieginning on December 15, 2013 until their midgudate of December 15, 2018.
The Convertible Notes and accrued but unpaid istéhereon are convertible in whole or in part friime to time at the option of tl
holders thereof into shares of the Company’s comstock at a conversion price of $0.90 per sham "(@onversion Price"). The
Convertible Notes may be prepaid in whole or irt paany time without penalty or premium, but willyment of accrued interest to
the date of prepayment. The Convertible Notes domtastomary events of default, which, if uncuredtitle each note holder to
accelerate the due date of the unpaid principaluatof, and all accrued and unpaid interest onCibwvertible Notes

The purchasers of the Convertible Notes includtagerelated parties of the Company, includingéfitiate of Dr. Phillip Frost
($500,000), Mark E. Andrews, Il ($50,000), an kdfie of Richard J. Lampen ($50,000), an affiliafeéGlenn Halpryn ($200,000), a
director of the Company, Dennis Scholl ($100,0@0jjrector of the Company, and Vector Group Lt@0@&000), a more than 5%
shareholder of the Company, of which Richard Lamipean executive officer and Henry Beinstein, &clior of the Company, is a
director.

The Company may forcibly convert all or any partted Convertible Notes and all accrued but unpaierést thereon if (i) the
average daily volume of the Company’s common sfaskreported on the principal market or exchangeuoh the common stock
is listed or quoted for trading) exceeds $50,000@eling day and (ii) the volume weighted averpgee of the common stock for at
least twenty (20) trading days during any thirt@)(8onsecutive trading day period exceeds 250%eofthten-current conversion
price. Any forced conversion will be applied ratatd the holders of all Convertible Notes issuedspant to the Note Purchase
Agreement based on each holder’s then-currenthaitings.

In connection with the Note Purchase Agreement) @acchaser of the Convertible Notes was requinezkecute a joinder to the
subordination agreement, by and among Keltic amiiceother junior lenders to the Company; the Canypis not a party to the
Subordination Agreement. At March 31, 2014, $2,0@6,0f principal due on the Convertible Notes uded in long-term
liabilities.

Payments due on notes payable are as follows:

Years ending March 31, Amount

2015 $ 20,20¢
2016 1,250,001
2017 3,968,03
2018 —
2019 2,125,001
Thereafter 211,58(
Total $ 7,574,82

NOTE 10 — EQUITY

Equity distribution agreementin November 2013, the Company entered into aritiE@istribution Agreement (the "Distribution
Agreement") with Barrington Research Associates, (fBarrington"), as sales agent, under whichGobenpany may issue and sell over time
and from time to time, to or through Barringtonasss (the "Shares") of its common stock havingoagsales price of up to $6.0 million.

Sales of the Shares pursuant to the Distributioreéigent, may be effected by any method permittelduwydeemed to be an "at-the-
market" offering as defined in Rule 415 of the S#ims Act of 1933, as amended, including withanotifation directly on the NYSE MKT
LLC or any other existing trading market for theranon stock or through a market maker, up to thetenhspecified, and otherwise to or
through Barrington in accordance with the placenmenices delivered by the Company to BarringtorsoAlwith the prior consent of the
Company, some or all of the Shares may be soldivately negotiated transactions. Under the Distiitn Agreement, Barrington will be
entitled to compensation of 2.0 % of the gross geds from the sale of all of the Shares sold tHid®@rrington, as sales agent, pursuant to
the Distribution Agreement. Also, the Company wéimburse Barrington for certain expenses incuimezbnnection with the matters
contemplated by the Distribution Agreement, upri@aggregate of $50,000, plus up to an additiond@®Yper calendar quarter related to
ongoing maintenance; provided, however, that saghbursement amount shall not exceed 8% of thecggdge gross proceeds received by
the Company under the Distribution Agreement.
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From November 2013 through March 31, 2014, the Gomsold 5,394,608 Shares pursuant to the Distobuigreement, with tot
gross proceeds of $4,531,643, before deducting sajent and offering expenses of $184,341.

Preferred stock issuanedn June 2011 the Company entered into agreemelating to a private placement (the “June 201 ¢ dRei
Placement”) of an aggregate of approximately $7,4@0 of newly-designated 10% Series A Convertilsifé?red Stock, par value $0.01 per
share (“Series A Preferred Stock”). As part of dnee 2011 Private Placement, the Company compéepenate offering to third-
party investors of $2,155,000 of Series A PrefeBaatk for its stated value of $1,000 per shareveardants (“2011 Warrants”) to purchase
50% of the number of shares of the Company’s comstack, issuable upon conversion of such SeriesefeRed Stock. Subject to
adjustment (including dilutive issuances), the &eA Preferred Stock was convertible into commouokstt a conversion price of $0.304 per
share and the 2011 Warrants had an exercise drig® 38 per share.

Holders of Series A Preferred Stock were entitteceteive cumulative dividends at the rate peresl@s a percentage of the stated value
per share) of 10% per annum, whether or not detlayehe Company’s Board of Directors, which wendéygayable in shares of the
Company’s common stock upon conversion of the S&i@referred Stock or upon a liquidation. Forykars ended March 31, 2014 and
2013, the Company recorded accrued dividends 04538 and $744,468, respectively, included as amrase in the accumulated deficit and
in additional paid-in capital on the accompanyingsolidated balance sheets.

If the Company sold or granted any option to pusehar any right to reprice, or otherwise disposeraésue (or announce any sale, grant
or option to purchase or other disposition), anpmemn stock or common stock equivalents entitling p@rson to acquire common stock a
effective price per share that was lower than lilea tconversion price of the Series A PreferrediStibe holders of the Series A Preferred
Stock and 2011 Warrants were entitled to an adjust@version price and additional shares of comstook upon exercise the 2011
Warrants. These warrants were subject to liabdldgounting. See Note 13B.

If the average daily volume of the Company's comistogk exceeded $100,000 per trading day and tthemvoWeighted Average
Price (as defined in the articles of designatiothefSeries A Preferred Stock) for at least 20imgadays during any 30 consecutive trading
day period exceeded $0.76 (subject to adjustmirg)Company could convert all or any portion of tlstanding Series A Preferred Stock
into shares of common stock. The Company’s comnmrksxceeded these thresholds, and on Februag01%, the Company’s Board of
Directors approved the mandatory conversion obaistanding shares of the Series A Preferred Stacsuant to their terms, effective on or
about February 24, 2014. Pursuant to the mandatoryersion, all 6,271 outstanding shares of SetiBseferred Stock, and accrued
dividends thereon, converted into 25,760,881 shafreemmon stock.

Preferred stock conversiondn the current year period prior to the Februbty 2014 mandatory conversion, holders of Series A
Preferred Stock converted 430 shares of SerieeefePed Stock, and accrued dividends thereon,lift04,729 shares of common stock.

In year ended March 31, 2013, holders of SeriesefePred Stock converted 195.132 shares of Seriegeferred Stock, and accrued
dividends thereon, into 720,967 shares of commackst

NOTE 11 — FOREIGN CURRENCY FORWARD CONTRACTS

The Company enters into forward contracts from timméme to reduce its exposure to foreign curreffiegtuations. The Company recognizes
in the balance sheet derivative contracts at faine;, and reflects any net gains and losses ciyrientarnings. At March 31, 2014 and 2013,
the Company had no forward contracts outstandimagn Gr loss on foreign currency forward contraatsich was de minimis during the
periods presented, is included in other incomeexpanse.

NOTE 12 — PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES

The Company accounts for taxes in accordance wa@ &40, “Income Taxes”, which requires the recagnibf tax benefits or expense on
the temporary differences between the tax basidan#l basis of its assets and liabilities. Defeteedassets and liabilities are measured t
the enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxabdene in the years in which those differenceseaqeected to be recovered or settled.

Tax years 2011 through 2014 remain open to exarnmay federal and state tax jurisdictions. The @any has various foreign subsidiaries
for which tax years 2007 through 2014 remain opegexamination in certain foreign tax jurisdictions.

The Company’s income tax benefit for the years dridarch 31, 2014 and 2013 consists of federale ¢tatl local taxes attributable to GCP,
which does not file a consolidated income tax retuith the Company, and foreign taxes. As of Ma&3&h2014, the Company had federal net
operating loss carryforwards of approximately $86,800 for U.S. tax purposes, which expire throR@84, and foreign net operating loss
carryforwards of approximately $19,800,000, whielrg forward without limit of time. Utilization athe U.S. tax losses may be limited by
the “change of ownership” rules as set forth irtisec382 of the Internal Revenue Code.
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The pre-tax income, on a financial statement b&sig) foreign sources totaled $168,233 for the yeated March 31, 2014 and the pre-tax
loss, on a financial statement basis, from foraigurces totaled $412,182 for the year ended MatcR(BL3.

The Company did not have any undistributed earnfirgga foreign subsidiaries at March 31, 2014 anii®0

The following table reconciles the income tax béraeid the federal statutory rate of 34%.
Years ended March 31

2014 2013
% %
Computed expected tax benefit, at 3 34.0( 34.0(
Increase in valuation allowan (28.5)) (31.5))
Net change in fair value of warrant liabili (20.59 1.8¢
Loss on wine asse — (20.77)
Effect of foreign rate differentiz (1.30 (2.9¢)
Taxes included in minority intere (3.57) (3.87)
Other 7.34 4.9%
State and local taxes, net of federal benefit 6.0C 6.0C
Income tax benefit (6.63) (2.17)

In connection with the investment in GCP, the Conypeecorded a deferred tax liability on the asdfilzelue of the acquired intangible assets
of $2,222,222, increasing the value of the asdet. deferred tax liability is being reversed over #mortization period of the intangible asset
(15 years). For each of the years ended March@®4 2nd 2013, the Company recognized $590,414 518, %49 of income tax benefit, net.

The tax effects of temporary differences that gise to deferred tax assets and deferred taxiliglsilare presented below.

March 31,
2014 2013
Deferred income tax asse
Foreign currency transactio $ 72,000 $ 103,00(
Accounts receivabl 5,00( 5,00(
Inventory 304,00( 280,00(
Stock based compensati 2,125,001 1,967,00!
Amortization of intangible: 206,00( 206,00(
Net operating loss carryforwar— U.S. 34,706,00 31,623,00
Net operating loss carryforwar— foreign 1,974,00! 1,957,00!
Other 2,00( 2,00(
Total gross asse 39,394,00 36,143,00
Less: Valuation allowance (38,921,00) (36,143,00)
Net deferred asset $ 473,000 $ _
Deferred income tax liability
Intangible assets acquired in acquisition of stibsjt $ (629,449 $ (629,44,
Intangible assets acquired in investment in GCP (888,86 (1,037,01)
Net deferred income tax liability $ (1,518,30) $ (1,666,45)
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Through March 31, 2013, the Company recorded avalllation allowance against its deferred tax asagit believed it was more likely than
not that such deferred tax assets would not b&eealThe Company released its deferred tax asdaation allowance allocated to GCP as of
March 31, 2014 due to management’s determinatianitiivas “more likely than not” that the GCP’s eled tax assets would be realized.
“More likely than not” is defined as greater tha@¥® probability of occurrence. Management considéinecyuidance in paragraphs 21-23 of
ASC 740-10-30 in forming its conclusion. A deteration as to the ultimate realization of the deféiax assets is dependent upon
management’s judgment and evaluation of both pesénd negative evidence, forecasts of future laxabome, applicable tax planning
strategies, and an assessment of current and ®toreomic and business conditions. In 2014, GCPimnvagosition of cumulative
profitability on a pre-tax basis, considering ifgecating results for the three years ended Mar¢l2@14. Management concluded that this
record of cumulative profitability in recent yeairs,addition to a long range forecast showing cargd profitability for GCP, provided
sufficient positive evidence that the net U.S. fatleax benefits more likely than not would be izadl. Accordingly, in the year ended March
31, 2014, the Company released the valuation aloeagainst GCP’s net federal deferred assetdtingsin a $473,330 benefit in provision
for income taxes for the year ended March 31, 2014ddition, at March 31, 2014, the Company chdriggeestimate of the cumulative
deferred tax asset allocated to the amortizatidntahgibles. The Company’s income tax benefit effielctive tax rate for the years ended
March 31, 2014 and 2013 reflect the impact of Hailsiation allowance reversal and change in estimate

The valuation allowance for deferred tax assetsf &arch 31, 2014 and 2013 was approximately $3B® and $36,143,000, respectively.
The net change in the total valuation allowanceteryears ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 was $200&nd $1,846,000, respectively.
The Company does not offset its deferred tax assetdiabilities because its deferred tax asseddiahilities are in different taxable entities
which do not file consolidated returns.

NOTE 13 — STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

A. Stock Incentive Plas- In July 2003, the Company implemented the 20@8ISincentive Plan (the “2003 Plan”), which prosder
awards of incentive and non-qualified stock optjomstricted stock and stock appreciation rightstfoofficers, employees,
consultants and directors to attract and retaih suividuals. Stock option grants under the Plangranted with an exercise price at
or above the fair market value of the underlyinghomon stock at the date of grant, generally vest avaree to five year period and
expire ten years after the grant d:

As established, there were 2,000,000 sharesrafnon stock reserved and available for distrisutinder the Plan. In January 2009,
the Company’s shareholders approved an amendmém lan to increase the number of shares availaider the Plan from
2,000,000 to 12,000,000 and to establish the maximumber of shares issuable to any one individuahiy particular year. As of
August 2013, no new awards may be issued und&xab@ Plan

In October 2012, the Company’s shareholderscepl the 2013 Incentive Compensation Plan (“20&8")p which provides for
awards of incentive and non-qualified stock optjasstricted stock and stock appreciation rightstioofficers, employees,
consultants and directors to attract and retaih sutividuals. As of March 31, 2014, 280,000 shdrad been issued under the 2013
Plan, with 9,720,000 shares remaining availablesgwance

Stock based compensation expense for the years &haleh 31, 2014 and 2013 amounted to $393,9145284,314, respectively, of which
$81,567 and $51,075, respectively, is includeceliing expense and $312,347 and $231,239, respéctis included in general and
administrative expense for the years ended Mar¢l2@14 and 2013, respectively. At March 31, 20@thltunrecognized compensation cost
amounted to approximately $947,916, representiG@§5560 unvested options. This cost is expectde teecognized over a weightaglerage
period of 2.18 years. There were 80,758 optionsoésed during the year ended March 31, 2014 angjptions exercised during the year
ended March 31, 2013. The Company did not recogaigerelated tax benefit for the years ended M&agH2014 and 2013, as the option
exercises were de minimis.

Stock Options— A summary of the options outstanding under th@32&nd 2013 Plans is as follows:

Years ended March 31

2014 2013

Weighted Weighted

Average Average

Exercise Exercise

Shares Price Shares Price

Outstanding at beginning of ye 8,120,76! $ 0.64 6,330,59' $ 0.74
Grantec 3,300,00! 0.42 1,800,16! 0.3C
Exercisec (80,75%) 0.32 — 0.0C
Forfeited (166,000 5.7¢ (10,000 0.34
Outstanding and expected to vest at end of period 11,174,00 $ 0.51 8,120,76! $ 0.64

Exercisable at period end 5511,44 $ 0.6: 4,248,995 $ 0.94




Weighted average fair value of grants during theéople $ 0.2¢ $ 0.1¢€
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The following table summarizes activity pertainbogoptions outstanding and exercisable at Marct2814:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted
Average Weighted

Remaining Average Aggregate
Range of Life in Exercise Intrinsic
Exercise Prices Shares Years Shares Price Value
$0.01— $0.25 621,50( 4.57 621,50( $ 02z $ 607,68!
$0.26— $1.00 9,975,00 7.4% 4,592,44 0.3 3,992,63.
$1.01— $2.00 348,00( 8.74 68,00( 1.82 1,02(
$5.01— $6.00 21,00( 0.4C 21,00( 6.0C —
$6.01— $7.00 17,00( 2.9¢ 17,00( 6.3€ —
$7.01— $8.00 184,00( 1.6¢ 184,00( 7.57 —
$8.01 — $9.00 7,50( 2.8¢ 7,50( 9.0C —

11,174,00 7.1¢€ 551144 $ 0.6 $ 4,601,33

Total stock options exercisable as of March 3142@&re 5,511,447. The weighted average exercise pfithese options was $0.63. The
weighted average remaining life of the options t@unding was 7.19 years and of the options exereisafs 5.77 years.

The following summarizes activity pertaining to tBempany’s unvested options for the years endecividai, 2014 and 2013:

Weighted

Average

Exercise

Shares Price

Unvested at March 31, 2012 3,593,99! $ 0.34
Grantec 1,800,16! 0.3C
Canceled or expire (8,750 0.34
Vested (1,513,60) 0.3¢
Unvested at March 31, 2013 3,871,80 $ 0.3
Grantec 3,300,00t 0.4:
Canceled or expire (20,000 0.32
Vested (1,499,24) 0.32
Unvested at March 31, 2014 5,662,561 $ 0.3¢

The fair value of each award under the Plan isnegd on the grant date using the Black-Scholasropticing model and is affected by
assumptions regarding a number of complex and stiNgevariables. The use of an option pricing maalsb requires the use of a number of
complex assumptions including expected volatilitgk-free interest rate, expected dividends, anuketed term. Expected volatility is based
on the Company’s historical volatility and the wdity of a peer group of companies over the expddife of the option. The expected term
and vesting of the options represents the estinadadd of time until exercise. The expected teraswetermined using the simplified
method available under current guidance. The risk-interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasuly gigve in effect at the time of grant for
the expected term of the option. The Company hapaid dividends on its common stock in the past@oes not plan to pay any dividends
on its common stock in the near future. Currenhautative guidance also requires the Company timase forfeitures at the time of grant
and revise these estimates, if necessary, in subaegqeriods if actual forfeitures differ from tieosstimates. The Company estimates
forfeitures based on its expectation of future eigmee while considering its historical experience.
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The fair value of options at grant date was esthaitsing the Black-Scholes option pricing moddiaitig the following weighted average
assumptions:

March 31,
2014 2013
Risk-free interest rat 0.86%- 1.85% 0.67%- 0.89%
Expected option life in yea 5.5- 6.2¢F 5.5-6.2¢F
Expected stock price volatilil 65%- 76 % 65%
Expected dividend yiel 0% 0%

B. Warrants— The Company has entered into various warrant agret

2011 Warrants issued in connection with the SeXi€seferred Stock

The 2011 Warrants issued in connection with théeSek Preferred Stock had an exercise price of@$pe3 share, subject to
adjustment, and were exercisable for a periodvef yiears. The exercise price of the 2011 Warraasequal to 125% of the
conversion price of the Series A Preferred Stock.

The Company accounted for the 2011 Warrants issuddne 2011 in the consolidated financial statdmas a liability at their initial
fair value of $487,022 and accounted for the 20Ekrfdhts issued in October 2011 as a liability airtiitial fair value of $780,972.
Changes in the fair value of the 2011 Warrants wetcegnized in earnings for each subsequent regopiriod. In November 2013, in
accordance with certain terms of the 2011 Warrdh&sdown-round provisions included in the termghefwarrant ceased to be in
force or effect as a result of the historical volumeighted average price and trading volume ofabmpany’s common stock. The
Company then reclassed the fair value of the out&tg warrant liability of $6,187,968 to equitystating in an increase to additional
paid-in capital. Further, the Company is no longguired to recognize any change in fair valuéhef2011 Warrants in future
reporting periods.

At March 31, 2013, the fair value of the 2011 Watsawas included in the balance sheet under thigocayyarrant liability of
$795,374. For the year ended March 31, 2014 thepaagnrecorded a loss on the change in the valtleed?011 Warrants of
$5,392,594; for the year ended March 31, 2013Cimmpany recorded a gain for the change in the vafitlee 2011 Warrants of
$302,734.

The fair value of the warrants is a Level 3 failueaunder the valuation hierarchy and was estimasatly the Black-Scholes option
pricing model utilizing the following assumptions:

March 31,
At Conversiol 2013
Stock price $ 09z $ 0.31
Risk-free interest rat 0.61% 0.3€%
Expected option life in yea 2.63 3.2t
Expected stock price volatilit 55% 40%
Expected dividend yiel 0% 0%

2011 Warrants exercisedin the year ended March 31, 2014, holders of 20htrants exercised 10,127,123 2011 Warrants and
received shares of common stock. The Company redei8,848,332 in cash upon the exercise of thesmmia. These exercised
warrants had a weighted average fair market val# &0 at exercise date.

As described in Note 18, the Company called allai@ing 2011 Warrants for cancellation in April 2014

For the year ended March 31, 2014, 1,543,214 wastzares expired unexercised with a weighted aesiagmarket value of $0.00.
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The following is a summary of the Company’s outdtag warrants for the periods presented:

Weighted

Average

Exercise

Price
Warrants Per Warrant

Warrants outstanding and exercisable, March 312 13,448,13 $ 1.1€
Granted — —
Exercisec — —
Forfeited (1,543,21) 6.52
Warrants outstanding and exercisable, March 313201 11,904,92 $ 0.4¢
Granted — —
Exercisec (10,127,12) 0.3¢
Forfeited — —
Warrants outstanding and exercisable, March 314201 1,777,80. $ 0.9C

NOTE 14 — RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A. Pallini S.p.A. (“Pallini”), as successor inémest to I.L.A.R. S.p.A., is a shareholder in @@mpany and one of the officers of Pallini
is a director of the Company. In January 2011, CBAlentered into an agreement ("New Agreement”) wahini regarding the
importation and distribution of certain Pallini bchproducts. The terms of the New Agreement wdezfe as of April 1, 201(

Under the New Agreement, the Company is peeahitb import Pallini Limoncello and its flavor ertdons at a set price, updated
annually, and is obligated to set aside a portiath® gross margin toward a marketing fund foriRalThe New Agreement also
encompasses the hiring of a Pallini Brand ManagtdreaCompany with Pallini reimbursing the costshi$ position up to a stipulat
annual amount. These reimbursements are includselling expense.

For the years ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, thep@oy purchased goods from Pallini for $3,467,81® $3,685,192,
respectively. As of March 31, 2014 and 2013, Patlimed the Company $115,288 and $34,628, respégtifee its share of
marketing expense, which is included in due frorsholders and affiliates on the consolidated lzalaheet. As of March 31, 2014
and 2013, the Company was indebted to Pallini 229557 and $967,188, respectively, which is inetuoh due to shareholders and
affiliates on the consolidated balance sheet.

B. In November 2008, the Company entered into a manageservices agreement with Vector Group Ltd. oaenthan 5% sharehold
under which Vector Group agreed to make availablhé Company the services of Richard J. Lampentovésroup’s executive
vice president, effective October 11, 2008 to saivéhe Company'’s president and chief executivieasfaind to provide certain other
financial and accounting services, including aasist with complying with Section 404 of the Sarlza@&ley Act of 2002. In
consideration for such services, the Company agepdy Vector Group an annual fee of $100,0005 ply direct, out-of-pocket
costs, fees and other expenses incurred by VectarpgGr Mr. Lampen in connection with providing bugervices, and to indemnify
Vector Group for any liabilities arising out of tpeovision of the services. The agreement is teaivim by either party upon 30 days’
prior written notice. For the years ended MarchZ11,4 and 2013, Vector Group was paid $104,74654148,406, respectively,
under this agreement. These charges have beeuéucin general and administrative expel

C. In November 2008, the Company entered intagieement to reimburse Ladenburg Thalmann FinaBeialices Inc. (“LTS") for its
costs in providing certain administrative, legadl dimancial services to the Company. For the yeaded March 31, 2014 and 2013,
LTS was paid $126,000 and $154,972, respectivelgeuthis agreement. Mr. Lampen, the Company’sigiees and chief executive
officer and a director, is the president and chiefcutive officer and a director of LTS and twoestHirectors of the Company serve
as directors of LTS, including Phillip Frost, M.i®ho is the Chairman and principal shareholder o1

D. As described in Note 9D, in March 2013, the Companyered into a Participation Agreement with certeélated parties. /
described in Notes 9E and 9F, in August and Octab&B, the Company entered into various notes egthain related partie

NOTE 15 — COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

A. The Company has entered into a supply agreewiginIrish Distillers Limited (“IDL"), which provdes for the production of blended
Irish whiskeys for the Company until the contractdrminated by either party in accordance withténms of the agreement. IDL
may terminate the contract if it provides at lesistyears prior notice to the Company, except feabh. Under this agreement, the
Company provides IDL with a forecast of the estdaamount of liters of pure alcohol it requirestfoe next four fiscal contract



years and agrees to purchase 90% of that amounjécstio certain annual adjustments. For the cohy@ar ending June 30, 20:
the Company has contracted to purchase approxiyn@té4,900 or $969,351 (translated at the March 3142change rate) in bt
Irish whiskey, of which €662,351, or $910,838, basn purchased as of March 31, 2014. The Comparot isbligated to pay IDL

for any product not yet received. During the tefnith@s supply agreement, IDL has the right to lismitditional purchases above the
commitment amoun
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B. The Company has also entered into a supplyeagent with IDL, which provides for the productiminsingle malt Irish whiskeys for
the Company until the contract is terminated blgeziparty in accordance with the terms of the ages#. IDL may terminate the
contract if it provides at least thirteen year®priotice to the Company, except for breach. Utlsisragreement, the Company
provides IDL with a forecast of the estimated antafriters of pure alcohol it requires for the héxelve fiscal contract years and
agrees to purchase 80% of that amount, subje@rtain annual adjustments. For the contract yedingnJune 30, 2014, the
Company has contracted to purchase approximately,£283 or $337,056 (translated at the March 3142&thange rate) in bulk
Irish whiskey, of which €172,700, or $237,491, haen purchased as of March 31, 2014. The Compamt isbligated to pay IDL
for any product not yet received. During the teffnthés supply agreement, IDL has the right to liitditional purchases above the

commitment amount.

C. The Company has a distribution agreement @iklic Heritage Corporation, Ltd., an internatiosgbplier, to be the solgoducer o
Celtic Honey, one of the Compeé's products, for an indefinite peric

D. The Company leases office space in New Yok, Dublin, Ireland and Houston, TX. The New YorkYNease began on May 1,
2010 and expires on April 30, 2016 and providesrionthly payments of $19,975. The Dublin lease cemred on March 1, 2009
and extends through October 31, 2016 and provmesménthly payments of €1,100 or $1,513 (translatieithe March 31, 2014
exchange rate). The Houston, TX lease commencéabruary 24, 2000 and extends through January®% and provides for
monthly payments of $1,875. The Company has alteresh into no-cancelable operating leases for certain office mgent.

Future minimum lease payments for leases withalhiti remaining terms in excess of one year afelbsvs:

Years ending March 31, Amount

2015 $ 276,60t
2016 262,64t
2017 30,96
Total $ 570,21!

In addition to the above annual rental paymentsGbmpany is obligated to pay its pro-rata shangibfy and maintenance
expenses on the leased premises. Rent expenseapetating leases amounted to approximately $35628 $325,082 for the
years ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, respectiaatyjs included in general and administrative expen

D. Under the amended terms of the agreement wwidieh the Company purchased McLain & Kyne, the @any was obligated to pay
an earn-out to the sellers based on the finaneidbpnance of the acquired business. As of Jun@@D3, the Company had reached
the specified case sale threshold for contingensideration under the agreement. Accordingly, mth&r contingent consideration
will be due. For the years ended March 31, 201428118, the sellers earned $5,940 and $145,8002¢tgply, under this agreeme

E. As described in Note 9C, in August 2011, tloenBany and CBJSA entered into the Keltic Facility, as amendeduty 2012, Marcl
2013, August 2013 and November 20

NOTE 16 — CONCENTRATIONS

A. Credit Risk— The Company maintains its cash and cash equitsabatances at various large financial institutitha, at times, may
exceed federally and internationally insured limitke Company exceeded the limits in effect at M&t, 2014 by approximately
$725,000 and exceeded the limits in effect by aygprately $300,000 at March 31, 20:

B. Customers— Sales to one customer, the Southern Wine andtsSpfrAmerica, Inc. family of companies, accounted

approximately 31.9% and 30.2% of the Company’smees for the years ended March 31, 2014 and 2@%Bectively, and
approximately 35.1 % and 29.1% of accounts recévabMarch 31, 2014 and 2013, respectiv
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NOTE 17 — GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

The Company operates in one reportable segmente-sale of premium beverage alcohol. The Compangdyzt categories are rum,
liqueur, whiskey, vodka, tequila and wine. The Campreports its operations in two geographic arggisrnational and United States.

The consolidated financial statements include ragsrand assets generated in or held in the U.Soagign countries. The following table
sets forth the amounts and percentage of consetidezenue, consolidated results from operatiamssaidated net loss attributable to
common shareholders, consolidated income tax ttearedi consolidated assets from the U.S. and for@gintries and consolidated revenue
by category.

Years ended March 31

2014 2013
Consolidated Revenu
International 7,305,51i 15.2% $ 5,444,79: 13.1%
United States 40,834,96 84.8% 35,998,19 86.€%
Total Consolidated Revenue 48,140,48 100.(% $ 41,442,99 100.(%
Consolidated Results from Operatio
International (26€) 0.C% $ (26,329 0.€%
United States (1,319,56) 100.(% (4,375,73) 99.4%
Total Consolidated Results from Operations (1,319,83) 100.(% $ (4,402,06) 100.(%
Consolidated Net Loss Attributable to Controllimgdrests
International (153,419 1.7% $ (145,789 2.7%
United States (8,753,32) 98.2% (5,302,97) 97.2%
Total Consolidated Net Loss Attributable to Corltngj Interests $  (8,906,74) 100.(% $ (5,448,75) 100.(%
Income tax benefit, ne
United States 590,41 100.(% 118,34¢ 100.(%
Consolidated Revenue by categc
Rum $ 16,643,64 34.6% $ 15,324,90 36.%
Whiskey 13,521,87 28.1% 9,421,16! 22.8%
Liqueurs 8,992,227 18.7% 8,803,11. 21.2%
Vodka 2,852,95I 5.€% 3,565,07! 8.6%
Tequila 218,55:. 0.5% 242,53 0.6%
Wine 284,80t 0.€% 689,63 1.7%
Gosling’s Stormy Ginger Beer and other* 5,626,37 11.6% 3,396,56' 8.2%
Total Consolidated Revenue $ 48,140,48 100.(% $ 41,442,99 100.(%
As of March 31,
2014 2013
Consolidated Asset
International $ 2,201,34. 6.C% $ 1,941,53 5.€%
United States 34,320,16 94.(% 31,175,55 94.1%
Total Consolidated Assets $ 36,521,501 100.(% $ 33,117,09 100.(%

* Includes related non-beverage alcohol products.
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NOTE 18 — SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Equity distribution agreementBetween April 1, 2014 and June 25, 2014, the Gomsold an additional 1,172,799 Shares pursuant
to the Distribution Agreement, with total gross qeeds of $1,169,735, before deducting sales agenbféering expenses of $37,295.

2011 Warrants- On April 2, 2014, the Company called for candaltaall 1,657,802 unexercised 2011 Warrants punistzathe
terms of such 2011 Warrants after satisfying applie conditions. Holders of the Warrants had 8D p.m. New York City time on April
21, 2014 to exercise such Warrants at $0.38 pee shaash. Pursuant to the call for cancellatimiders of all 1,657,802 unexercised 2011
Warrants exercised and received 1,657,802 shammminon stock. The Company received $629,965 ih apen the exercise of these

warrants.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountémon Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresiéfised in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) promuthateler the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Adfigt are designed to ensure that information tlmatlvbe required to be disclosed in Exche
Act reports is recorded, processed, summarizedepuatted within the time periods specified in tHeCS rules and forms, and that such
information is accumulated and communicated torsanagement, including the Chief Executive Offiaed &hief Financial Officer (our
Principal Executive Officer and Principal Finandificer, respectively), as appropriate, to alléomvely decisions regarding required
disclosure.

As of March 31, 2014, we carried out an evaluatiorder the supervision and with the participatibowr management, including the
Principal Executive Officer and Principal Finandificer, of the effectiveness of the design andrapion of our disclosure controls and
procedures. Based on the foregoing, our Princigatktive Officer and Principal Financial Officermbuded that our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective as of the end of theoderovered by this Annual Report.

(b) Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finarad Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finahaaorting. As defined in the
securities laws, internal control over financigdogting is a process designed by, or under thersigien of, our Principal Executive and
Principal Financial Officers and effected by ouraBib of Directors, management, and other persotmelovide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reportingdithe preparation of financial statements for exakpurposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles and includes thosieigs and procedures that (i) pertain to the nesiance of records that in reasonable d
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions disghositions of our assets; (ii) provide reasonalskurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial stateisiin accordance with generally accepted acamyiptinciples, and that our receipts and
expenditures are being made only in accordanceamthorizations of management and directors; ai)g(ovide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauited acquisition, use or disposition of our astieds could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Our internal control over financial reporting issged to provide reasonable assurance regardingeliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for extiergporting purposes in accordance with generalbepted accounting principles.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢étmisstatements. Therefore, even those
systems determined to be effective can provide mrdgonable assurance with respect to financiedratant preparation and presentation.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectivesnés future periods are subject to the risk thatimds may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or that the degree of canpé with the policies or procedures may detemorat

Management conducted an evaluation of the effentige of the internal controls over financial rejpgr{as defined in Rule 13a-15(f)
promulgated under the Exchange Act) as of Marct2814, based on the frameworkiiiernal Control — Integrated Framework (1992)
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike Treadway Commission.

Management, including the Principal Executive ariddpal Financial Officers, have concluded that imernal control over financial
reporting was effective as of March 31, 2014 bametheir evaluation of our internal control overeicial reporting under the framework in
Internal Control— Integrated Framework (1992)

(c) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportm

There have been no changes in our internal cootel financial reporting that occurred in the foufiscal quarter that has materially

affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, our internal control over financial reporting.
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Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART Il
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpora¢ Governance

The information required by this Item 10 is incarged by reference from our definitive proxy stagenfor our 2014 annual meeting of
shareholders, which will be filed no later than H2§s after March 31, 2014.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item 11 is incaqted by reference from our definitive proxy stagetrfor our 2014 annual meeting of
shareholders, which will be filed no later than H2¥s after March 31, 2014.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial @vners and Management and Related Shareholder Mattsr

Information regarding equity compensation planseisforth in Item 5 of this annual report on ForfaKLand is incorporated herein by
reference.

The other information required by this Item 12riedrporated by reference from our definitive prekgtement for our 2014 annual mee
of shareholders, which will be filed no later thHe20 days after March 31, 2014.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transa@ns, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item 13 is incargied by reference from our definitive proxy stagemfor our 2014 annual meeting
shareholders, which will be filed no later than H2§s after March 31, 2014.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this Item 14 is incorted by reference from our definitive proxy stag@mfor our 2014 annual meeting
shareholders, which will be filed no later than H2§s after March 31, 2014.

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(@) The following documents are filed as part of thepBrt:
1. Financial Statemen— See Index to Financial Statements at Iltem 8 on B8g# this annual report on Form-K.
2. Financial Statement Schedu— Omitted because they are not applicable or notiredj

3. Exhibits— The following exhibits are filed as part of, or amporated by reference into, this annual reporform 1(-K:

(b)
Exhibit
Number Exhibit

1.1 Equity Distribution Agreement, dated November 1312, between Castle Brands Inc. and Barrington &ekeAssociates, Inc.,
sales agent (incorporated by reference to Exhiitd our current report on Forr-K filed with the SEC on November 14, 201

2.2 Agreement and Plan of Merger dated Februa2p®0 between Castle Brands Inc., a Delaware catipa, and Castle Brands
(Florida) Inc., a Florida corporation (incorporatedreference to Exhibit 2.1 to our current remort~orm 8-K filed with the SEC
on February 12, 201(

3.1 Composite Articles of Incorporation of the Compé*
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3.2

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

4.11

412

4.13

10.1

10.2

Bylaws of the Company (incorporated by rafeesto Appendix E to our definitive proxy statementSchedule 14A filed with the
SEC on December 30, 20C

Form of Common Stock Certificate (incorpodaby reference to Exhibit 4.3 to our Post-Effecvaendment No. 1 to Form S-8
(File No. 33:-160380) filed with the SEC on March 10, 20:

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant taseeid by the Company (incorporated by referen&xinibit 4.1 to our current
report on Form -K filed with the SEC on June 9, 201

Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of Au@9, 2011, among Keltic Financial Partners Il, tte Company and Castle
Brands (USA) Corp. (incorporated by reference thiBit 4.1 to our current report on Form 8-K filedttvthe SEC on July 26,
2012)

First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreementedlas of July 23, 2012, among Keltic Financiaki®as 1, LP, the Compai
and Castle Brands (USA) Corp. (incorporated byresfee to Exhibit 4.1 to our current report on F@&+K filed with the SEC on
August 25, 2011

Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agregndated as of March 11, 2013, among Keltic Firerigartners I, LP, the
Company and Castle Brands (USA) Corp. (incorporateceference to exhibit 4.1 to our current remort-orm 8-K filed with the
SEC on March 14, 201.

Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Nattedlas of March 11, 2013, in favor of Keltic Fioah Partners 11, LP
(incorporated by reference to exhibit 4.2 to ourent report on Form-K filed with the SEC on March 14, 201

Third Amendment to Loan and Security Agreemeated as of August 7, 2013, by and among KEftiancial Partners Il, LP, the
Company and Castle Brands (USA) Corp. (incorporatecteference to Exhibit 4.1 to our current regmrtForm 8K filed with the
SEC on August 9, 201:

Amended and Restated Term Note, dated asigiigt 7, 2013, in favor of Keltic Financial Partdr LP (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.2 to our current report anrf €-K filed with the SEC on August 9, 201

Loan Agreement, dated as of August 7, 20¢ &gl between the Company and the lending paft@eto, including the form of
promissory note attached as Exhibit B thereto (ipaated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to our curmepiort on Form & filed with
the SEC on August 9, 201

5% Convertible Subordinated Note Purchasedgent , dated as of October 21, 2013, among dih@g@ny and the parties set
forth on the signature pages attached theretorfpocated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our curmemort on Form 8-K filed with
the SEC on October 25, 201

Form of 5% Subordinated Convertible Note R028, issued by the Company (incorporated by eefer to Exhibit 4.1 to our
current report on Form-K filed with the SEC on November 1, 201

Fourth Amendment, Waiver and Consent td_tia and Security Agreement, between the Comp&astle Brands (USA) Corp.
and Keltic Financial Partners Il, LP , dated ag&ofust 19, 2011 and effective as of October 21 32@icorporated by reference
Exhibit 4.3 to our current report on Forr-K filed with the SEC on October 25, 201

Fifth Amendment, Waiver and Consent to Laad Security Agreement, dated as of November 143 2@etween Castle Brands
Inc., Castle Brands (USA) Corp. and Keltic FinahBiartners Il, LP (incorporated by reference toiBxH.0.1 to our current repc
on Form &K filed with the SEC on November 14, 201

Export Agreement, dated as of February @@5detween Gosling Partners Inc. and Gosling’soExBermuda) Limited(Exhibit
10.1)(1)(2)

Amendment No. 1 to Export Agreement, dasedfdebruary 18, 2005, by and among Gosling-C&sileners Inc. and Gosling’s
Export (Bermuda) Limited(Exhibit 10.2)(1)(:
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10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

National Distribution Agreement, dated as of Sefiten8, 2004, by and between Castle Brands (USAp.Gord Goslin's Export
(Bermuda) Limited(Exhibit 10.3)(1)(z

Subscription Agreement, dated as of FebrLi&n2005, by and between Castle Brands Inc. arglirigeCastle Partners Inc.
(Exhibit 10.4)(1)

Stockholders' Agreement, dated Februar20@5, by and among Gosling-Castle Partners Incttamgersons listed on Schedule |
thereto (Exhibit 10.5)(1

Agreement, dated as of January 12, 201veeet Pallini SpA and Castle Brands (USA) Corp.diporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to our current report on Fori-K filed with the SEC on January 18, 2011)

Supply Agreement, dated as of January 15,28&tween Irish Distillers Limited and Castle BatarSpirits Group Limited and
Castle Brands (USA) Corp.(Exhibit 10.8)(1)

Amendment No. 1 to Supply Agreement, datedf&eptember 20, 2005, to the Supply Agreemert¢ddas of January 1, 2005,
among Irish Distillers Limited and Castle Brandsri&pGroup Limited and Castle Brands (USA) Corpdfibit 10.9)(1)

Amended and Restated Worldwide Distribufigneement, dated as of April 16, 2001, by and betw@reat Spirits Company
LLC and Gaelic Heritage Corporation Limited(Exhib@.10)(1)

Letter Agreement, dated November 7, 2088yéen Castle Brands Inc. and Vector Group Ltatofiporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to our current report on Fori-K filed with the SEC on November 12, 20(

Form of Indemnification Agreement enter&o with directorgincorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to ouaderly report ol
Form 1(-Q filed on August 14, 201

Form of Castle Brands Inc. Stock OptionnBregreement (incorporated by reference to ExHibBitl to our current report on
Form &K filed with the SEC on June 16, 200¢

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of &cidh 2006, among Chester F. Zoeller 111, Brittduyyn Zoeller Carlson and Beth
Allison Zoeller Willis and the Company (incorpordteerein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our curreport on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on October 16, 20(

Amended and Restated Employment Agreerdated as of November 13, 2007, between Castle Brizwed and Alfred J. Small
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1@.2dr current report on Forn-K filed with the SEC on November 13, 200°

Third Amended and Restated Employment Agess, effective as of February 26, 2010, by and/éeh Castle Brands Inc. and
Mark Andrews (incorporated by reference to Exhilfitl to our current report on Forr-K filed with the SEC on March 1, 2010

Amended and Restated Employment Agreeraffattive as of May 2, 2005, by and between Catéands Inc. and T. Kelley
Spillane(1)#

Amendment to Amended and Restated EmployAgneement, dated as of May 6, 2010, between €8stnds Inc. and Alfred J.
Small (incorporated herein by reference to ExHibif2 to our current report on Forr-K filed with the SEC on May 7, 2010

Amendment to Amended and Restated EmployAgneement, dated as of May 6, 2010, by and betv@sestle Brands Inc. and
T. Kelley Spillane (incorporated herein by referemo Exhibit 10.1 to our current report on Forr 8iled with the SEC on May
7,2010)#

Reaffirmation Agreement, dated as of Oat@ie 2013, by and among Keltic Financial PartiiisP, the Company, Castle
Brands (USA) Corp., the officers signatory thertal certain junior lenders to the Company (incaoafex by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to our current report on Forr-K filed with the SEC on October 25, 201
Castle Brands Inc. 2003 Stock Incentive Plan, asnalad, (Exhibit 10.29)(1)

Amendment to Castle Brands Inc. 2003 Stock Incerfilan (Exhibit 10.30)(1)

Amendment No. 2 to Castle Brands Inc. 2B8@8k Incentive Plan (incorporated by referencExbibit 10.24 to our annual report
on Form 1-K for the fiscal year ended March 30, 2009 filedhathe SEC on June 29, 200¢

Amended and Restated Warrant Agreemergdddptember 27, 2005, by and between Castle Blaodand Keltic Financial
Partners, LP (Exhibit 10.52)(
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10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35

10.36

10.37

10.38

10.39

10.40

10.41

10.42

10.43

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement (incoaifed by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to our quarteglyort on Form 10-Q filed with the
SEC on February 17, 200¢

Amendment No. 2 to Bottling and Servicesegment, dated as of July 23, 2009, by and betWeam Limited and Castle Brands
Spirits Company Limited (incorporated by referet@&xhibit 10.1 to our current report on For-K filed on July 29, 2009)(Z

Employment Agreement, made as of Januar@@B, by and between Castle Brands Inc. and Sol8lover (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.28 to Amendment No. 1 toannual report on Form -K filed with the SEC on July 29, 2009

Securities Purchase Agreement dated amef&, 2011, between the Company and each purciasgified on the signature
pages thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit to our current report on Forr-K filed with the SEC on June 9, 201

Securities Purchase Agreement dated amef8, 2011, between the Company and each purcldasgified on the signature
pages thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhihi to our current report on Forr-K filed with the SEC on June 9, 201

Securities Purchase Agreement dated amef&, 2011, between the Company and each affpiatehaser identified on the
signature pages thereto (incorporated by referemBshibit 10.3 to our current report on Form 8ik€d with the SEC on June 9,
2011)

Exchange Agreement dated as of June 8, Petdeen the Company and each purchaser identifigde signature pages thereto
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to ounrent report on Form-K filed with the SEC on June 9, 201

Registration Rights Agreement dated asiioé B8, 2011, between the Company and each purddasgified on the signature
pages thereto (incorporated by reference to Exthihi to our current report on Forr-K filed with the SEC on June 9, 201

First Amendment to Exchange Agreementddaseof June 13, 2011, between the Company ant Gemema Investments Trust
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to ounrent report on Form-K filed with the SEC on June 14, 201

Form of Validity and Support Agreementedisas of August 19, 2011, among Keltic Financiatrigas 11, LP, the Company,
Castle Brands (USA) Corp. and the officer signatbsreto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.bur current report on
Form &K filed with the SEC on August 25, 201

Fee Letter, dated as of March 11, 2013 ngntlee Company, Castle Brands (USA) Corp. anduh®jf participants party thereto
(incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.2 to aurent report on Form-K filed with the SEC on March 14, 201

Amendment to Employment Agreement, mads# dsly 26, 2011, by and between Castle Brandsadnd.John S. Glover
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to ounrent report on Form-K filed with the SEC on July 27, 2011}

Employment Letter, dated July 29, 2011abg between Castle Brands USA Corp. and Maria Atk Pena (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our quarterly reportform 1(-Q filed with the SEC on November 14, 2011

Amendment to Amended and Restated EmployAgneement, dated as of May 11, 2012, by and betv@astle Brands Inc. and
T. Kelley Spillane (incorporated herein by referemna Exhibit 10.1 to our current report on For-K filed on May 17, 2012):

Amendment to Amended and Restated EmployAgneement, dated as of May 11, 2012, betweenl€Bsands Inc. and Alfred
J. Small (incorporated herein by reference to BExHid.2 to our current report on Forr-K filed on May 17, 2012):

Amendment to the Third Amended and Restategloyment Agreement, effective as of May 11, 2a#2and between Castle
Brands Inc. and Mark Andrews (incorporated by mafiee to Exhibit 10.3 to our current report on F&AK filed on May 17, 2012)
#

Castle Brands Inc. 2013 Stock Incentive filecorporated by reference to Exhibit A to oufiiive proxy statement on Schedule
14A for the 2012 annual meeting of shareholdeled fivith the SEC on September 11, 201

Amendment to Fourth Amended and Restatguidgment Agreement, dated as of January 24, 20i4nd between Castle
Brands Inc. and Mark Andrews (incorporated by rfiee to Exhibit 10.1 to our current report on F&4 filed on January 27,
2014)#

Amendment to Amended and Restated EmployAgneement, dated as of January 24, 2014, by ahdden Castle Brands Inc.
and John Glover (incorporated by reference to B2 to our current report on Forr-K filed on January 27, 2014

Amendment to Amended and Restated EmployAgneement, dated as of January 24, 2014, by aehdden Castle Brands Inc.
and T. Kelley Spillane (incorporated by refererm&xhibit 10.3 to our current report on Fori-K filed on January 27, 2014



10.44

211

23.1

31.1

31.2

32.1

Amendment to Amended and Restated EmployAgneement, dated as of January 24, 2014, by ahdden Castle Brands Inc.
and Alfred J. Small (incorporated by reference xbiBit 10.4 to our current report on Forr-K filed on January 27, 2014

List of Subsidiaries’

Consent of EisnerAmper LLF

Certification of CEO Pursuant to Rule -14(a), as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of thiea®a-Oxley Act of 2002*
Certification of CFO Pursuant to Rule -14(a), as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of thegBa-Oxley Act of 2002*
?Zgi(l;izc?tion of CEO and CFO Pursuant tdJ18.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Se6fiérof the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
)
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101.INS* XBRL Instance Documen

101.SCH* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docume

101.CAL* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntn

101.DEF* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhe

101.LAB* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum

101.PRE* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doeni

* Filed herewitr

# Management Compensation Contr

Q) Previously filed as an exhibit to our RegistatStatement on Form S-1 (File No. 3B338676), which was declared effective

April 5, 2006, and incorporated by reference hei

(2) Confidential portions of this document are dedtpursuant to a request for confidential treatrtteat has been granted by the
Commission, and have been filed separately witfCii@mission
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regmthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatp authorized, on June 27, 2014.

CASTLE BRANDS INC.

By: /s/ ALFRED J. SMALL
Alfred J. Small
Senior Vice President, Chief Financ
Officer, Secretary and Treasurer (Princi
Financial Officer and Principal Accountit
Officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each individual whose signature appears below @atess and appoints each of Richard J. Lampen dfiddA\J. Small, such person’s true
and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent with full pemof substitution and resubstitution, for suchsparand in such person’s name, place and
stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any drehe&endments to this report on Form 10-K, andleothe same, with all exhibits thereto, and
all documents in connection therewith, with theB#ies and Exchange Commission, granting unto sadt attorney-in-fact and agent full
power and authority to do and perform each andyeaetrand thing requisite and necessary to be ttoaed about the premises, as fully to all
intents and purposes as such person might or clouid person, hereby ratifying and confirming bkt any said attorney-in-fact and agent, or
any substitute or substitutes of any of them, naayfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgl Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf
the registrant and in the capacities and on thesdatlicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ RicHARD J. LAMPEN President and Chief Executive Officer and Directo June 27, 2014
Richard J. Lampe (Principal Executive Officer)
/s ALFRED J. SMALL Senior Vice President, Chief Financial June 27, 2014
Alfred J. Small Officer, Secretary and Treasurer (Principal

Financial Officer and Principal Accountit

Officer)
/s/ MARK ANDREWS Director June 27, 2014
Mark Andrews
/s/ JoHN F. BEAUDETTE Director June 27, 2014

John F. Beaudet!

/s/ HENRY C. BEINSTEIN Director June 27, 2014
Henry C. Beinsteil

/s] HARVEY P. EISEN Director June 27, 2014
Harvey P. Eisel

/s/ PHILLIP FROST, M.D. Director June 27, 2014
Phillip Frost, M.D.

/s/ GLENN L. HALPRYN Director June 27, 2014
Glenn L. Halpryr

/s/ MICAELA FALLINI Director June 27, 2014
Micaela Pallini

/s/ STEVEN D. RUBIN Director June 27, 2014
Steven D. Rubii

/s/ DENNIS SCHOLL Director June 27, 2014
Dennis Schol




/s| Sergio Zymal Director
Sergio Zymar

June 27, 2014

/s/ Mark Zeitchick Director
Mark Zeitchick

June 27, 2014
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THIS COMPOSITE ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION OF CASTLBRANDS INC. (THE “CORPORATION”) REFLECTS THE
PROVISIONS OF THE CORPORATIOIS' ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION AND ALL AMENDMENTS THERTO FILED WITH
THE FLORIDA SECRETARY OF STATE ON OR PRIOR TO JUNBD, 2014, BUT IS NOT AN AMENDMENT AND/O
RESTATEMENT THEREOF.

COMPOSITE
ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION
OF
CASTLE BRANDS INC.

ARTICLE |
NAME

The name of this corporation is CASTLE BRANDS IN@we “ Corporatior?).

ARTICLE Il
PURPOSE

The purpose for which the Corporation is formetbigngage in any lawful act or activity for whicbrporations may be organiz
under the Florida Business Corporation Act (thect A.

ARTICLE Il
PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS AND MAILING ADDRESS

The address of the principal office and the maitwagiress of the office of the Corporation is 128tE&@nd Street, Suite 4700, N
York, NY 10168.

ARTICLE IV
CAPITAL STOCK

The Corporation shall be authorized to issue Thieedred and Twent¥ive Million (325,000,000) shares of capital stookwhick
(i) Three Hundred Million (300,000,000) shares Ehalcommon stock, par value $.01 per share (fBerimon StocK), and (ii) TwentyFive
Million (25,000,000) shares shall be preferred lst@ar value $.01 per share (the “ Preferred Sthck

(a) Common Stock Except as otherwise provided by law or by thedéekes of Incorporation (including any certificdited with the
Secretary of State of the State of Florida esthislisthe terms of a series of Preferred Stock aoatance with Section (lof this Article V),
the Common Stock shall have the exclusive rightaie for the election of directors and for all atipeirposes. Each share of Common S
shall entitle the holder thereof to one vote oradltters on which shareholders are entitled gelgaral/ote, and the holders of Common St
shall vote together as a single class. The holofeshares of Common Stock shall not have cumulatdtang rights.




(b) Preferred Stock Shares of Preferred Stock may be issued from tirieme in one or more series. The Board of Doec{the “
Board”) is hereby authorized to fix by resolution or resiolns the voting powers, if any, designations, pyereferences and the relat
participating, optional or other special rights,aifiy, and the qualifications, limitations or redions thereof, of any unissued serie:
Preferred Stock; and to fix the number of sharesstituting such series, and to increase or decrégmsaumber of shares of any such s
(but not below the number of shares thereof thastanding). The powers, preferences and relatiggjgpating, optional and other spe:
rights of each series of Preferred Stock, and tredifications, limitations or restrictions theredfany, may differ from those of any and
other series at any time outstanding.

ARTICLE V
REGISTERED AGENT AND OFFICE

The street address of the Corporatoimitial registered office is 11380 Prosperity iiarRoad #221E, Palm Beach Gardens, Fl
33410, and the name of its initial registered ageémsuch office is Corporate Creations Network Inc.

ARTICLE VI
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The business and affairs of the Corporation shallManaged by or under the direction of the Boakpgixas otherwise provid
herein or required by law.

(a) Board of Directors Subject to the rights of the holders of any autding series of Preferred Stock or any other sernieclass ¢
stock as set forth in these Articles of Incorpanatio elect additional directors under specifiedwinstances, the number of directors o
Corporation shall be fixed, and may be increasetkareased from time to time, by resolution ofBoard.

(c) Election of Directors Unless and except to the extent that thdays of the Corporation shall so require, the ébecdf director
of the Corporation need not be by written ballot.

(d) Terms of Directors Directors who are elected at an annual meetirghafeholders, and directors who are elected imteem tc
fill vacancies and newly created directorships Ishald office until the next annual meeting of staoslders and until their successors
elected and qualified or until their earlier resijan or removal.

(e) " Articles 1-A#6977|26 " \I 3 (1) Notwithstandi the foregoing, whenever, pursuant to the promssiof_Article IV of thes:
Articles of Incorporation, the holders of any orrenwre series of Preferred Stock shall have thet rigpting separately as a series or togt
with holders of other such series, to elect dinectt an annual or special meeting of shareholdbesglection, term of office, filling
vacancies and other features of such directorsitipli be governed by the terms of these Articlesnobrporation and any certificate
designations applicable thereto.




(2) During any period when the holders of any seé Preferred Stock have the right to elect add#l directors ¢
provided for or fixed pursuant to the provisionsfgficle 1V _hereof, then upon commencement and for the durafitime period during whic
such right continues: (i) the then otherwise tatathorized number of directors of the Corporatiballsautomatically be increased by s
specified number of directors, and the holdersushsPreferred Stock shall be entitled to electatiditional directors so provided for or fi>
pursuant to said provisions, and (ii) each suchitiadél director shall serve until such direc®successor shall have been duly electes
qualified, or until such directes’right to hold such office terminates pursuansa@ provisions, whichever occurs earlier, subjecsucl
director’s earlier death, disqualification, resignation emoval. Except as otherwise provided by the Boarthé resolution or resolutic
establishing such series, whenever the holdersypfsaries of Preferred Stock having such rightlézteadditional directors are divestec
such right pursuant to the provisions of such stticé terms of office of all such additional direrst elected by the holders of such stoc
elected to fill any vacancies resulting from theatthe resignation, disqualification or removal otlsuadditional directors, shall forthw
terminate and the total and authorized numberretctbrs of the Corporation shall be reduced acogigi

() Vacancies. Subject to the rights of the holders of any seoé Preferred Stock, any and all vacancies onBtha&d, howeve
occurring, including, without limitation, by reasohan increase in size of the Board, or the deagignation, disqualification or removal
director, shall be filled solely by the affirmativete of a majority of the remaining directors theroffice, even if less than a quorum of
Board. Any director appointed in accordance with pineceding sentence shall hold office until suickctbr's successor shall have been
elected and qualified or until his or her earliesignation or removal. In the event of a vacanah@Board, the remaining directors, exce|
otherwise provided by law, may exercise the powéthe full Board until the vacancy is filled.

(g) Liability . A director of the Corporation shall not be pedbnliable to the Corporation or its shareholdinsmonetary damag
for breach of fiduciary duty as a director, excepthe extent such exemption from liability or ltation thereof is not permitted under the
as the same exists or may hereafter be amendedadendment, repeal or modification of the foregaegtence shall not adversely af
any right or protection of a director of the Comiiwn existing hereunder with respect to any acbmmission occurring prior to su
amendment, repeal or modification.




ARTICLE VI
INDEMNIFICATION

(a) Each person who was or is a party or is threatdo be made a party to any threatened, pendirgropleted action, suit
proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administratiee investigative, by reason of the fact that heoiswas a director or officer of t
Corporation, or is or was serving at the requeshefCorporation as a director, officer, employeagent of another corporation, partners
joint venture, trust or other enterprise, includgggvice with respect to employee benefit planstiver the basis of such proceeding is all
action in an official capacity as a director, officemployee or agent or in any other capacityevbdrving as a director, officer, employe
agent, shall be indemnified and held harmless byGbrporation to the fullest extent authorized empitted by the Act, as the same exis!
may hereafter be amended (but, in the case ofacty amendment, only to the extent that such amendpgemits the Corporation to prov
broader indemnification rights than said law peteditthe Corporation to provide prior to such ameawlyy against all expense, liability ¢
loss (including attorneydkes, judgments, fines, excise taxes or penaltidsaanounts paid or to be paid in settlement) algtaald reasonab
incurred by such person in connection with sucloagctsuit or proceeding, and such indemnificatiballscontinue as to a person who
ceased to be a director, officer, employee or agedt shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, exasuand administrators of such per:
provided, however, that, except as provided in gragah (b), the Corporation shall indemnify any spelison seeking indemnification
connection with an action, suit or proceeding (art phereof) initiated by such person only if saation, suit or proceeding (or part ther
was authorized by the Board of the Corporation. figiet to indemnification conferred in this Articdhall be a contract right and shall incl
the right to be paid by the Corporation the expsiseurred in defending any such action, suit ocpeding in advance of its final dispositi
provided, however, that, if the Act requires, tlagmpent of such expenses incurred by a directoffimeo in his capacity as such in advanc
the final disposition of any such action, suit sogeeding shall be made only upon receipt by thgp@ation of an undertaking by or
behalf of such director or officer to repay all amts so advanced if it shall ultimately be detemdithat such director or officer is not enti
to be indemnified under this Article or otherwi3dée Corporation may, to the extent authorized ftione to time by the Board, provide rig
to indemnification and to the advancement of experte employees and agents of the Corporation thidhsame scope and effect as
foregoing indemnification of directors and officers

(b) If a claim under paragraph (a) is not paidut by the Corporation within thirty (30) days aft@ written claim has been recer
by the Corporation, the claimant may at any tinerehfter bring suit against the Corporation to vecdhe unpaid amount of the claim an
successful in whole or in part, the claimant sballentitled to be paid also the expense of prosegstch claim. It shall be a defense to
such action (other than an action brought to eefacclaim for expenses incurred in defending armcgeding in advance of its fir
disposition where the required undertaking, if &gequired, has been tendered to the Corporati@t)the claimant has not met the stanc
of conduct which make it permissible under the fctthe Corporation to indemnify the claimant faetamount claimed, but the burdel
proving such defense shall be on the Corporatiaithidr the failure of the Corporation (includingtBoard, independent legal counsel ¢
shareholders) to have made a determination prithdocommencement of such action that indemnificatf the claimant is proper in
circumstances because he has met the applicaldasthof conduct set forth in the Act, nor an actigtermination by the Corporati
(including the Board, independent legal counsetsoshareholders) that the claimant has not met applicable standard of conduct, sha
a defense to the action or create a presumptidriitbalaimant has not met the applicable standhotnduct.

(c) The right to indemnification and the paymentegpenses incurred in defending a proceeding irmraly of its final dispositic
conferred in this Article shall not be exclusivearfy other right which any person may have or H@eacquire under any statute, provis
of these Articles of Incorporation (as it may beeshed), the By-laws, agreement, vote of shareh®loledisinterested directors or otherwise.




(d) The Corporation may maintain insurance, ateipense, to protect itself and any director, offi@mployee or agent of t
Corporation or another corporation, partnershiptjgenture, trust or other enterprise against sugh expense, liability or loss, whethe
not the Corporation would have the power to indéynsiich person against such expense, liabilitypss under the Act.

(e) Any amendment, repeal or modification of thisidle Seventh shall not adversely affect any righprotection of a director of t
Corporation existing hereunder with respect to actyor omission occurring prior to such amendmeqteal or modification.

ARTICLE VIl
MEETINGS OF THE SHAREHOLDERS

Any action required or permitted by the sharehald#rthe Corporation may be taken without a meetithout prior notice, ar
without a vote, if a consent or consents in writiggtting forth the action so taken, shall be gigie the holders of outstanding stock ha
not less than the minimum number of votes that e necessary to authorize or take such actiamaeting at which all shares entitle
vote thereon were present and voted.

ARTICLE IX
BYLAWS AMENDMENT

In furtherance and not in limitation of the poweomferred upon it by the laws of the State of Flarithe Board shall have the po
to adopt, amend, alter or repeal the Corporati@ydaws. The affirmative vote of at least a majorifytlee entire Board shall be requirec
adopt, amend, alter or repeal the Corporation’deBys.

ARTICLE X
AMENDMENTS

The Corporation reserves the right at any timefeora time to time to amend, alter, change or repeglprovision contained in the
Articles of Incorporation and any other provisianghorized by the laws of the State of Floridahattime in force may be added or inse!
in the manner now or hereafter prescribed by stadntd these Articles of Incorporation, and all tsglpreferences and privileges confe
upon shareholders, directors or any other persgra pursuant to these Articles of Incorporatiom granted subject to this reservation.
amendment or repeal of these Articles of Incorponashall be made unless the same is first approyetthe Board pursuant to a resolu
adopted by the Board in accordance with Section1®@B of the Act, and, except as otherwise proviokedaw, thereafter approved by
shareholders. Whenever any vote of the holderotihg stock is required, and in addition to anyeothiote of holders of voting stock tha
required by these Articles of Incorporation or bw/| the affirmative vote of a majority of the totaites eligible to be cast by holders of vo
stock with respect to such amendment or repeahgobgether as a single class, at a duly constituteeting of shareholders called expre
for such purpose shall be required to amend orategrey provisions of these Articles of Incorporatio




ARTICLE XI
INCORPORATOR

The name of the Incorporator is Brian Heller, and address of the Incorporator is 4400 Biscaynal .BIY¥2th Floor, Miami, F
33137.




EXHIBIT 21.1

Castle Brands Inc. Subsidiaries

Name State/Country of Incorporation
Castle Brands (USA) Cor Delaware, US#
Goslin¢-Castle Partners In Delaware, US#
Castle Brands Spirits Group Limit Ireland
Castle Brands Spirits Company Limit Ireland
Castle Brands Spirits Marketing and Sales Compamytéd Ireland

Castle Brands Spirits Company (GB) Limit United Kingdom




EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRkgistration Statements of Castle Brands Inc.@mFs-3 (No. 333-176005 and No. 333-
143422) and Form S-8 (Nos. 333-133567, 333-1603810383189750) of our report dated June 27, 2014, on adita of the consolidat
financial statements as of March 31, 2014 and 20iBfor each of the years in the two year pericgedrMarch 31, 2014, which repor
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

/sl EisnerAmper LLF
New York, New York
June 27, 201




EXHIBIT 31.1
SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION
I, Richard J. Lampen, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Castle Brands Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiominy untrue statement of a material fact or donfitate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntets.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemems,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this rep

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and ha

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proesgar caused such disclosure controls and proesdarbe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatheg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pnegzh

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finahi@porting to be designed uni
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadiang the reliability of financial reporting atfte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsaditsclosure controls and procedures and presentad report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyaport based on such
evaluation; an

d) Disclosed in this report any change in thestegnt's internal control over financial reportititat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reportir

5. The registrans other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdxh on our most recent evaluation of internal @rarer financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing theweden
functions):

a)  All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the rtegi¥’ s ability to record, process, summarize and refjmahcial information; an

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inne8 management or other employees who have ais@mtifole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: June 27, 2014 /sl Richard J. Lamper
Richard J. Lamper
Chief Executive Office
(Principal Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2
SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION

I, Alfred J. Small, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Castle Brands Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaio any untrue statement of a material fact oit torstate a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisletading with respect to the
period covered by this repo

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this rep

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer aihare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and proceduties tiesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhubsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattdy during the period in which this report isg prepared

b) Designed such internal control over finanoigdorting, or caused such internal control ovearfitial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodgiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataace with generally accepted accounting princij

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsaghisclosure controls and procedures and preséntbds report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conintsprocedures, as of the end of the period coveyehis report based on
such evaluation; an

d) Disclosed in this report any change in theéstegnt’s internal control over financial reportititat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regrsts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ameaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeadf, the registra’s internal control over financial reportir

5. The registrang’ other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdxh on our most recent evaluation of internal @braver financie
reporting, to the registrant’'s auditors and theitaadmmittee of the registramst’board of directors (or persons performing
equivalent functions)

a) All significant deficiencies and material waakses in the design or operation of internal oboirer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrigistrant’s ability to record, process, summasiad report financial
information; anc

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inke8 management or other employees who have aisamtifole in the
registran’s internal control over financial reportir

Date: June 27, 2014 /sl Alfred J. Small
Alfred J. Small
Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal AccourgiOfficer)




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In accordance with 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted patdo Section 906 of the Sarbar@sley Act of 2002, Richard J. Lampen, the Presii

and Chief Executive Officer of Castle Brands Inbe(“Registrant”and Alfred J. Small, Chief Financial Officer of tRegistrant, each here
certifies that:

1. The Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-Ktf@ period ended March 31, 2014 (the “Periodic R&pfully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(dhef$ecurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. The information contained in the Periodic Refairly presents, in all material respects, thafficial condition and results of operations
of the Registrant.

Date: June 27, 2014

/sl Richard J. Lampe /s! Alfred J. Smal
Richard J. Lampe Alfred J. Small
Chief Executive Office Chief Financial Office

(Principal Executive Officer (Principal Financial Officer and Principal AccourdiOfficer)




